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Founded in 1920, Helmerich & Payne, Inc. (H&P) (NYSE: HP) is committed to delivering
industry leading levels of drilling productivity and reliability. H&P operates with the highest level of
integrity, safety and innovation to deliver superior results for our customers and returns for
shareholders. Through its subsidiaries, H&P designs, fabricates and operates high-performance drilling
rigs in conventional and unconventional plays around the world. H&P also develops and implements
advanced automation, directional drilling and survey management technologies. H&P’s fleet includes
350 land rigs in the U.S., 32 international land rigs and eight offshore platform rigs. For more
information, see H&P online at www.hpinc.com.

Financial Highlights

Years Ended September 30,

2018 2017 2016

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Operating Revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $2,487,268 $1,804,741 $1,624,332
Net Income (loss) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 482,672 (128,212) (56,828)
Diluted Earnings (loss) per Share . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4.37 (1.20) (0.54)
Dividends Declared per Share . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2.82 2.80 2.78
Capital Expenditures . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 466,584 397,567 257,169
Total Assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6,214,867 6,439,988 6,832,019
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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 

This Annual Report on Form 10-K (“Form 10-K”) contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of 
Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), and Section 21E of the Securities and 
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). All statements other than statements of historical facts included 
in this Form 10-K, including without limitation, statements regarding our future financial position, business strategy, 
budgets, projected costs and plans and objectives of management for future operations, are forward-looking statements. 
In addition, forward-looking statements generally can be identified by the use of forward-looking terminology such as 
“may,” “will,” “expect,” “intend,” “estimate,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “predict,” “project,” “target,” “continue,” or the negative 
thereof or similar terminology. Forward-looking statements are based upon current plans, estimates, and expectations 
that are subject to risks, uncertainties, and assumptions. Although we believe that the expectations reflected in such 
forward-looking statements are reasonable, we can give no assurance that such expectations will prove to be correct. 
Actual results may vary materially from those indicated or anticipated by such forward-looking statements. The inclusion 
of such statements should not be regarded as a representation that such plans, estimates, or expectations will be 
achieved. 

These forward-looking statements include, among others, such things as: 

• our business strategy; 
• the amount and nature of our future capital expenditures and how we expect to fund our capital 

expenditures, and the number of rigs we plan to construct or acquire; 
• the volatility of future oil and natural gas prices; 
• changes in future levels of drilling activity and capital expenditures by our customers, whether as a 

result of global capital markets and liquidity, changes in prices of oil and natural gas or otherwise, which 
may cause us to idle or stack additional rigs, or increase our capital expenditures and the construction 
or acquisition of rigs; 

• changes in worldwide rig supply and demand, competition, or technology; 
• possible cancellation, suspension, renegotiation or termination (with or without cause) of our contracts 

as a result of general or industry-specific economic conditions, mechanical difficulties, performance or 
other reasons; 

• expansion and growth of our business and operations; 
• our belief that the final outcome of our legal proceedings will not materially affect our financial results; 
• impact of federal and state legislative and regulatory actions affecting our costs and increasing 

operation restrictions or delay and other adverse impacts on our business; 
• environmental or other liabilities, risks, damages or losses, whether related to storms or hurricanes 

(including wreckage or debris removal), collisions, grounding, blowouts, fires, explosions, other 
accidents, terrorism or otherwise, for which insurance coverage and contractual indemnities may be 
insufficient, unenforceable or otherwise unavailable; 

• our financial condition and liquidity; 
• tax matters, including our effective tax rates, tax positions, results of audits, changes in tax laws, 

treaties and regulations, tax assessments and liabilities for taxes; and 
• potential long-lived asset impairments. 

Important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from our expectations or results discussed in 
the forward-looking statements are disclosed in this Form 10-K under Item 1A— “Risk Factors,” as well as in Item 7— 
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.” All subsequent written and 
oral forward-looking statements attributable to us, or persons acting on our behalf, are expressly qualified in their entirety 
by such cautionary statements. Because of the underlying risks and uncertainties, we caution you against placing undue 
reliance on these forward-looking statements. We assume no duty to update or revise these forward-looking statements 
based on changes in internal estimates, expectations or otherwise, except as required by law. 
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PART I 

Item 1.  BUSINESS 

Overview 

Helmerich & Payne, Inc. (which, together with its subsidiaries, is identified as the “Company,” “we,” “us” or “our,” 
except where stated or the context requires otherwise) was incorporated under the laws of the State of Delaware on 
February 3, 1940, and is successor to a business originally organized in 1920. We provide performance-driven drilling 
services and technologies that are intended to make hydrocarbon recovery safer and more economical for oil and gas 
exploration and production companies. We are an important vendor for a number of oil and gas exploration and 
production companies, but we focus exclusively on the drilling segment of the oil and gas production value chain. 

Our global contract drilling business is composed of three reportable business segments: U.S. Land, Offshore 
and International Land. During the fiscal year ended September 30, 2018, our U.S. Land operations were located in 
Colorado, Louisiana, Ohio, Oklahoma, New Mexico, North Dakota, Pennsylvania, Texas, Utah, West Virginia and 
Wyoming. Our Offshore operations were conducted in the Gulf of Mexico. Our International Land operations had rigs 
located in five international locations during fiscal year 2018: Argentina, Bahrain, Colombia, Ecuador and United Arab 
Emirates (“U.A.E.”). 

We focus on research and development of technology designed to improve the efficiency and accuracy of 
drilling operations, as well as wellbore quality and placement. Our research and development endeavors include ongoing 
improvements of our rig fleet and advancements in rig technology, including our FlexApp™ services, development of a 
proprietary Bit Guidance System™, offered as a service through MOTIVE Drilling Technologies, Inc. (“MOTIVE”), which 
we acquired in June 2017, and 3D geomagnetic reference modeling and measurement while drilling survey correction 
services, offered through Magnetic Variation Services, LLC (“MagVAR”), which we acquired in December 2017.  

We also own, develop and operate limited commercial real estate properties. Our real estate investments, 
which are located exclusively within Tulsa, Oklahoma, include a shopping center containing approximately 441,000 
leasable square feet, multi-tenant industrial warehouse properties containing approximately one million leasable square 
feet and approximately 210 acres of undeveloped real estate. 
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Drilling Fleet 

The following map and table sets forth certain information concerning our U.S. land drilling rigs as of 
September 30, 2018: 

 

           

U.S. Land Fleet 
 AC (FlexRig3) (1) AC (FlexRig4) (2) AC (FlexRig5) (3) SCR (4) Total Fleet 

Current Total Rigs Total Rigs Total Rigs Total Rigs Total Rigs 
Location Available Contracted Available (5) Contracted Available Contracted Available Contracted Available Contracted 

TX  141  110  38  1  22  22  1  —  202  133 
OK  20  18  1  1  15  15  —  —  36  34 
NM  27  26  —  —  2  2  —  —  29  28 
ND  13  4  11  —  3  3  —  —  27  7 
CO  —  —  21  6  2  2  —  —  23  8 
PA  5  2  4  —  2  1  —  —  11  3 
LA  7  7  —  —  2  1  1  —  10  8 
OH  4  3  —  —  2  2  —  —  6  5 
WY  2  2  —  —  2  2  —  —  4  4 
UT  —  —  1  1  —  —  —  —  1  1 
WV  —  —  —  —  1  1  —  —  1  1 

Totals  219  172  76  9  53  51  2  —  350  232 
 

(1) The FlexRig3 is equipped with a 750,000 lb. mast, Varco TDS-11HP top drive and Gardner Denver PZ-11 mud pumps. It can 
be equipped with an optional skidding or walking system for pad work and 7,500 psi high pressure mud system. This rig is 
capable of horizontal and vertical drilling.  

(2) The FlexRig4 model is a trailerized rig designed to be highly mobile. The rig is equipped with a 300,000 lb. or 500,000 lb. mast, 
400HP top drive and Gardner Denver HS-2250 or PZ-11 mud pumps. Range 3 drill pipe is used without setback. The rig is 
capable of horizontal and vertical drilling.  

(3) The FlexRig5 base configuration includes a 100 foot, bi-directional skidding system with an optional package that extends to 
200 feet. It includes a 750,000 lb. mast, Varco TDS-11HP top drive and Gardner Denver mud pumps. An optional third pump 
and 7,500 psi high pressure mud system can also be used. This rig is capable of horizontal and vertical drilling.  

(4) A silicon-controlled-rectifier (“SCR”) system converts alternate current (“AC”) produced by one or more AC generator sets into 
direct current (“DC”). 

(5) Two Domestic FlexRig4 rigs completed their conversions to Domestic FlexRig3’s in the fourth fiscal quarter of 2018. Two 
Domestic FlexRig4 rigs began the conversion process and three additional rigs are planned for conversion to be completed 
during the first fiscal quarter of 2019.  
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We operate a large fleet of super-spec rigs, which are generally considered to include rig specifications of an 
AC drive with 1,500 horse power drawworks, 750,000 lbs. hookload ratings, 7,500 psi mud circulating systems and 
multiple-well pad drilling systems. The chart below depicts the states in which our super-spec rigs operate.  

 

 

The following table sets forth certain information concerning our offshore drilling rigs as of September 30, 2018: 
 
       

Offshore Fleet 
Current Shallow Water (1) Deep Water (1) Total Fleet 

Location Total Available Rigs Contracted Total Available Rigs Contracted Total Available Rigs Contracted 
Louisiana (2) . . . . .   2  -  -  -  2  - 
Gulf of Mexico . . .   3  3  3  3  6  6 
Totals . . . . . . . . . .   5  3  3  3  8  6 

 
(1) Deep water rigs operate on floating facilities and shallow water rigs operate on fixed facilities.  
(2) Rigs are idle, stacked on land and not in state waters.  

 
The following table sets forth certain information concerning our international land drilling rigs as of 

September 30, 2018: 
 

           

International Land Fleet 
 AC (FlexRig3) AC (FlexRig4) Other AC SCR (1) Total Fleet 

Current Total Rigs Total Rigs Total Rigs Total Rigs Total Rigs 
Location Available Contracted Available Contracted Available Contracted Available Contracted Available Contracted 

Argentina . .    11  11  4  4  -  -  4  -  19  15 
Colombia . .    2  2  3  -  1  1  2  2  8  5 
Bahrain . . .    -  -  3  1  -  -  -  -  3  1 
U.A.E. . . . . .    2  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  2  - 
Totals . . . . . .   15  13  10  5  1  1  6  2  32  21 

 
(1) During the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2018, we ceased operations in Ecuador. On October 1, 2018, we executed a sales 

agreement with respect to the six conventional rigs present in the country, pursuant to which the rigs, together with associated 
equipment and machinery will be sold to a third party to be recycled. Prior to the sale that was executed on October 1, 2018, 
certain components of these rigs that are not subject to the sale agreement were transferred to the United States. As such, 
these rigs have been excluded from the table. 

Super-Spec Fleet
(207 Super-Spec Rigs as of 9/30/18)

TX
120

NM
28

OK
26

LA
8

ND
9

OH
6

PA
4

WY
3

CO
2 WV

1
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Contract Drilling 

General 

We are the largest provider of advanced technology AC drive land rigs in the Western Hemisphere. Operating 
principally in North and South America, we specialize in shale and unconventional resource plays drilling challenging and 
complex wells in oil and gas producing basins in the United States and in international locations. In the United States, we 
have a diverse mix of customers consisting of large independent, major, mid-sized and small oil companies that are 
focused on unconventional shale basins. In South America, our customers primarily include major international and 
national oil companies. We don’t operate any mechanical rigs.  

Revenue from individual customers that are 10% or more of our total revenues are as follows:  

          

(In thousands) 2018  2017  2016 
EOG Resources, Inc. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ 258,194  $ 163,582  $ 124,262
 

The following table presents our average active rigs per day (a measure of activity and utilization over the fiscal 
year) and average utilization for the fiscal years 2018, 2017, and 2016: 

                    

  Year Ended September 30,  
  U.S. Land  Offshore  International Land   
    2018      2017      2016      2018      2017      2016      2018      2017      2016   
Average active rigs 
per day . . . . . . . . . . .      213.6    156.5    101.0    5.6    6.2    7.4    18.3    13.6    14.7  
Average utilization (1) .      61 %    45 %    30 %    70 %    74 %    82 %    49 %    36 %    39 % 
 

(1) A rig is considered to be utilized when it is operated (or otherwise deployed for a customer) or being moved, assembled or 
dismantled pursuant to a drilling contract. 

Our Segments 

U.S. Land Segment 

We believe we operate the largest technologically advanced AC drive drilling rig fleet in the United States and 
have a presence in most of the U.S. shale and unconventional basins. We have a leading market share in the three most 
active basins, which include the Permian Basin, Eagle Ford Shale, and Woodford Shale. More than 95 percent of our 
active rigs are drilling horizontal or directional wells. As of September 30, 2018, we had over 20 percent of the total 
market share in U.S. land drilling and over 40 percent of the super-spec market share in U.S. land drilling.  

As of September 30, 2018, 232 of our 350 marketed rigs were under contract, 136 were under fixed-term 
contracts, and 96 were working well-to-well. Over the past three fiscal years, we have reinvested in our fleet, upgrading 
over 162 rigs to industry-leading super-spec designed to drill the most complex unconventional wells.  

Our U.S. Land segment contributed approximately 83 percent ($2.1 billion) of our consolidated operating 
revenues during fiscal year 2018, compared with approximately 80 percent ($1.4 billion) and 77 percent ($1.2 billion) of 
our consolidated operating revenues during fiscal years 2017 and 2016, respectively. In the United States, we draw our 
customers primarily from the major oil companies, large independent oil companies and small cap oil companies. 

Offshore Segment 

Our Offshore Drilling segment has been in operation since 1968 and currently consists of eight rigs, six of which 
are on operator-owned platforms, which operate solely in the Gulf of Mexico. We supply the rig equipment and crews and 
the operator who owns the platform will typically provide production equipment or other necessary facilities. Our offshore 
rig fleet operates on both conventional jacket style platforms and floating platforms attached to the sea floor with mooring 
lines, such as Spars and Tension Leg Platforms. Additionally, we provide management contract services to customer 
platforms where the customer owns the drilling rig.  



8 

As of September 30, 2018, six of the eight offshore rigs were under contract. Our Offshore operations 
contributed approximately 6 percent ($142.5 million) of our consolidated operating revenues during fiscal year 2018, 
compared to approximately 8 percent ($136.3 million) and 9 percent ($138.6 million) of our consolidated operating 
revenues during fiscal years 2017 and 2016, respectively. Revenues from drilling services performed for our largest 
offshore drilling customer totaled approximately 60 percent ($85.8 million) of offshore revenues during fiscal year 2018. 

International Land Segment 

Our International Land segment operates primarily in Argentina and Colombia, in addition to smaller operations 
in Bahrain and U.A.E. During the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2018, we ceased operations in Ecuador. As of September 
30, 2018, we had 21 land rigs contracted for work in locations outside of the United States. Our International Land 
operations contributed approximately 10 percent ($238.4 million) of our consolidated operating revenues during fiscal year 
2018, compared with approximately 12 percent ($213.0 million) and 14 percent ($229.9 million) of our consolidated 
operating revenues during fiscal years 2017 and 2016, respectively. 

Argentina As of September 30, 2018, we had 19 rigs in Argentina. Revenues generated by Argentine drilling 
operations contributed approximately 8 percent ($190.0 million) of our consolidated operating revenues during fiscal year 
2018 compared to approximately 9 percent ($157.3 million) and 10 percent ($159.4 million) of our consolidated operating 
revenues during fiscal years 2017 and 2016, respectively. Revenues from drilling services performed for our two largest 
customers in Argentina totaled approximately 7 percent of our consolidated operating revenues and approximately 71 
percent of our international operating revenues during fiscal year 2018. The Argentine drilling contracts are primarily with 
large international or national oil companies. As of September 30, 2018, we believe we had approximately 20 percent of 
total market share and approximately 40 percent of the unconventional horizontal drilling market share in Argentina. 

Colombia As of September 30, 2018, we had eight rigs in Colombia. Revenues generated by Colombian 
drilling operations contributed approximately 2 percent ($38.8 million) of our consolidated operating revenues in fiscal 
year 2018, compared to approximately 2 percent ($37.6 million) and 1 percent ($20.5 million) of our consolidated 
operating revenues during fiscal years 2017 and 2016, respectively. Revenues from drilling services performed for our 
two largest customers in Colombia totaled approximately 1 percent of our consolidated operating revenues and 
approximately 13 percent of our international operating revenues during fiscal year 2018. The Colombian drilling contracts 
are primarily with large international or national oil companies. 

Other Operations 

Other Operations include additional non-reportable operating segments.  Revenues included in “other” consist 
of drilling technology services as well as real estate rental income. Our drilling technology focuses on improving the 
efficiency and accuracy of drilling operations and wellbore quality through the following service offerings: (i) a proprietary 
Bit Guidance System™, offered as a service through MOTIVE, which we acquired in June 2017, and (ii) 3D geomagnetic 
reference modeling and measurement while drilling survey correction services, offered through MagVAR, which we 
acquired in December 2017. 

We also own, develop and operate limited commercial real estate properties. Our real estate investments, 
which are located exclusively within Tulsa, Oklahoma, include a shopping center, multi-tenant industrial warehouse 
properties, and undeveloped real estate. 

We have established a wholly-owned captive insurance company to insure various risks of our operating 
subsidiaries. The amount of actual cash investments held by the captive insurance company varies, depending on the 
amount of premiums paid to the captive insurance company, the timing and amount of claims paid by the captive 
insurance company, and the amount of dividends paid by the captive insurance company.  

Internal Restructuring 

We may reorganize our active International Land drilling operations and our Offshore Drilling operations into 
separate, wholly-owned subsidiaries of Helmerich & Payne, Inc. through an internal restructuring transaction. This may 
result in the transfer of certain assets from Helmerich & Payne International Drilling Co. to other wholly-owned 
subsidiaries of Helmerich & Payne, Inc. We believe that reorganizing these businesses into separate wholly-owned 
subsidiaries of Helmerich & Payne, Inc. will foster operational efficiency, simplify our organizational structure and provide 
additional clarity in our internal reporting.  Any such internal reorganization would not impact our segment reporting. 
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Rigs, Equipment, R&D, and Facilities 

During the late 1990’s, we undertook a strategic initiative to develop a new generation drilling rig that would be 
the safest, fastest-moving and highest performing rig in the land drilling market. Our first “FlexRig®” entered the market in 
1998. The original 18 rigs were designated as FlexRig1 and FlexRig2 rigs and were designed to drill wells with a depth of 
between 8,000 and 18,000 feet. From 2002 to 2004, we designed, built and delivered 32 of the next generation, AC drive 
rigs, known as “FlexRig3,” which incorporated new drilling technology and improved the safety and environmental design. 
The FlexRig3s found immediate success by delivering higher value wells to the customer. This was the beginning of the 
AC land rig revolution. We also changed our pricing and contracting strategy, and beginning in 2005, all new FlexRigs 
were built supported by a firm contract and attractive returns. To date, we have built 232 FlexRig3’s and our strategy 
included building them under a term contract with substantial payback at attractive rates of return. An important part of our 
strategy was to design a rig that could support continuous improvement through upgrade capability of the hardware and 
software on the rigs to take advantage of technology improvements and lengthening the industry rig replacement cycle. 
These upgrades included, but were not limited to, enhanced drilling control systems and software, skid and walking 
systems for drilling multiple well pads, 7,500 psi mud systems, set back capacity to accommodate the pipe that the longer 
laterals demanded, and additional mud system capacity.  

A strategic advantage is our ability to utilize our AC rig design and operational and engineering expertise to 
exploit different well depths and designs that customers demand. In 2006, we introduced the FlexRig4, which was 
designed to efficiently drill shallower wells on multi-well pads. The FlexRig4 design offers two options that include 
trailerized or multi-well pad drilling capability, both of which incorporate additional environmental and safety by design 
improvements. While the trailerized FlexRig4 design provides for more efficient moves between individual well pads, the 
multi-well pad design uses a skidding capability that allows for drilling multiple wells from a single pad, which results in a 
reduced environmental impact and increased production from a smaller footprint.  

In 2011, we announced the introduction of the FlexRig5. The FlexRig5 was designed for deeper wells than the 
FlexRig4 and long lateral drilling of multiple wells from a single location, and is designed for drilling horizontally in 
unconventional shale reservoirs. The new design preserves the key performance features of the FlexRig3 design, but 
adds a bi-directional skidding system and equipment capacities suitable for wells in excess of 25,000 feet of measured 
depth. 

We have an important advantage in the super-spec space in that our FlexRig3’s and FlexRig5’s are ideally 
suited for super-spec upgrades, and we have more upgradeable rigs than our competitors. Going forward, we will 
continue to focus on investing capital to grow the size of our super-spec fleet. During fiscal year 2018, we converted two 
FlexRig4’s to super-spec capacity and upgraded 52 of our other rigs to super-spec, including 51 FlexRig3’s and one 
FlexRig5. As of September 30, 2018, we held over 40 percent of the super-spec market share in U.S. land drilling. Our 
competency in design and construction allows us to efficiently upgrade our rigs to super-spec, and our financial strength 
enables us to continue such upgrades as long as market demand for such rigs remains high and there remains a supply 
of economically viable super-spec upgradable rigs. We do these upgrades at our fabrication facility in Houston, Texas. 

Years of designing and building our fleet of AC drive FlexRigs has given us many competitive benefits. One key 
advantage is fleet uniformity. We have overseen the design and assembly of all of our AC FlexRigs, and our different rig 
classes share many common components.  We co-designed the control systems for our rigs and have the right to make 
any changes or modifications to those systems that we desire. A uniform fleet creates an adaptive environment to reach 
maximum efficiency for employees, equipment and technology and is critical to our ability to provide consistent, safe and 
reliable operations in increasingly complex basins. In addition, our fleet has greater scale than any other competitor, 
which enables us to upgrade our existing FlexRigs to super-spec in a capital efficient way. High levels of uniformity in 
crew training and rotation, as well as parts and supplies improve our cost-effectiveness, and our ability to control and 
remove safety exposures across a more standard fleet allows us to deliver higher performance in a safer and more 
reliable manner for the customer. Further, our fleet is supported by a Company-owned supply chain that provides 
standardized materials directly to the rigs from our regional warehouses. 

A long-standing challenge in our industry is providing high quality and consistent results. In addressing the 
challenge of providing safe, high quality and consistent results, we utilize process excellence techniques that are 
developed internally. We provide experienced drilling and maintenance support for our operations, which provides value 
by reducing nonproductive time in our operations and improving drilling performance through our Center of Excellence 
(“COE”). The COE is manned 24 hours a day, seven days a week, with the ability to monitor and detect trends in drilling 
and drilling services performance onboard our rigs. Our monitoring group within the COE provides real-time help and 
feedback to our wellsite employees, as well as our customers, to fully optimize our operational performance. Additionally, 
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our COE has a staff of performance engineers that work with our customers to enhance drilling program execution and 
overall drilling performance. The monitoring group and our performance engineers capture our drilling work steps to 
ensure we have high quality and reliable results for our customers.  

We currently have three facilities that provide vertically integrated solutions for drilling rig manufacturing, 
upgrades, retrofits and modifications, as well as overhauling, recertification, and repairs as it relates to our rigs and 
equipment. These facilities all utilize lean manufacturing processes to enhance quality and efficiency as well as provide 
important insights in the maintenance and wear of equipment on our rigs. We have a fabrication and assembly facility 
near Houston, Texas as well as a fabrication facility near Tulsa, Oklahoma. Additionally, we lease an industrial facility 
near Tulsa, Oklahoma that we utilize for FlexRig equipment repairs and overhauls.  

During fiscal year 2018, we commercialized our FlexApp services, which include several new software 
applications that layer on top of our FlexRig drilling control systems. These applications are enabled by our uniform digital 
fleet, and are designed to provide additional value to our customers’ well programs by providing a platform for machine-
human collaboration during the drilling process to improve efficiency. The FlexApps can help play an important role in 
deploying our strategy as we strive towards autonomous drilling. The FlexApps that are currently in use include the 
following:  

  
Application Name      Description 
FlexTorque™ . . . . . . .   Hardware and software designed to decrease downhole drilling vibration and "slip-stick" during drilling. This 

increases drilling efficiencies and extends bit and downhole tool life eliminating customers' costly 
nonproductive time.  

FlexConnect™ . . . . . .   Software to optimize slip-to-slip connection time, which reduces customer nonproductive time and improves rig 
performance consistency across our rig fleet.  

Flex-Oscillator 2.0™ .   Rig control software that automates drill string rotation during directional "slide" operations, which reduces 
downhole drag and the potential for stuck pipe. Additionally, it allows for more effective directional drilling.  

FlexB2D™ . . . . . . . . .   Software to engage and disengage the bit during connections in an established controlled and consistent 
manner allowing for better bit and downhole tool life, better drilling parameters and less costly bit trips out of 
the hole.  

FlexDrill 1.0™ . . . . . .   Software licensed from ExxonMobil to maximize the bit's rate of penetration, which we have automated, 
allowing the drilling control system to achieve the ideal mechanical specific energy at the bit.  

FlexGuide™ . . . . . . . .   Powered by both MOTIVE and MagVAR software that utilizes a drill bit guidance system and geomagnetic 
survey correction, respectively, allowing for higher quality wellbores with a scalable, repeatable data driven 
platform approach and a reduction of surveying uncertainty by 50-60% while increasing horizontal well 
economics and reducing risk.  

 
We have historically offered ancillary services, which are now referred to as FlexServices™. These services 

include trucking, surface equipment, casing running tool services and pipe rental. 
  
Markets and Competition 

Our business largely depends on the level of capital spending by oil and gas companies for exploration and 
production activities. Sustained increases or decreases in the prices of oil and natural gas generally have a material 
impact on the exploration and production activities of our customers. As such, significant declines in the prices of oil and 
natural gas may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Oil prices 
have declined significantly since 2014 when prices exceeded $100 per barrel. Oil prices have rebounded modestly from 
lows below $30 per barrel in early 2016 to range between $50 and $77 per barrel in fiscal year 2018. The decline in prices 
continued to negatively affect demand for services in fiscal year 2016 but showed some recovery in fiscal years 2017 and 
2018.  As of September 30, 2018, we had 259 rigs under contract, compared to 218 and 118 rigs under contract as of 
September 30, 2017 and 2016, respectively. For further information concerning risks associated with our business, 
including volatility surrounding oil and natural gas prices and the impact of low oil prices on our business, see Item 1A— 
“Risk Factors” and Item 7— “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” 
included in this Form 10-K. 

Our industry is highly competitive and we strive to differentiate our services based upon the quality of our 
FlexRigs and our engineering design expertise, operational efficiency, software technologies, and safety and 
environmental awareness. The number of available rigs generally exceeds demand in many of our markets, resulting in 
significant price competition. With respect to the super-spec market, however, the industry tends to have utilization closer 
to 100 percent and higher pricing. We compete against many drilling companies, some of whom are present in more than 
one of our operating regions. In the United States, we compete with Nabors Industries Ltd., Patterson-UTI Energy, Inc. 
and many other competitors with regional operations. Internationally, we compete directly with various contractors at each 
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location where we operate. In the Gulf of Mexico platform rig market, we primarily compete with Nabors Industries Ltd. 
and Blake International Rigs, LLC.  

Drilling Contracts 

Our drilling contracts are obtained through competitive bidding or as a result of direct negotiations with 
customers. Our contracts vary in their terms and rates depending on the nature of the operations to be performed, the 
duration of the work, the amount and type of equipment and services provided, the geographic areas involved, market 
conditions and other variables. Our contracts often cover multi-well and multi-year projects. Except for a limited number of 
rigs operated under master agreements, each drilling rig operates under a separate drilling contract. 

During fiscal year 2018, substantially all of our drilling services were performed on a “daywork” contract basis, 
under which we charged a rate per day, with the price determined by the location, depth and complexity of the well to be 
drilled, operating conditions, the duration of the contract, and the competitive forces of the market. We may also enter into 
contracts where we charge a fixed rate per foot of hole drilled to a stated depth, with a fixed rate per day for the remainder 
of the hole. Contracts performed on a “footage” basis generally involve a greater element of risk to the contractor 
compared to contracts performed on a “daywork” basis. Also, we may enter into “turnkey” contracts under which we 
charge a fixed sum to deliver a hole to a stated depth and agree to furnish services such as testing, coring and casing the 
hole which are not normally done on a “footage” basis. “Turnkey” contracts entail varying degrees of risk greater than the 
usual “footage” contract. We also actively pursue “performance daywork” contracts. These contracts typically have a 
lower dayrate portion and give us the opportunity to share in the well cost savings based on meeting or exceeding certain 
key performance indicators that are mutually agreed on by ourselves and our customers. 

The duration of our drilling contracts are generally either “well-to-well” or for a fixed term. “Well-to-well” contracts 
can be terminated at the option of either party upon the completion of drilling of any one well. Fixed-term contracts 
generally have a minimum term of at least six months up to multiple years. These contracts customarily provide for 
termination at the election of the customer, but may include an “early termination payment” to be paid to us if the contract 
is terminated prior to the expiration of the fixed term. However, under certain limited circumstances such as destruction of 
a drilling rig, bankruptcy, sustained unacceptable performance by us or delivery of a rig beyond certain grace and/or 
liquidated damage periods, no early termination payment would be paid to us. 

Contracts generally contain renewal or extension provisions exercisable at the option of the customer at prices 
mutually agreeable to us and the customer. In most instances, contracts provide for additional payments for mobilization 
and demobilization of the rig. 

Contract Backlog 

As of September 30, 2018 and 2017, our drilling contract backlog, being the expected future dayrate revenue 
from executed contracts with original terms of 365 days or greater, was $1.1 billion and $1.3 billion, respectively. The 
decrease in backlog at September 30, 2018 from September 30, 2017 is primarily due to contract pricing modifications 
and a change in certain contracts from fixed term to well-to-well related to our international land segment in fiscal year 
2018. Approximately 26 percent of the total September 30, 2018 backlog is reasonably expected to be filled in fiscal year 
2020 and thereafter.  Included in backlog is early termination revenue expected to be recognized after the periods 
presented in which early termination notice was received prior to the end of the period. Upon adoption of Accounting 
Standard Update No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606): Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers, we will be required to disclose our drilling contract backlog within the Notes to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements included in Part II, Item 8– “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this report.  
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The following table sets forth the total backlog by reportable segment as of September 30, 2018 and 2017, and 
the percentage of the September 30, 2018 backlog reasonably expected to be filled in fiscal year 2020 and thereafter: 

          

        Percentage Reasonably  
  Total Backlog  Expected to be Filled in  
  Revenue  Fiscal Year 2020  

Reportable Segment     9/30/2018      9/30/2017      and Thereafter   
  (in billions)     
U.S. Land . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  0.9  $  0.9    24.9 % 
Offshore . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      —     —    — % 
International Land . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      0.2     0.4    31.0 % 
  $  1.1  $  1.3       

 
As noted above, under certain limited circumstances a customer is not required to pay an early termination fee. 

There may also be instances where a customer is financially unable or refuses to pay an early termination fee. In addition, 
contract terms could be modified or extended after the initial contract is signed. Accordingly, the actual amount of revenue 
earned may vary from the backlog reported. For further information, see Item 1A—“Risk Factors — Our current backlog of 
contract drilling revenue may continue to decline and may not be ultimately realized as fixed-term contracts may in certain 
instances be terminated without an early termination payment.” 

Employees 

One of our core values is striving for a culture that embraces organizational health and actively controlling and 
removing exposures (“C.A.R.E.”) for the safety and wellbeing of our employees. Our employees actively C.A.R.E. for 
those around them, as demonstrated through, among other things, employee support of the H&P Way Fund, our 
Company’s charitable fund that provides assistance to employees and their families experiencing unexpected and 
unavoidable emergencies. This is fundamental to our commitment to take care of our employees and to make the 
communities where they live and work better places. We pride ourselves on being a service company and focus on 
maintaining a service attitude for customers. We have a long history of emphasizing creativity and seek to maintain an 
innovative spirit in all facets of doing business. Our employees are strong team players who work closely with our 
customers to deliver value for customers and shareholders. Designing, building, upgrading, deploying, and operating rigs 
requires hard working teams willing to teach, learn, and communicate to achieve a high level of performance on a 
consistent and repeatable basis.  

As of September 30, 2018, we had 8,780 employees within the United States (12 of whom were part-time 
employees) and 997 employees in international operations. The number of employees fluctuates depending on the 
current and expected demand for our services. We consider our employee relations to be robust. None of our U.S. 
employees are represented by a union. However, some of our international employees are unionized. 

Insurance and Risk Management 

Our operations are subject to a number of operational risks, including personal injury and death, environmental, 
and weather risks, which could expose us to significant losses and damage claims. We are not fully insured against all of 
these risks and our contractual indemnity provisions may not fully protect us. Furthermore, if a significant accident or other 
event occurs and is not fully covered by insurance or an enforceable or recoverable indemnity from a customer, it could 
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

We have indemnification agreements with many of our customers and we also maintain liability and other forms 
of insurance. In general, our drilling contracts contain provisions requiring our customers to indemnify us for, among other 
things, pollution and reservoir damage. However, our contractual rights to indemnification may be unenforceable or limited 
due to negligent or willful acts by us, or subcontractors and/or suppliers or by reason of state anti-indemnity laws. Our 
customers and other third parties may also dispute these indemnification provisions, or we may be unable to transfer 
these risks to our drilling customers or other third parties by contract or indemnification agreements. 

We insure land rigs and related equipment at values that approximate the current replacement costs on the 
inception date of the policies. However, we self-insure large deductibles under these policies. We also carry insurance 
with varying deductibles and coverage limits with respect to offshore platform rigs and “named wind storm” risk in the Gulf 
of Mexico. 
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We have insurance coverage for comprehensive general liability, automobile liability, workers’ compensation 
and employer’s liability, and certain other specific risks. Insurance is purchased over deductibles to reduce our exposure 
to catastrophic events. We retain a significant portion of our expected losses under our workers’ compensation, general 
liability and automobile liability programs. We self-insure a number of other risks including loss of earnings and business 
interruption and most cyber risks. We are unable to obtain significant amounts of insurance to cover risks of underground 
reservoir damage. 

Our insurance may not in all situations provide sufficient funds to protect us from all liabilities that could result 
from our operations. Our coverage includes aggregate policy limits. As a result, we retain the risk for any loss in excess of 
these limits. No assurance can be given that all or a portion of our coverage will not be cancelled, that insurance coverage 
will continue to be available at rates considered reasonable or that our coverage will respond to a specific loss. Further, 
we may experience difficulties in collecting from our insurers or our insurers may deny all or a portion of our claims for 
insurance coverage. 

Government Regulations 

Our operations are subject to a variety of national, state, local and international environmental, health and 
safety laws, regulations, treaties and conventions. We monitor our compliance with environmental regulations in each 
country of operation and have seen an increase in environmental regulation. We have made and will continue to make the 
required expenditures to comply with current and future environmental requirements. We do not anticipate that 
compliance with currently applicable environmental rules and regulations and required controls will significantly change 
our competitive position, capital spending or earnings during 2019, as these regulations are generally imposed on 
exploration and production companies instead of contract drilling companies. We believe we are in material compliance 
with applicable environmental rules and regulations and that the cost of such compliance is not material to our business or 
financial condition. For a more detailed description of the environmental rules and regulations applicable to our 
operations, see Item 1A— “Risk Factors — Failure to comply with or changes to governmental and environmental laws 
could adversely affect our business.” 

Sustainability 

At the direction of the oil and gas exploration and production companies we work with, we contract to drill oil 
and gas wells. The exploration and production companies determine whether and when to extract those resources from 
the ground, following completion of the well. Below are summaries of what we do and what we do not do, the latter of 
which is provided because it is often incorrectly assumed that our operations overlap with exploration and production, 
midstream and downstream parts of the oil and gas sector in ways they do not.  

What We Do 

• Strive to make drilling for oil and gas safer and more efficient 
• Build and renovate drilling rigs at three industrial facilities in Texas and Oklahoma 
• Oversee drilling operations on our rigs on customer sites 
• Drill predominantly on-shore in the U.S. 

 
What We Do Not Do 

• Hydraulic fracturing 
• Buy, lease, prepare, manage or restore land on which rigs are located, or have responsibility for the 

protection of wildlife or biodiversity of our customers’ properties 
• Pump or extract oil or gas from the ground 
• Procure, transport or pump water underground, or treat, store, manage or remove waste water from the 

drilling sites, or arrange for its disposal 
• Assume responsibility for the prevention of fugitive releases or emissions associated with the oil and gas 

exploration or production process 
• Engage in oil and gas transport, refining or storage 
• Engage in downstream operations 

 
  



14 

Thus, many of the environmental and safety risks associated with the oil and gas sector fall outside the scope of 
our operations and areas of responsibility. Our most critical responsibility is therefore the safety of our employees and the 
employees of our customers. To be successful, we strive to be leaders in innovation, technology, cost competitiveness, 
safety, customer service, relationship tending, and reputation management.  To maintain this leadership edge and 
generate shareholder value, we invest in our employees, customers, communities, and other stakeholders in the ways 
listed below. 

  
Recruiting 

Our recruiting practices and decisions on whom to hire are among our most important activities. In addition to 
traditional school recruiting events, we utilize social media and local job fairs across the U.S. to find diverse, motivated 
and responsible employees. 

Education and Training 

The employment opportunities we offer are key to successful recruiting.  To attract motivated employees, we 
rely on our organizational development team. This team offers talent management, mentoring programs, change 
management initiatives, and diversity, inclusion and succession management programs, as well as educational 
assistance programs and ongoing training and development opportunities. 

Health and Welfare 

We support our employees’ and their families’ health with full medical, dental, and vision insurance for 
employees and their families, life insurance and long-term disability plans, and health care and dependent care flexible 
spending accounts. We foster teamwork and a sense of community amongst our employees through our H&P Way Fund 
that provides assistance to employees and their families experiencing emergencies. 

Retirement  

We provide a 401(k) plan with a company match. 

Safety 

All of our safety programs are designed to comply with applicable laws and industry standards as well as to 
benefit employees, customers and communities. We have a dedicated Health, Safety and Environmental (“HSE”) function 
overseen by senior executives and implemented at every H&P drilling rig and facility worldwide. Our safety-focused 
C.A.R.E. program promotes employee and customer safety and well-being.  In addition, we incorporate safety features 
into our rig designs through our Safety by Design program. The success of our safety initiatives, including our C.A.R.E. 
and Safety by Design programs, and the Company’s performance with respect to safety metrics are important elements of 
the compensation of our executives, as discussed further in our proxy statement.  

Our Safety by Design program helps us:  

• Identify and work to eliminate hazards in the rig design phase 
• Use leading-edge technology to enhance efficiency and thus reduce the number and severity of safety 

risks 
• Standardize designs, which can reduce the variability in the types of rigs we use to allow our employees 

to have a greater familiarity with the rigs than would be achieved if they had to master a wider variety of 
rig types 

• Design and configure loads and interconnects with rig moves in mind. By striving to integrate equipment 
to the greatest extent possible, we minimize risks associated with moves and risks associated with double 
handling 

 
Our COE promotes process excellence and safety by providing experienced drilling and maintenance real-time 

support around the clock to our operations.  Our COE Call Center and Real-Time Monitoring Groups are staffed with 
experienced systems technicians who work with field personnel to leverage each group’s knowledge in troubleshooting rig 
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events.  In addition, experienced engineers monitor safety critical alarms and perform daily safety performance and data 
analysis throughout the fleet. 

In the event that an incident does occur, we have developed and implemented a comprehensive Emergency 
Management and Crisis Response Plan to help ensure H&P has the ability to respond promptly and effectively to the 
most severe adverse situations or crises. 

Environmental Management 

H&P does not itself lease properties used for the operations of its customers.  However, many of our customers 
operate in regions that have stringent safety and environmental laws and regulations, with which we comply as applicable. 
The standards we employ include:  

• Applying industry-accepted environmental best practices 
• Minimizing rig physical footprints, and using technology to configure drilling rigs, where appropriate, for 

space efficient multi-well pads, all to minimize the impact on the environment in which we and our 
customers operate 

• Conversion of many of our rigs to allow partial substitution of cleaner burning natural gas as a fuel source 
to reduce air emissions 

• Upgrading our drilling rig fleet to utilize AC drive power and control systems which are more energy 
efficient and have significantly lower noise levels as compared to SCR and mechanical drilling rigs 

• Using a variety of recycling and other initiatives in our facilities and operations to minimize waste 
 
Ethics and Compliance 
 

We expect corporate, professional and personal responsibility from each of our employees as well as 
compliance with high ethical standards to achieve operational excellence. In addition to the corporate governance 
oversight provided by the Board of Directors and its committees, management observes and enforces our Code of 
Business Conduct and Ethics (“Code”) described on our website. Our Code provides employees with the tools to make 
consistent, ethical decisions and emphasizes the duty to report any concerns or violations.  

In addition to our Code, we have and enforce a Code of Ethics for Principal Executive Officers and Senior 
Financial Officers and a Foreign Corrupt Practices Act Compliance Policy.   

We believe this focus on finding and getting the best out of our people, our programs, our standards and our 
technology collectively support our operations, our reputation and our returns. 
 
Available Information 

Our website is located at www.hpinc.com. Annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, 
current reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports, earnings releases, and financial statements are made 
available free of charge on the investor relations section of our website as soon as reasonably practicable after we 
electronically file such materials with, or furnish such materials to, the SEC. The information contained on our website, or 
accessible from our website, is not incorporated into, and should not be considered part of, this annual report on Form 10-
K or any other documents we file with, or furnish to, the SEC. The SEC maintains an Internet site (http://www.sec.gov) 
that contains reports, proxy and information statements and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with 
the SEC. Annual reports, quarterly reports, current reports, amendments to those reports, earnings releases, financial 
statements and our various corporate governance documents are also available free of charge upon written request. 

Investors and others should note that we announce material financial information to our investors using our 
investor relations website (https://helmerichandpayneinc.gcs-web.com/), SEC filings, press releases, public conference 
calls and webcasts. We use these channels as well as social media to communicate with our stockholders and the public 
about our company, our services and other issues. It is possible that the information we post on social media could be 
deemed to be material information. Therefore, we encourage investors, the media, and others interested in our company 
to review the information we post on the social media channels listed on our investor relations website. 

  



16 

Item 1A.  RISK FACTORS 
 

An investment in our securities involves a variety of risks. In addition to the other information included and 
incorporated by reference in this annual report and the risk factors discussed elsewhere in this report, the following risk 
factors should be carefully considered, as they could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition 
and results of operations. There may be other additional risks, uncertainties and matters not presently known to us or that 
we believe to be immaterial that could nevertheless have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition 
and results of operations.  

Our business depends on the level of activity in the oil and natural gas industry, which is significantly impacted 
by the volatility of oil and natural gas prices and other factors. 

Our business depends on the conditions of the land and offshore oil and natural gas industry. Demand for our 
services and the rates we are able to charge for such services depend on oil and natural gas industry exploration and 
production activity and expenditure levels, which are directly affected by trends in oil and natural gas prices and market 
expectations regarding such prices. 

Oil prices continued to fluctuate in fiscal year 2018, but have settled into a range between approximately $50 
and $77 per barrel.   Oil prices began rebounding in February 2016, and we began experiencing increased demand for 
our services in May 2016.  Nevertheless, both the industry’s active rig count and our active rig count have remained below 
the peak drilling activity level reached in 2014 when oil prices were significantly higher.  As of November 8, 2018, 236 rigs 
included in our U.S. Land segment were under contract, of which 146 were fixed term and 90 were well-to-well. In the 
event oil prices become depressed for a sustained period, or decline again, our U.S. Land, International Land and 
Offshore segments may again experience significant declines in both drilling activity and spot dayrate pricing, which could 
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.  

Oil and natural gas prices and production levels can be volatile and are impacted by many factors beyond our 
control, including: 

• the domestic and foreign supply of, and demand for, oil, natural gas and related products; 
• the cost of exploring for, developing, producing and delivering oil and natural gas;  
• uncertainty in capital and commodities markets and the ability of oil and natural gas producers to access 

capital; 
• the worldwide economy;  
• expectations about future oil and natural gas prices and production levels; 
• the availability of and constraints in pipeline, storage and other transportation capacity in the basins in 

which we operate, including, for example, takeaway constraints experienced in the Permian Basin; 
• actions of The Organization of Petroleum Exporting Countries (“OPEC”), its members and other state-

controlled oil companies relating to oil price and production levels, including announcements of potential 
changes to such levels; 

• the levels of production of oil and natural gas of non-OPEC countries; 
• the continued development of shale plays which may influence worldwide supply and prices; 
• tax policies of the United States and other countries involved in global energy markets; 
• political and military conflicts in oil producing regions or other geographical areas or acts of terrorism in 

the United States or elsewhere;  
• technological advances that are related to oil and natural gas recovery or that affect the global demand for 

energy; 
• the development and exploitation of alternative energy sources;  
• legal and other limitations or restrictions on exportation and/or importation of oil and natural gas;  
• local and international political, economic and weather conditions, especially in oil and natural gas 

producing countries; 
• laws and governmental regulations affecting the use of oil and natural gas; and 
• the environmental and other laws and governmental regulations affecting exploration and development of 

oil and natural gas reserves.  

The level of land and offshore exploration, development and production activity and the prices of oil and natural 
gas are volatile and are likely to continue to be volatile in the future. Higher oil and natural gas prices do not necessarily 
translate into increased activity because demand for our services is typically driven by our customers’ expectations of 
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future commodity prices. However, a sustained decline in worldwide demand for oil and natural gas or prolonged low oil or 
natural gas prices would likely result in reduced exploration and development of land and offshore areas and a decline in 
the demand for our services, which would likely have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and 
results of operations. 

Global economic conditions and volatility in oil and gas prices may adversely affect our business. 

Global economic conditions and/or volatility in oil and natural gas prices may impact the ability or desire of our 
customers to maintain or increase spending on exploration and development drilling. Furthermore, our customers, 
vendors and/or suppliers may be unable to access financing necessary to sustain or increase their current level of 
operations, fulfill their commitments and/or fund future operations and obligations. An economic slowdown or recession in 
the United States or in any other country that significantly affects the supply of or demand for oil or natural gas could 
negatively impact our operations and therefore adversely affect our results. Challenging economic conditions may result 
in certain of our customers experiencing bankruptcy or otherwise becoming unable to pay vendors, including us. The 
global economic environment in the past has experienced significant deterioration in a relatively short period of time and 
there can be no assurance that the global economic environment will not quickly deteriorate again due to one or more 
factors. These conditions could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of 
operations. 

The contract drilling business is highly competitive and an excess of available drilling rigs may adversely affect 
our rig utilization and profit margins. 

The contract drilling business is highly competitive. Competition in contract drilling involves such factors as 
price, efficiency, condition, type and operational capability of equipment, reputation, operating safety, environmental 
impact, customer relations, rig availability and excess rig capacity in the industry. Competition is primarily on a regional 
basis and may vary significantly by region at any particular time. Land drilling rigs can be readily moved from one region 
to another in response to changes in levels of activity, which could result in an oversupply of rigs in any region, leading to 
increased price competition. 

Development of new drilling technology by competitors has increased in recent years and future improvements 
in operational efficiency and safety by our competitors could further negatively affect our ability to differentiate our 
services. Furthermore, in the event that commodity prices decline, the strategy of differentiation may be less effective if 
the lower demand for drilling and related technology services intensifies price competition and diminishes the importance 
of other factors. 

We periodically seek to increase the prices on our services to offset rising costs and to generate higher returns 
for our stockholders. However, we operate in a very competitive industry and we are not always successful in raising or 
maintaining our existing prices. With the active rig count below the peak seen in 2014 and many rigs, including highly 
capable AC rigs, still idle, there is considerable pricing pressure in the industry. Even if we are able to increase our prices, 
we may not be able to do so at a rate that is sufficient to offset rising costs without adversely affecting our activity levels. 
The inability to maintain our pricing and to increase our pricing as costs increase could have a material adverse effect on 
our business, financial position, results of operations and cash flows. 

The oil and natural gas services industry in the United States has experienced downturns in demand during the 
last decade, including a significant downturn that started in 2014 and bottomed out in 2016. Following such a downturn, 
there may be substantially more drilling rigs available than necessary to meet demand as oil and natural gas prices, as 
well as drilling activity, rebound. In the event of a glut of available and more competitive drilling rigs, we may continue to 
experience difficulty in replacing fixed-term contracts, extending expiring contracts or obtaining new contracts in the spot 
market, and new contracts may contain lower dayrates and substantially less favorable terms. As such, we may have 
difficulty sustaining or increasing rig utilization and profit margins in the future, which could have a material adverse effect 
on our business, financial condition and results of operations. 
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New technologies may cause our drilling methods and equipment to become less competitive and it may become 
necessary to incur higher levels of capital expenditures in order to keep pace with the bifurcation of rigs in the 
drilling industry, and growth through the building of new drilling rigs and improvement of existing rigs is not 
assured. 

The market for our services is characterized by continual technological developments that have resulted in, and 
will likely continue to result in, substantial improvements in the functionality and performance of rigs and equipment. Our 
customers increasingly demand the services of newer, higher specification drilling rigs. This results in a bifurcation of the 
drilling fleet and is evidenced by the higher specification drilling rigs (e.g., AC rigs) generally operating at higher overall 
utilization levels and dayrates than the lower specification drilling rigs (e.g., SCR rigs). In addition, a significant number of 
lower specification rigs are being stacked and/or removed from service. As a result of this demand for high-spec rigs, a 
higher level of capital expenditures will be required to maintain and improve existing rigs and equipment and purchase 
and construct newer, higher specification drilling rigs to meet the increasingly sophisticated needs of our customers. 

Although we take measures to ensure that we develop and use advanced oil and natural gas drilling 
technology, changes in technology or improvements in competitors’ equipment could make our equipment less 
competitive. There can be no assurance that we will: 

• have sufficient capital resources to improve existing rigs or build new, technologically advanced drilling 
rigs;  

• avoid cost overruns inherent in large fabrication projects resulting from numerous factors such as 
shortages or unscheduled delays in delivery of equipment or materials, inadequate levels of skilled labor, 
unanticipated increases in costs of equipment, materials and labor, design and engineering problems, and 
financial or other difficulties; 

• successfully deploy idle, stacked, new or upgraded drilling rigs;  
• effectively manage the increased size or future growth of our organization and drilling fleet;  
• maintain crews necessary to operate existing or additional drilling rigs; or 
• successfully improve our financial condition, results of operations, business or prospects as a result of 

improving existing drilling rigs or building new drilling rigs. 

If we are not successful in upgrading existing rigs and equipment or building new rigs in a timely and cost-effective 
manner suitable to customer needs, demand for our services could decline and we could lose market share. One or more 
technologies that we may implement in the future may not work as we expect and our business, financial condition, 
results of operations and reputation could be adversely affected as a result. Additionally, new technologies, services or 
standards could render some of our services, drilling rigs or equipment obsolete, which could reduce our competitiveness 
and have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

Our drilling related operations are subject to a number of operational risks, including environmental and weather 
risks, which could expose us to significant losses and damage claims. We are not fully insured against all of 
these risks and our contractual indemnity provisions may not fully protect us. 

Our operations are subject to the many hazards inherent in the business, including inclement weather, 
blowouts, explosions, well fires, loss of well control, pollution, and reservoir damage. These hazards could cause 
significant environmental damage, personal injury and death, suspension of operations, serious damage or destruction of 
equipment and property and substantial damage to producing formations and surrounding lands and waters. An accident 
resulting in significant environmental damage, or injuries or fatalities involving our employees or other persons could also 
trigger investigations by federal, state or local authorities. Such an accident and subsequent crisis management efforts 
could cause us to incur substantial expenses in connection with investigation and remediation as well as cause lasting 
damage to our reputation.   

Our Offshore Drilling operations are also subject to potentially significant risks and liabilities attributable to or 
resulting from adverse environmental conditions, including pollution of offshore waters and related negative impact on 
wildlife and habitat, adverse sea conditions and platform damage or destruction due to collision with aircraft or marine 
vessels. Our Offshore Drilling operations may also be negatively affected by a blowout or an uncontrolled release of oil or 
hazardous substances by third parties whose offshore operations are unrelated to our operations. We operate several 
platform rigs in the Gulf of Mexico. The Gulf of Mexico experiences hurricanes and other extreme weather conditions on a 
frequent basis, which may increase with any climate change. See below “— The physical effects of climate change and 
the regulation of greenhouse gases and climate change could have a negative impact on our business.” Damage caused 
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by high winds and turbulent seas could potentially curtail operations on our platform rigs for significant periods of time until 
the damage can be repaired. Moreover, even if our platform rigs are not directly damaged by such storms, we may 
experience disruptions in operations due to damage to customer platforms and other related facilities in the area. We also 
own a facility located near the Houston, Texas ship channel where we upgrade and repair rigs and perform fabrication 
work, and our principal fabricator and other vendors are also located in the gulf coast region and could be exposed to 
damage or disruption by hurricanes and other extreme weather conditions, including coastal flooding, which in turn could 
affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

It is customary in our business to have mutual indemnification agreements with customers on a “knock-for-
knock” basis, which means that we and our customers assume liability for our respective personnel and property.  In 
general, our drilling contracts contain provisions requiring our customers to indemnify us for, among other things, pollution 
and reservoir damage. However, our contractual rights to indemnification may be unenforceable or limited due to 
negligent or willful acts by us, our subcontractors and/or suppliers or by reason of state anti-indemnity laws. Our 
customers and other third parties may also dispute, or be unable to meet, their contractual indemnification obligations to 
us. Accordingly, we may be unable to transfer these risks to our customers and other third parties by contract or 
indemnification agreements. Incurring a liability for which we are not fully indemnified or insured could have a material 
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

We insure land rigs and related equipment at values that approximate the current replacement cost on the 
inception date of the policies. However, we self-insure large deductibles under these policies. We also carry insurance 
with varying deductibles and coverage limits with respect to offshore platform rigs and “named wind storm” risk in the Gulf 
of Mexico. 

We have insurance coverage for comprehensive general liability, automobile liability, workers’ compensation 
and employer’s liability, and certain other specific risks. Insurance is purchased over deductibles to reduce our exposure 
to catastrophic events. We retain a significant portion of our expected losses under our workers’ compensation, general 
liability and automobile liability programs. The Company self-insures a number of other risks, including loss of earnings 
and business interruption, and most cyber risks. We are unable to obtain significant amounts of insurance to cover risks of 
underground reservoir damage. 

If a significant accident or other event occurs and is not fully covered by insurance or an enforceable or 
recoverable indemnity from a customer, it could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and 
results of operations. Our insurance will not in all situations provide sufficient funds to protect us from all losses and 
liabilities that could result from our operations. Our coverage includes aggregate policy limits. As a result, we retain the 
risk for any loss in excess of these limits. No assurance can be given that all or a portion of our coverage will not be 
cancelled during fiscal year 2019, that insurance coverage will continue to be available at rates considered reasonable or 
that our coverage will respond to a specific loss. Further, we may experience difficulties in collecting from our insurers or 
our insurers may deny all or a portion of our claims for insurance coverage. 

The physical effects of climate change and the regulation of greenhouse gases and climate change could have a 
negative impact on our business. 

The physical and regulatory effects of climate change could have a negative impact on our operations, our 
customers’ operations and the overall demand for our products. Scientific studies have suggested that emissions of 
certain gases, commonly referred to as “greenhouse gases” (“GHGs”) and including carbon dioxide and methane, may be 
contributing to warming of the earth’s atmosphere and other climatic changes. In response to such studies, the issue of 
climate change and the effect of GHG emissions, in particular emissions from fossil fuels, is attracting increasing attention 
worldwide.  

We are aware of the increasing focus of local, state, regional, national and international regulatory bodies on 
GHG emissions and climate change issues. Legislation to regulate GHG emissions has periodically been introduced in 
the U.S. Congress and such legislation may be proposed in the future. In addition, in December 2015, the U.S. joined the 
international community at the 21st Conference of the Parties of the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate 
Change (the “UNFCCC”) in Paris, France in creating an agreement (the “Paris Agreement”) that requires member 
countries to review and “represent a progression” in their intended nationally determined GHG contributions, which set 
GHG emission reduction goals every five years beginning in 2020. The agreement entered into full force in November 
2016. On June 1, 2017, the President of the United States announced that the U.S. planned to withdraw from the Paris 
Agreement and to seek negotiations to either reenter the Paris Agreement on different terms or establish a new 
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framework agreement. The Paris Agreement provides for a four-year exit process beginning when it took effect in 
November 2016, which would result in an effective exit date of November 2020. The United States’ adherence to the exit 
process is uncertain and/or the terms on which the United States may reenter the Paris Agreement or a separately 
negotiated agreement are unclear at this time.  

The aim of the Paris Agreement was to hold the increase in the average global temperature to well below 2ºC 
(3.6ºF) above pre-industrial levels with efforts to limit the rise to 1.5ºC (2.7ºF) to protect against the more severe 
consequences of climate forecasted by scientific studies. These consequences include increased coastal flooding, 
droughts and associated wild fires, heavy precipitation events, stresses on water supply and agriculture, increased 
poverty, and negative impacts on health. In connection with the decision to adopt the Paris Agreement, the UNFCCC 
invited the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (the “IPCC”) to prepare a special report focused on the impacts of 
an increase in the average global temperature of 1.5ºC above pre-industrial levels and related GHG emission pathways. 
The 2018 IPCC Report concludes that the measures set forth in the Paris Agreement are insufficient and that more 
aggressive targets and measures will be needed. The 2018 IPCC Report indicates that GHGs must be reduced from 2010 
levels by 45 percent by 2030 and 100 percent by 2050 to prevent global warming of 1.5ºC above pre-industrial levels. 

It is not possible at this time to predict the timing and effect of climate change or to predict the effect of the Paris 
Agreement or whether additional GHG legislation, regulations or other measures will be adopted. However, more 
aggressive efforts by governments and non-governmental organizations to reduce GHG emissions appear likely based on 
the findings set forth in the 2018 IPCC Report and any such future laws and regulations could result in increased 
compliance costs or additional operating restrictions. If we are unable to recover or pass through a significant level of our 
costs related to complying with climate change regulatory requirements imposed on us, it could have a material adverse 
impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Further, to the extent financial markets view climate 
change and GHG emissions as a financial risk, this could negatively impact our cost of or access to capital. Climate 
change and GHG regulation could also negatively impact the drilling programs of our customers and, consequently, delay, 
limit or reduce the services we provide. An increased focus by the public on the reduction of GHG emissions as well as 
the results of the physical impacts of climate change could affect the demand for our customers’ products and have a 
negative effect on our business.  

Beyond financial and regulatory impacts, the projected severe effects of climate change have the potential to 
directly affect our facilities and operations and those of our customers. See above “—Our drilling related operations are 
subject to a number of operational risks, including environmental and weather risks, which could expose us to significant 
losses and damage claims. We are not fully insured against all of these risks and our contractual indemnity provisions 
may not fully protect us.” 

Our business is subject to cybersecurity risks. 

Threats to information technology systems associated with cybersecurity risks and cyber incidents or attacks 
continue to grow. Cybersecurity risks could include, but are not limited to, malicious software, attempts to gain 
unauthorized access to our data and the unauthorized release, corruption or loss of our data and personal information, 
interruptions in communication, loss of our intellectual property or theft of our FlexRig and other sensitive or proprietary 
technology (which could have a negative impact on our ability to compete), loss or damage to our data delivery systems, 
or other electronic security, including with our property and equipment. These cybersecurity risks could disrupt our 
operations, negatively impact our ability to compete and result in injury to our reputation, downtime, loss of revenue, and 
increased costs to prevent, respond to or mitigate cybersecurity events. It is possible that our business, financial and 
other systems could be compromised, which could go unnoticed for a prolonged period of time. While various procedures 
and controls can be utilized to mitigate exposure to such risk, cyber incidents and attacks are evolving and unpredictable. 
Additionally, customers or third parties upon whom we rely face similar threats, which could directly or indirectly impact 
our business and operations. The occurrence of a cyber-incident or attack could have a material adverse effect on our 
business, financial condition and results of operations. 

Our acquisitions, dispositions and investments may not result in anticipated benefits and may present risks not 
originally contemplated, which may have a material adverse effect on our liquidity, consolidated results of 
operations and consolidated financial condition. 

We continually seek opportunities to maximize efficiency and value through various transactions, including 
purchases or sales of assets, businesses, investments, or joint venture interests. For example, in December 2017, we 
completed the acquisition of Magnetic Variation Services, LLC. We also completed a merger transaction with MOTIVE 
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Drilling Technologies, Inc. in June 2017. These strategic transactions, among others, are intended to (but may not) result 
in the realization of savings, the creation of efficiencies, the offering of new products or services, the generation of cash or 
income, or the reduction of risk. Acquisition transactions may use cash on hand or be financed by additional borrowings or 
by the issuance of our common stock. These transactions may also affect our liquidity, consolidated results of operations 
and consolidated financial condition. 
 

These transactions also involve risks, and we cannot ensure that: 
 

• any acquisitions we attempt will be completed on the terms announced, or at all; 
• any acquisitions would result in an increase in income or provide an adequate return of capital or other 

anticipated benefits; 
• any acquisitions would be successfully integrated into our operations and internal controls; 
• the due diligence conducted prior to an acquisition would uncover situations that could result in financial 

or legal exposure, including under the FCPA, or that we will appropriately quantify the exposure from 
known risks; 

• any disposition would not result in decreased earnings, revenue, or cash flow; 
• use of cash for acquisitions would not adversely affect our cash available for capital expenditures and 

other uses; or 
• any dispositions, investments, or acquisitions, including integration efforts, would not divert management 

resources. 
 

We have allocated a portion of the purchase price of certain acquisitions to goodwill and other intangible assets. 
Generally, the amount allocated is the excess of the purchase price over the net identifiable assets acquired. At 
September 30, 2018, we had goodwill of $64.8 million and other intangible assets of $73.2 million. If we experience future 
negative changes in our business climate or our results of operations such that we determine that goodwill or intangible 
assets are impaired, we will be required to record impairment charges with respect to such assets. 

During the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2018, we recorded goodwill and intangible assets impairment losses of 
$5.6 million related to the TerraVici reporting unit, one of our technology reporting units, which is included in Asset 
Impairment Charge on the Consolidated Statement of Operations for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2018. Our 
goodwill impairment analysis performed on our remaining technology reporting units in the fourth quarter of fiscal years 
2018 and 2017 did not result in impairment charges. 

Technology disputes could negatively impact our operations or increase our costs. 
 

Drilling rigs use proprietary technology and equipment which can involve potential infringement of a third party’s 
rights, or a third party’s infringement of our rights, including patent rights. The majority of the intellectual property rights 
relating to our drilling rigs and technology services are owned by us or certain of our supplying vendors.  However, in the 
event that we or one of our supplying vendors becomes involved in a dispute over infringement of intellectual property 
rights relating to equipment owned or used by us, we may lose access to important equipment or technology, be required 
to cease use of some equipment or technology be forced to modify our drilling rigs or technology, or be required to pay 
license fees or royalties for the use of equipment or technology. In addition, we may lose a competitive advantage in the 
event we are unsuccessful in enforcing our rights against third parties. As a result, any technology disputes involving us or 
our customers or vendors could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of 
operations. 
 
Unexpected events could disrupt our business and adversely affect our results of operations. 

Unexpected or unanticipated events, including, without limitation, computer system disruptions, unplanned 
power outages, fires or explosions at drilling rigs, natural disasters such as hurricanes and tornadoes, war or terrorist 
activities, supply disruptions, failure of equipment, changes in laws and/or regulations impacting our businesses, 
pandemic illness and other unforeseeable circumstances that may arise from our increasingly connected world or 
otherwise, could adversely affect our business.  It is not possible for us to predict the occurrence or consequence of any 
such events. However, any such events could create unforeseen liabilities, reduce our ability to provide drilling and 
related technology services, reduce demand for our services, or make it more difficult or costly to provide services, any of 
which may ultimately have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. 
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Failure to comply with the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act or foreign anti-bribery legislation could adversely 
affect our business. 

The U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (“FCPA”) and similar anti-bribery laws in other jurisdictions, including 
the United Kingdom Bribery Act 2010, generally prohibit companies and their intermediaries from making improper 
payments to foreign officials for the purpose of obtaining or retaining business. We operate in many parts of the world that 
have experienced governmental corruption to some degree and, in certain circumstances, strict compliance with 
anti-bribery laws may conflict with local customs and practices and impact our business. Although we have programs in 
place requiring compliance with anti-bribery legislation, any failure to comply with the FCPA or other anti-bribery 
legislation could subject us to civil and criminal penalties or other sanctions, which could have a material adverse impact 
on our business, financial condition and results of operation. We could also face fines, sanctions and other penalties from 
authorities in the relevant foreign jurisdictions, including prohibition of our participating in or curtailment of business 
operations in those jurisdictions and the seizure of drilling rigs or other assets. 

New legislation and regulatory initiatives relating to hydraulic fracturing or other aspects of the oil and gas 
industry could negatively impact the drilling programs of our customers and, consequently, delay, limit or reduce 
the services we provide. 
  

We do not engage in any hydraulic fracturing activities. However, it is a common practice in our industry for our 
customers to recover natural gas and oil from shale and other formations through the use of horizontal drilling combined 
with hydraulic fracturing. Hydraulic fracturing is the process of creating or expanding cracks, or fractures, in formations 
using water, sand and other additives pumped under high pressure into the formation. The hydraulic fracturing process is 
typically regulated by state oil and natural gas commissions. Several states have adopted or are considering adopting 
regulations that could impose more stringent permitting, public disclosure, waste disposal and/or well construction 
requirements on oil and gas development, including hydraulic fracturing operations, or otherwise seek to ban fracturing 
activities altogether. In addition to state laws, some local municipalities have adopted or are considering adopting land 
use restrictions, such as city ordinances, that may restrict or prohibit the performance of well drilling in general and/or 
hydraulic fracturing in particular. Members of the U.S. Congress and a number of federal agencies are analyzing, or have 
been requested to review, a variety of environmental issues associated with hydraulic fracturing and the possibility of 
more stringent regulation. Any new laws, regulations or permitting requirements regarding hydraulic fracturing could 
negatively impact the drilling programs of our customers and, consequently, delay, limit or reduce the services we 
provide. For example, the Environmental Protection Agency has asserted federal regulatory authority pursuant to the 
federal Safe Drinking Water Act over certain hydraulic fracturing activities involving the use of diesel fuels. Widespread 
regulation significantly restricting or prohibiting hydraulic fracturing or other drilling activity by our customers could have a 
material adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Further, we conduct drilling 
activities in numerous states, including Oklahoma, where seismic activity may occur. In recent years, Oklahoma has 
experienced an increase in earthquakes. Although the extent of any correlation has been and remains the subject of 
studies of both federal and state agencies, some parties believe that there is a correlation between hydraulic fracturing 
related activities and the increased occurrence of seismic activity. As a result, federal and state legislatures and agencies 
may seek to further regulate, restrict or prohibit hydraulic fracturing activities. Increased regulation and attention given to 
the hydraulic fracturing process could lead to greater opposition to oil and gas production activities using hydraulic 
fracturing techniques, operational delays or increased operating and compliance costs in the production of oil and natural 
gas from shale plays, added difficulty in performing hydraulic fracturing, and potentially a decline in the completion of new 
oil and gas wells, which could negatively impact the drilling programs of our customers and, consequently, delay, limit or 
reduce the services we provide. 

Government policies, mandates, and regulations specifically affecting the energy sector and related industries, 
regulatory policies or matters that affect a variety of businesses, taxation polices, and political instability could 
adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations. 
 

Energy production and trade flows are subject to government policies, mandates, regulations, and trade 
agreements. Governmental policies affecting the energy industry, such as taxes, tariffs, duties, price controls, subsidies, 
incentives, foreign exchange rates, and import and export restrictions, can influence the viability and volume of production 
of certain commodities, the volume and types of imports and exports, whether unprocessed or processed commodity 
products are traded, and industry profitability.  For example, the decision of the U.S. government to impose tariffs on 
certain Chinese imports and the resulting retaliation by the Chinese government imposing a 10 percent tariff on U.S. 
liquefied natural gas have disrupted aspects of the energy market. Disruptions of this sort can affect the price of oil and 
natural gas and may cause our customers to change their plans for exploration and production levels, in turn reducing the 
demand for our services. Future government policies may adversely affect the supply of, demand for, and prices of oil and 
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natural gas, restrict our ability to do business in existing and target markets, and adversely affect our business, financial 
condition and results of operations. 

 
Our business, financial condition and results of operations could be affected by political instability and by 

changes in other governmental policies, mandates, regulations, and trade agreements, including monetary, fiscal and 
environmental policies, laws, regulations, acquisition approvals, and other activities of governments, agencies, and similar 
organizations.  These risks include, but are not limited to, changes in a country’s or region’s economic or political 
conditions, local labor conditions and regulations, safety and environmental regulations, reduced protection of intellectual 
property rights, changes in the regulatory or legal environment, restrictions on currency exchange activities, currency 
exchange fluctuations, burdensome taxes and tariffs, enforceability of legal agreements and judgments, adverse tax, 
administrative agency or judicial outcomes, and regulation or taxation of greenhouse gases.  International risks and 
uncertainties, including changing social and economic conditions as well as terrorism, political hostilities, and war, could 
limit our ability to transact business in these markets and could adversely affect our business, financial condition and 
results of operations. 

 
Legal claims and litigation could have a negative impact on our business. 

The nature of our business makes us susceptible to legal proceedings and governmental investigations from 
time to time. We design much of our own equipment and fabricate and upgrade such equipment in facilities that we 
operate. We also design and develop our own technology. If such equipment or technology fails to perform as expected, 
or if we fail to maintain or operate the equipment properly, there could be personal injuries, property damage, and 
environmental contamination, which could result in claims against us. In addition, during periods of depressed market 
conditions we may be subject to an increased risk of our customers, vendors, former employees and others initiating legal 
proceedings against us. Lawsuits or claims against us could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial 
condition and results of operations. Any litigation or claims, even if fully indemnified or insured, could negatively impact 
our reputation among our customers and the public, and make it more difficult for us to compete effectively or obtain 
adequate insurance in the future. 

Reliance on management and competition for experienced personnel may negatively impact our operations or 
financial results. 

We greatly depend on the efforts of our executive officers and other key employees to manage our operations. 
The loss of members of management could have a material effect on our business. Similarly, we utilize highly skilled 
personnel in operating and supporting our businesses. In times of high utilization, it can be difficult to retain, and in some 
cases find, qualified individuals, which may result in higher labor costs. During such periods, our labor costs could 
increase at a greater rate than our ability to raise prices for our services. Additionally, during the recent period of 
sustained declines in oil and natural gas prices, there was a significant decline in the oil field services workforce. This has 
reduced the available skilled labor force available to the energy industry, which could also result in higher labor costs. An 
inability to obtain or find a sufficient number of qualified personnel could have a material adverse effect on our business, 
financial condition and results of operations. 

The loss of one or a number of our large customers could have a material adverse effect on our business, 
financial condition and results of operations. 

In fiscal year 2018, we received approximately 50 percent of our consolidated operating revenues from our ten 
largest contract drilling customers and approximately 24 percent of our consolidated operating revenues from our three 
largest customers (including their affiliates). If one or more of our larger customers terminated their contracts, failed to 
renew existing contracts with us, or refused to award us with new contracts, it could have a material adverse effect on our 
business, financial condition and results of operations. Further, consolidation among oil and natural gas exploration and 
production companies may reduce the number of available customers. 

Our current backlog of contract drilling revenue may continue to decline and may not be ultimately realized as 
fixed-term contracts may, in certain instances, be terminated without an early termination payment. 

Fixed-term drilling contracts customarily provide for termination at the election of the customer, with an “early 
termination payment” to be paid to us if a contract is terminated prior to the expiration of the fixed term. However, under 
certain limited circumstances, such as destruction of a drilling rig, our bankruptcy, sustained unacceptable performance 
by us or delivery of a rig beyond certain grace and/or liquidated damage periods, no early termination payment would be 



24 

paid to us. Even if an early termination payment is owed to us, a customer may be unable or may refuse to pay the early 
termination payment. We also may not be able to perform under these contracts due to events beyond our control, and 
our customers may seek to cancel or renegotiate our contracts for various reasons, such as depressed market conditions. 
As of September 30, 2018, our contract drilling backlog was approximately $1.1 billion for future revenues under firm 
commitments. Our contract drilling backlog may decline over time as existing contract term coverage may not be offset by 
new term contracts or price modifications for existing contracts, as a result of any number of factors, such as low or 
declining oil prices and capital spending reductions by our customers. Our inability or the inability of our customers to 
perform under our or their contractual obligations may have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition 
and results of operations. 

Our contracts with national oil companies may expose us to greater risks than we normally assume in contracts 
with non-governmental customers. 

We currently own and operate rigs and have deployed technology under contracts with foreign national oil 
companies.  In the future, we may expand our international land operations and enter into additional, significant contracts 
with national oil companies.  The terms of these contracts may contain non-negotiable provisions and may expose us to 
greater commercial, political, operational and other risks than we assume in other contracts.  Foreign contracts may 
expose us to materially greater environmental liability and other claims for damages (including consequential damages) 
and personal injury related to our operations, or the risk that the contract may be terminated by our customer without 
cause on short-term notice, contractually or by governmental action, or under certain conditions that may not provide us 
with an early termination payment.  We can provide no assurance that increased risk exposure will not have an adverse 
impact on our future operations or that we will not increase the number of rigs contracted, or the amount of technology 
deployed, to national oil companies with commensurate additional contractual risks.  Risks that accompany contracts with 
national oil companies could ultimately have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of 
operations. 

Our contract drilling expense includes fixed costs that may not decline in proportion to decreases in rig 
utilization and dayrates. 
 

Our contract drilling expense includes all direct and indirect costs associated with the operation, maintenance 
and support of our drilling equipment, which is often not affected by changes in dayrates and utilization.  During periods of 
reduced revenue and/or activity, certain of our fixed costs (such as depreciation) may not decline and often we may incur 
additional costs.  During times of reduced utilization, reductions in costs may not be immediate as we may incur additional 
costs associated with maintaining and cold stacking a rig, or we may not be able to fully reduce the cost of our support 
operations in a particular geographic region due to the need to support the remaining drilling rigs in that region. 
Accordingly, a decline in revenue due to lower dayrates and/or utilization may not be offset by a corresponding decrease 
in contract drilling expense, which could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of 
operations. 
 
We depend on a limited number of vendors, some of which are thinly capitalized, and the loss of any of which 
could disrupt our operations. 

Certain key rig components, parts and equipment are either purchased from or fabricated by a single or limited 
number of vendors, and we have no long-term contracts with many of these vendors. Shortages could occur in these 
essential components due to an interruption of supply, the acquisition of a vendor by a competitor, increased demands in 
the industry or other reasons beyond our control. Similarly, certain key rig components, parts and equipment are obtained 
from vendors that are, in some cases, thinly capitalized, independent companies that generate significant portions of their 
business from us or from a small group of companies in the energy industry. These vendors may be disproportionately 
affected by any loss of business, downturn in the energy industry or reduction or unavailability of credit. If we are unable 
to procure certain of such rig components, parts or equipment, our ability to maintain, improve, upgrade or construct 
drilling rigs could be impaired, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results 
of operations. 

Shortages of drilling equipment and supplies could adversely affect our operations. 

The contract drilling business is highly cyclical. During periods of increased demand for contract drilling 
services, delays in delivery and shortages of drilling equipment and supplies can occur. Suppliers may experience quality 
control issues as they seek to rapidly increase production of equipment and supplies necessary for our operations. 
Additionally, suppliers may seek to increase prices for equipment and supplies, which we are unable to pass through to 
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our customers, either due to contractual obligations or market constraints in the contract drilling business. These risks are 
intensified during periods when the industry experiences significant new drilling rig construction or refurbishment. Any 
such delays or shortages could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of 
operations. 

Unionization efforts and labor regulations in certain countries in which we operate could materially increase our 
costs or limit our flexibility. 

Certain of our international employees are unionized, and efforts may be made from time to time to unionize 
other portions of our workforce. We may in the future be subject to strikes or work stoppages and other labor disruptions 
in connection with unionization efforts or renegotiation of existing contracts with unions representing our international 
employees. Additional unionization efforts, if successful, new collective bargaining agreements or work stoppages could 
materially increase our labor costs, reduce our revenues or limit our operational flexibility. 

We may be required to record impairment charges with respect to our drilling rigs and other assets. 

We evaluate our drilling rigs and other assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Lower utilization and dayrates adversely affect our 
revenues and profitability. Prolonged periods of low utilization and dayrates may result in the recognition of impairment 
charges if future cash flow estimates, based upon information available to management at the time, indicate that the 
carrying value of an asset group may not be recoverable. Drilling rigs in our fleet may become impaired in the future if 
market conditions deteriorate or if oil and gas prices decline further or remain low for a prolonged period. For example, in 
fiscal years 2018 and 2016, we recognized impairment charges of $17.5 million and $6.3 million, respectively, related to 
tangible assets and equipment.  

Any impairment could have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial statements. The facts and 
circumstances included in our impairment assessments are described in Part II, Item 8— “Financial Statements and 
Supplementary Data.” 

We may have additional tax liabilities and/or be limited in our use of net operating losses and tax credits. 

We are subject to income taxes in the United States and numerous other jurisdictions. Significant judgment is 
required in determining our worldwide provision for income taxes and other tax liabilities. In the ordinary course of our 
business, there are many transactions and calculations where the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. We are 
regularly audited by tax authorities. Although we believe our tax estimates are reasonable, the final determination of tax 
audits and any related litigation could be materially different than what is reflected in income tax provisions and accruals. 
An audit or litigation could materially affect our financial position, income tax provision, net income, or cash flows in the 
period or periods challenged. Tax rates in the various jurisdictions in which our subsidiaries are organized and conduct 
their operations may change significantly as a result of political or economic factors beyond our control. It is also possible 
that future changes to tax laws (including tax treaties in any of the jurisdictions that we operate in) could impact our ability 
to realize the tax savings recorded to date. Our ability to benefit from our deferred tax assets depends on us having 
sufficient future taxable income to utilize our net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards before they expire. In 
addition, Section 382 (“Section 382”) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), generally imposes 
an annual limitation on the amount of net operating losses and other pre-change tax attributes (such as tax credits) that 
may be used to offset taxable income by a corporation that has undergone an “ownership change” (as determined under 
Section 382). An ownership change generally occurs if one or more shareholders (or groups of shareholders) that are 
each deemed to own at least 5 percent of our stock change their ownership by more than 50 percentage points over their 
lowest ownership percentage during a rolling three-year period. As of September 30, 2018, we have not experienced an 
ownership change and, therefore, our utilization of our net operating loss carryforwards was not subject to an annual 
limitation. However, if we were to experience ownership changes in the future as a result of subsequent shifts in our stock 
ownership, our ability to use our pre-change net operating loss carryforwards to offset future taxable income may be 
subject to limitations, which could potentially result in increased future tax liability to us. Furthermore, our acquisition of 
MOTIVE caused MOTIVE to undergo an ownership change and, as a result, the pre-change net operating losses of 
MOTIVE are subject to limitation under Section 382; however, based on the amount of such net operating losses subject 
to the limitation, we do not expect that the application of the Section 382 limitation will have a material impact on our 
overall future tax liabilities. In addition, at the state level, there may be periods during which the use of net operating loss 
carryforwards is suspended or otherwise limited, which could accelerate or permanently increase state taxes owed. In any 
case, our net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards are subject to review and potential disallowance upon audit by 
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the tax authorities of the jurisdictions where these tax attributes are incurred. Additionally, our future effective tax rates 
could be adversely affected by changes in tax laws (including tax treaties) or their interpretation.  

On December 22, 2017, the President of the United States signed into law Public Law No. 115-97, a 
comprehensive tax reform bill commonly referred to as the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the “Tax Reform Act”) that significantly 
reforms the Code. The Tax Reform Act, among other things, (i) permanently reduces the U.S. corporate income tax rate, 
(ii) repeals the corporate alternative minimum tax, (iii) eliminates the deduction for certain domestic production activities, 
(iv) imposes new limitations on the utilization of net operating losses, (v) imposes new limitations on the deductibility of 
interest expense, (vi) imposes a type of minimum tax designed to reduce the benefits derived from intercompany 
transactions and payments that result in base erosion, and (vii) provides for more general changes to the taxation of 
corporations, including changes to cost recovery rules. These tax law changes could have the effect of causing us to incur 
income tax liability sooner than we otherwise would have incurred such liability or, in certain cases, could cause us to 
incur income tax liability that we might otherwise not have incurred, in the absence of these tax law changes. Additionally, 
the Tax Reform Act is complex and subject to interpretation. The presentation of our financial condition and results of 
operations is based upon our current interpretation of the provisions contained in the Tax Reform Act. In the future, the 
Treasury Department and the Internal Revenue Service are expected to release regulations relating to and interpretive 
guidance of the legislation contained in the Tax Reform Act. Any significant variance of our current interpretation of such 
legislation from any future regulations or interpretive guidance could adversely affect our financial position, income tax 
provision, net income, or cash flows. 

We may reduce or suspend our dividend in the future. 

We have paid a quarterly dividend for many years. Our most recent, quarterly dividend was $0.71 per share. In 
the future, our Board of Directors may, without advance notice, determine to reduce or suspend our dividend in order to 
maintain our financial flexibility and best position the Company for long-term success. The declaration and amount of 
future dividends is at the discretion of our Board of Directors and will depend on our financial condition, results of 
operations, cash flows, prospects, industry conditions, capital requirements and other factors and restrictions our Board of 
Directors deems relevant. The likelihood that dividends will be reduced or suspended is increased during periods of 
prolonged market weakness. In addition, our ability to pay dividends may be limited by agreements governing our 
indebtedness now or in the future. There can be no assurance that we will not reduce our dividend or that we will continue 
to pay a dividend in the future. 

A downgrade in our credit ratings could negatively impact our cost of and ability to access capital. 

Our ability to access capital markets or to otherwise obtain sufficient financing is enhanced by our senior 
unsecured debt ratings as provided by major U.S. credit rating agencies. Factors that may impact our credit ratings 
include debt levels, liquidity, asset quality, cost structure, commodity pricing levels and other considerations. A ratings 
downgrade could adversely impact our ability in the future to access debt markets, increase the cost of future debt, and 
potentially require us to post letters of credit for certain obligations. 

Our ability to access capital markets could be limited. 

From time to time, we may need to access capital markets to obtain financing. Our ability to access capital 
markets for financing could be limited by, among other things, oil and gas prices, our existing capital structure, our credit 
ratings, the state of the economy, the health of the drilling and overall oil and gas industry, and the liquidity of the capital 
markets. Many of the factors that affect our ability to access capital markets are outside of our control. No assurance can 
be given that we will be able to access capital markets on terms acceptable to us when required to do so, which could 
have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

Our securities portfolio may lose significant value due to a decline in equity prices and other market-related 
risks, thus impacting our debt ratio and financial strength. 
  

At September 30, 2018, we had a portfolio of securities with a total fair value of approximately $82.5 million, 
consisting of Ensco plc (“Ensco”) and Schlumberger, Ltd. The total fair value of the portfolio of securities was $70.2 million 
at September 30, 2017. The portfolio is recorded at fair value on the balance sheet with changes in unrealized after-tax 
value reflected in the equity section of the balance sheet.  However, where a decline in fair value below our cost basis is 
considered to be other than temporary, the change in value is recorded as a charge through earnings.  During the fourth 
quarter of fiscal year 2016, we determined that a loss was other-than-temporary and we recognized a $26.0 million 
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impairment charge.  No impairment charges were recognized in fiscal year 2017 or 2018.   At November 8, 2018, the fair 
value of the portfolio decreased to approximately $68.5 million.  

Improvements in or new discoveries of alternative energy technologies could have a material adverse effect on 
our financial condition and results of operations. 

Since our business depends on the level of activity in the oil and natural gas industry, any improvement in or 
new discoveries of alternative energy technologies that increase the use of alternative forms of energy and reduce the 
demand for oil and natural gas could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of 
operations. 

Our business and results of operations may be adversely affected by foreign political, economic and social 
instability risks, foreign currency restrictions and devaluation, and various local laws associated with doing 
business in certain foreign countries. 

We currently have drilling operations in South America and the Middle East. In the future, we may further 
expand the geographic reach of our operations. As a result, we are exposed to certain political, economic and other 
uncertainties not encountered in U.S. operations, including increased risks of social unrest, strikes, terrorism, war, 
kidnapping of employees, nationalization, forced negotiation or modification of contracts, difficulty resolving disputes 
(including technology disputes) and enforcing contract provisions, expropriation of equipment as well as expropriation of 
oil and gas exploration and drilling rights, taxation policies, foreign exchange restrictions and restrictions on repatriation of 
income and capital, currency rate fluctuations, increased governmental ownership and regulation of the economy and 
industry in the markets in which we operate, economic and financial instability of national oil companies, and restrictive 
governmental regulation, bureaucratic delays and general hazards associated with foreign sovereignty over certain areas 
in which operations are conducted. 

South American countries, in particular, have historically experienced uneven periods of economic growth, as 
well as recession, periods of high inflation and general economic and political instability.  From time to time, these risks 
have impacted our business.  For example, on June 30, 2010, the Venezuelan government expropriated 11 rigs and 
associated real and personal property owned by our Venezuelan subsidiary.  Prior thereto, we also experienced currency 
devaluation losses in Venezuela and difficulty repatriating U.S. dollars to the United States.  Today, our contracts for work 
in foreign countries generally provide for payment in U.S. dollars.  However, in Argentina, while our dayrate is 
denominated in U.S. dollars, we are paid in Argentine pesos.  The Argentine branch of one of our second-tier subsidiaries 
then remits U.S. dollars to its U.S. parent by converting the Argentine pesos into U.S. dollars through the Argentine 
Foreign Exchange Market and repatriating the U.S. dollars. Argentina also has a history of implementing currency 
controls, which restrict the conversion and repatriation of U.S. dollars. These controls were not in place during this past 
fiscal year.  

Argentina’s economy is currently considered highly inflationary, which is defined as cumulative inflation rates 
exceeding 100 percent in the most recent three-year period based on inflation data published by the respective 
governments.  Nonetheless, all of our foreign operations use the U.S. dollar as the functional currency and local currency 
monetary assets and liabilities are remeasured into U.S. dollars with gains and losses resulting from foreign currency 
transactions included in current results of operations. 

For fiscal year 2018, we experienced aggregate foreign currency losses of $3.6 million in Argentina.  Our 
aggregate foreign currency losses for fiscal year 2018 and 2017 were $4.0 million and $7.1 million, respectively. However, 
in the future, we may incur larger currency devaluations, foreign exchange restrictions or other difficulties repatriating U.S. 
dollars from Argentina or elsewhere, which could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition and 
results of operations. 

Additionally, there can be no assurance that there will not be changes in local laws, regulations and 
administrative requirements or the interpretation thereof, which could have a material adverse effect on the profitability of 
our operations or on our ability to continue operations in certain areas. Because of the impact of local laws, our future 
operations in certain areas may be conducted through entities in which local citizens own interests and through entities 
(including joint ventures) in which we have limited control or hold only a minority interest or pursuant to arrangements 
under which we conduct operations under contract to local entities. While we believe that neither operating through such 
entities nor pursuant to such arrangements would have a material adverse effect on our operations or revenues, there can 
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be no assurance that we will in all cases be able to structure or restructure our operations to conform to local law (or the 
administration thereof) on terms we find acceptable. 

During fiscal year 2018, approximately 9.6 percent of our consolidated operating revenues were generated from 
the international contract drilling business and approximately 96.0 percent of the international operating revenues were 
from operations in South America. Substantially all of the South American operating revenues were from Argentina and 
Colombia. The future occurrence of one or more international events arising from the types of risks described above could 
have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

Failure to comply with or changes to governmental and environmental laws could adversely affect our business. 

Many aspects of our operations are subject to various laws and regulations in the jurisdictions where we 
operate, including those relating to drilling practices and comprehensive and frequently changing laws and regulations 
relating to the safety and to the protection of human health and the environment. Environmental laws apply to the oil and 
gas industry including those regulating air emissions, discharges to water, and the transport, storage, use, treatment, 
disposal and remediation of, and exposure to, solid and hazardous wastes and materials. These laws can have a material 
adverse effect on the drilling industry, including our operations, and compliance with such laws may require us to make 
significant capital expenditures, such as the installation of costly equipment or operational changes, and may affect the 
resale values or useful lives of our drilling rigs. If we fail to comply with these laws and regulations, we could be exposed 
to substantial administrative, civil and criminal penalties, delays in permitting or performance of projects and, in some 
cases, injunctive relief. Violations of environmental laws may also result in liabilities for personal injuries, property and 
natural resource damage and other costs and claims. In addition, environmental laws and regulations in the United States 
impose a variety of requirements on “responsible parties” related to the prevention of oil spills and liability for damages 
from such spills. As an owner and operator of drilling rigs, we may be deemed to be a responsible party under these laws 
and regulations. 

Additional legislation or regulation and changes to existing legislation and regulation may reasonably be 
anticipated, and the effect thereof on our operations cannot be predicted. The expansion of the scope of laws or 
regulations protecting the environment has accelerated in recent years, particularly outside the United States, and we 
expect this trend to continue. To the extent new laws are enacted or other governmental actions are taken that prohibit or 
restrict drilling in areas where we operate or impose additional environmental protection requirements that result in 
increased costs to the oil and gas industry, in general, or the drilling industry, in particular, our business or prospects 
could be materially adversely affected.  

We may not be able to generate cash to service all of our indebtedness, and may be forced to take other actions 
to satisfy our obligations. 

Our ability to make future scheduled payments on or to refinance our debt obligations, including any future debt 
obligations, depends on our financial position, results of operations and cash flows. We may not be able to maintain a 
level of cash flows from operating activities sufficient to permit us to pay the principal and interest on our indebtedness. If 
our cash flows and capital resources are insufficient to fund our debt service obligations, we may be forced to reduce or 
delay investment decisions and capital expenditures, sell assets, seek additional capital or restructure or refinance our 
indebtedness. Furthermore, these alternative measures may not be successful and may not permit us to meet our 
scheduled debt service obligations. Our ability to restructure or refinance our debt will depend on the condition of the 
capital markets and our financial position at such time. Any refinancing of our debt could be at higher interest rates and 
may require us to comply with more onerous covenants, which could further restrict our business operations. Any failure 
to make payments of interest and principal on our outstanding indebtedness on a timely basis would be a default (if not 
waived) and would likely result in a reduction of our credit rating, which could harm our ability to seek additional capital or 
restructure or refinance our indebtedness. 

Covenants in our debt agreements restrict our ability to engage in certain activities. 

Our current debt agreements pertaining to certain long-term unsecured debt and our unsecured revolving credit 
facility contain, and our future financing arrangements likely will contain, various covenants that may in certain instances 
restrict our ability to, among other things, incur, assume or guarantee additional indebtedness, incur liens, sell or 
otherwise dispose of assets, enter into new lines of business, and merge or consolidate. In addition, our credit facility 
requires us to maintain a funded leverage ratio (as defined therein) of less than 50 percent and certain priority debt (as 
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defined therein) may not exceed 17.5 percent of our net worth (as defined therein). Such restrictions may limit our ability 
to successfully execute our business plans, which may have adverse consequences on our operations. 

Certain provisions of our corporate governing documents could make an acquisition of our company more 
difficult. 

The following provisions of our charter documents, as currently in effect, and Delaware law could discourage 
potential proposals to acquire us, delay or prevent a change in control of us or limit the price that investors may be willing 
to pay in the future for shares of our common stock: 

• our certificate of incorporation permits our Board of Directors to issue and set the terms of preferred stock 
and to adopt amendments to our bylaws; 

• our bylaws contain restrictions regarding the right of stockholders to nominate directors and to submit 
proposals to be considered at stockholder meetings; 

• our bylaws restrict the right of stockholders to call a special meeting of stockholders; and  
• we are subject to provisions of Delaware law which restrict us from engaging in any of a broad range of 

business transactions with an “interested stockholder” for a period of three years following the date such 
stockholder became classified as an interested stockholder. 
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Item 1B.  UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENT 

We have received no written comments regarding our periodic or current reports from the staff of the SEC that 
were issued 180 days or more preceding the end of fiscal year 2018 and that remain unresolved. 

Item 2.  PROPERTIES 
 
Contract Drilling Operations 
 

Our property consists primarily of drilling rigs and ancillary equipment.  We own substantially all of the 
equipment used in our businesses.  For further information on the status of our drilling fleet, see Item 1— “Business.” 
 
Real Property 

 
Our corporate headquarters is in leased office space and is located at 1437 South Boulder Avenue, Tulsa, 

Oklahoma, 74119.   
 
We own or lease office and yard space to support our ongoing operations. These include field and district 

offices in Texas, Oklahoma, Louisiana, Mississippi, Colorado, Wyoming, North Dakota, Ohio, Pennsylvania, Colombia, 
Argentina, and Bahrain. In addition, we have a fabrication and assembly facility near Houston, Texas as well as a 
fabrication facility and a maintenance and overhaul facility near Tulsa, Oklahoma.  

 
We also own several commercial real estate properties for investment purposes. Our real estate investments 

are located exclusively within Tulsa, Oklahoma, and include a shopping center, multi-tenant industrial warehouse 
properties, and undeveloped real estate.  

 
Item 3.  LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 

Venezuela Expropriation 

Our wholly-owned subsidiaries, Helmerich & Payne International Drilling Co. and Helmerich & Payne de 
Venezuela, C.A. filed a lawsuit in the United States District Court for the District of Columbia on September 23, 2011 
against the Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela, Petroleos de Venezuela, S.A. and PDVSA Petroleo, S.A.  We are seeking 
damages for the taking of our Venezuelan drilling business in violation of international law and for breach of contract. 
While there exists the possibility of realizing a recovery, we are currently unable to determine the timing or amounts we 
may receive, if any, or the likelihood of recovery. 
 
Item 4.  MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES 

Not applicable. 
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PART II 

Item 5.  MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER 
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES 

Market Information and Dividends 

The principal market on which our common stock is traded is the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol 
“HP.”  As of November 8, 2018, there were 394 record holders of our common stock as listed by our transfer agent’s 
records.  

We have paid quarterly cash dividends on our common stock during the past two fiscal years. Payment of future 
dividends will depend on earnings and other factors. 
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Performance Graph 

The following performance graph reflects the yearly percentage change in our cumulative total stockholder 
return on common stock as compared with the cumulative total return on the S&P 500 Index and the S&P 1500 Oil and 
Gas Drilling Index. All cumulative returns assume an initial investment of $100, the reinvestment of dividends and are 
calculated on a fiscal year basis ending on September 30 of each year. 

             

    INDEXED RETURNS 
     Base Period     Years Ending 

Company / Index     Sep 13      Sep 14     Sep 15     Sep 16      Sep 17     Sep 18 
Helmerich & Payne, Inc. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    100  213.72  107.52  160.53  130.54  119.00 
S&P 500 Index . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     100   142.89   142.02   163.93   194.44   187.00 
S&P 1500 Oil & Gas Drilling Index . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     100   103.39   44.91   47.75   40.37   55.00 
PHLX Oil Service Index . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     100   100.00   62.00   66.00  58.00   62.00 

 

 

The above performance graph and related information shall not be deemed to be “soliciting material” or to be 
“filed” with the SEC or subject to Regulation 14A or 14C under the Exchange Act or to the liabilities of Section 18 of the 
Exchange Act, and shall not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Act or the 
Exchange Act, except to the extent we specifically incorporate it by reference into such a filing. 

Stock Portfolio 

Information required by this item regarding our stock portfolio may be found in, and is incorporated by reference 
to, Item 7—“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Stock Portfolio 
Held” included in this Form 10-K. 

  

$0

$50

$100

$150

$200

$250

Sep 13 Sep 14 Sep 15 Sep 16 Sep 17 Sep 18

Comparison of Cumulative Five Year Total Return

Helmerich & Payne, Inc. S&P 500 Index

S&P 1500 Oil & Gas Drilling Index PHLX Oil Service Index



33 

Item 6.  SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA 

The following table summarizes selected financial information and should be read in conjunction with Item 7— 
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and Item 8—“Financial 
Statements and Supplementary Data” included in this Form 10-K. 

Five-year Summary of Selected Financial Data 

                 

     2018      2017     2016     2015      2014  
  (in thousands except per share amounts)  
Statements of Operations Selected Data                 

Operating revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      $ 2,487,268      $ 1,804,741     $ 1,624,332     $ 3,161,702      $ 3,715,968 
Depreciation and amortization . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     583,802    585,543    598,587    608,039    523,984 
Selling, general and administrative  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     200,619    151,002    146,183    134,712    135,273 
Income (loss) from continuing operations . . . . . . . . . . .      493,010     (127,863)    (52,990)    420,474     706,610 
Loss from discontinued operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      (10,338)    (349)    (3,838)    (47)    (47)
Net income (loss) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      482,672     (128,212)    (56,828)    420,427     706,563 

           
Per Share Data           

Basic earnings (loss) per share from continuing 
operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      4.49     (1.20)    (0.50)    3.88     6.52 
Basic loss per share from discontinued operations . . .      (0.10)    —     (0.04)    —     — 
Basic earnings (loss) per share . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      4.39     (1.20)    (0.54)    3.88     6.52 
Diluted earnings (loss) per share from continuing 
operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      4.47     (1.20)    (0.50)    3.85     6.44 
Diluted loss per share from discontinued operations . .      (0.10)    —     (0.04)    —     — 
Diluted earnings (loss) per share . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      4.37     (1.20)    (0.54)    3.85     6.44 
           
Cash dividends declared per common share . . . . . . . .      2.82     2.80     2.78     2.75     2.63 
           

Balance Sheet Data           
Property, plant and equipment, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     4,857,382    5,001,051    5,144,733    5,563,170    5,188,544 
Total assets (1) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      6,214,867     6,439,988     6,832,019     7,147,242     6,725,316 
Long term debt . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      493,968     492,902     491,847     492,443     39,502 
Debt to capital ratio (2) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      10.1 %    10.6 %    9.7 %    9.1 %    0.8 %
Net working capital (3) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      412,566    325,016    292,857    316,070    408,931 

 
(1) Total assets for all years include amounts related to discontinued operations. Our Venezuelan subsidiary was classified as 

discontinued operations on June 30, 2010, after the seizure of our drilling assets in that country by the Venezuelan 
government. 

(2) The debt to capital ratio is calculated by dividing total debt by total capitalization (total debt plus shareholders’ equity). The debt 
to capital ratio is not a measure of operating performance or liquidity defined by U.S. GAAP and may not be comparable to 
similarly titled measures presented by other companies.  

(3) Net working capital is calculated as current assets, excluding cash and short-term investments, less current liabilities.  
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Item 7.  MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF 
OPERATIONS 

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with Part I of this Form 10-K as well as the Consolidated 
Financial Statements and related notes thereto included in Item 8— “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of 
this Form 10-K. Our future operating results may be affected by various trends and factors which are beyond our control. 
Our actual results may differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of a variety 
of risks and uncertainties, including those described in this Annual Report under “Cautionary Note regarding Forward-
Looking Statements” and Item 1A-- “Risk Factors.” Accordingly, past results and trends should not be used by investors to 
anticipate future results or trends. 

Executive Summary 

Helmerich & Payne, Inc. provides performance-driven drilling services and technologies that are intended to 
make hydrocarbon recovery safer and more economical for oil and gas exploration and production companies. As of 
September 30, 2018, our drilling rig fleet included a total of 390 drilling rigs. Our contract drilling segments consist of the 
U.S. Land segment with 350 rigs, the Offshore segment with 8 offshore platform rigs and the International Land segment 
with 32 rigs as of September 30, 2018. At the close of fiscal year 2018, we had 259 contracted rigs, of which 153 were 
under a fixed term contract and 106 were working well-to-well, compared to 218 contracted rigs at the same time during 
the prior year. As the U.S. land drilling industry recovered from an all-time low of approximately 380 active rigs in the 
summer of 2016 to over 1,000 rigs as of September 30, 2018, we led the way in reactivating rigs in the United States and 
gained significant market share in the process. We believe that our success during this time frame is validation of the 
capabilities of our land drilling fleet and our decisions during the downturn to prepare for an eventual improvement in the 
business, and our ability to deliver best-in-class field performance and customer satisfaction. Our long-term strategy 
remains focused on innovation, technology, safety, operational excellence and reliability.  As we move forward, we 
believe that our advanced uniform rig fleet, financial strength, long term contract backlog and strong customer and 
employee base position us very well to take advantage of future opportunities.  

Market Outlook 

Our revenues are derived from the capital expenditures of companies involved in the exploration, development 
and production of crude oil and natural gas (“E&Ps”).  At the core, the level of capital expenditures is dictated by current 
and expected future prices of crude oil and natural gas, which are determined by various supply and demand factors.  
Both commodities have historically been, and we expect them to continue to be, cyclical and highly volatile. 

With respect to U.S. Land Drilling, the resurgence of oil and natural gas production coming from the United 
States brought about by unconventional shale drilling for oil has significantly impacted the supply of oil and natural gas. 
The advent of unconventional drilling in the United States began in earnest in 2009 and continues to evolve as E&Ps drill 
longer lateral wells. During this time, we designed, built and delivered new technology AC drive rigs (FlexRigs) to the 
market at a fast pace, substantially growing our fleet.  The pace of progress of unconventional drilling was interrupted by a 
decrease in crude oil prices in late 2014 from $106 per barrel in June 2014 to below $30 per barrel in early 2016. 

Late in 2017, crude oil prices began to recover, along with the level of activity in unconventional drilling. 
Throughout this time, the length of the lateral section of wells drilled in the U.S. has continued to grow.  The progression 
of longer lateral wells has required many of the industries’ rigs to be upgraded to certain specifications in order to meet 
the technical challenges of drilling longer lateral wells.  The upgraded rigs meeting those specifications are commonly 
referred to in the industry as super-spec rigs and have the following specific characteristics: AC Drive, 1,500 horsepower 
drawworks, 750,000 lbs. hookload rating, 7,500 psi mud circulating system and multiple-well pad capability.   
 

Beginning in 2018, we saw the demand for super-spec rigs increase, as crude oil ranged between $59 and $66 
per barrel.  During 2018, the demand for super-spec rigs continued to increase and we benefitted by gaining market share 
as a result of having the largest super-spec fleet in the industry and having the largest number of rigs that could readily 
and economically be upgraded to the super-spec classification.  During fiscal year 2018, we converted two FlexRig4’s to 
super-spec capacity and upgraded 52 of our other rigs to super-spec, including 51 FlexRig3’s and one FlexRig5.  As of 
September 30, 2018, we held over 40 percent of the super-spec market share in U.S. land drilling.  Due to our financial 
strength, we are in the position to continue to upgrade rigs to super-spec as long as market demand for such rigs remains 
high and we have a supply of economically viable super-spec upgradable rigs. 
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Thus far in fiscal year 2019, crude oil prices have fallen from recent highs, but are still higher than the average 
price when exploration and production companies set their 2018 capital budgets. Accordingly, we expect higher levels of 
exploration and production capital expenditures by our customers in 2019. As such, we expect the demand for super-spec 
rigs to remain elevated and robust well into fiscal year 2019, and we are well positioned to continue to upgrade our rigs to 
super-spec to meet our customers’ needs. In addition, there will be more opportunities driven by our marketing efforts for 
our non super-spec rigs (e.g. FlexRig4) to return to the market, targeting on customer programs that do not require super-
spec capabilities and can be offered at a lower price point while still exceeding our return hurdles. We are also seeing 
growing interest from customers to enter into multi-year contracts. If the market remains strong and the supply of 
economically viable super-spec rigs is depleted, the potential for newly built rigs in the industry may return, but we expect 
that much higher levels of pricing and term contract coverage will be required before the industry sees significant capital 
deployed for new build rigs. 

 
In our International Land Drilling segment, we believe that our market leading position in the Neuquén basin of 

Argentina may provide opportunities for us to deploy additional AC rigs from the United States.  We have seen periodic 
spot market work for our deeper drilling 3,000 horsepower rigs in Northern Argentina. Spot market contracts do not have a 
defined term and operate on a well-by-well basis. In fiscal year 2018, we reactivated four rigs in Colombia with renewed 
interest in the deeper drilling 3,000 horsepower rigs as well as our two FlexRig3 rigs. We expect Colombia to be a 
relatively stable market in fiscal year 2019 with potential upside. Overall, we have seen an increase in tendering activity 
from our customers in the international market resulting from higher oil prices. We believe that our international land 
operations are a potential area of growth over the next several years, but acknowledge that such growth may be more 
sporadic than what we expect in the U.S. market. 

At this time, our Offshore Drilling operations are expected to report relatively stable utilization and cash flows in 
the upcoming fiscal year. We anticipate one or more of our platform rigs could either be stacked or placed on a lower 
margin stack rate towards the end of fiscal year 2019. 

Recent Developments 

Acquisitions 

On December 8, 2017, we completed an acquisition (“MagVAR Acquisition”) of an unaffiliated company, 
Magnetic Variation Services, LLC (“MagVAR”), which is now a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. The operations 
for MagVAR are included within our other non-reportable business segments.    

Through comprehensive 3D geomagnetic reference modeling, MagVAR provides measurement while drilling 
(“MWD”) survey corrections by identifying and quantifying MWD tool measurement errors in real-time, greatly improving 
directional drilling performance and wellbore placement. Founded in 2010, MagVAR will maintain its headquarters in 
Colorado.  

At the effective time of the MagVAR Acquisition, MagVAR shareholders received aggregate cash consideration 
of $47.9 million, net of customary closing adjustments, and certain management members received restricted stock 
awards covering 213,904 shares of Helmerich & Payne, Inc. common stock.  At closing, $6.0 million of the cash 
consideration was placed in escrow, to be released to the sellers twelve months after the acquisition closing 
date.  Transaction costs related to the MagVAR Acquisition incurred during fiscal year 2018 were approximately $1.2 
million and are recorded in the Consolidated Statements of Operations within selling, general and administrative expense. 

On June 2, 2017, we completed a merger transaction (“MOTIVE Merger”) pursuant to which an unaffiliated 
drilling technology company, MOTIVE Drilling Technologies, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“MOTIVE”), was merged with 
and into our wholly-owned subsidiary Spring Merger Sub, Inc., a Delaware corporation.  MOTIVE survived the transaction 
and is now a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.    

MOTIVE has a proprietary Bit Guidance System™ that is an algorithm-driven system that considers the total 
economic consequences of directional drilling decisions and is designed to consistently lower drilling costs through more 
efficient drilling and increased hydrocarbon production through smoother wellbores and more accurate well 
placement.  Given our strong and longstanding technology and innovation focus, we believe the technology will continue 
to advance and provide further benefits for the industry. 



36 

At the effective time of the MOTIVE Merger, MOTIVE shareholders received aggregate cash consideration of 
$74.3 million, net of customary closing adjustments. During fiscal year 2018, MOTIVE shareholders received additional 
cash consideration of $10.6 million in an earnout payment and may be eligible to receive up to an additional $12.5 million 
in potential earnout payments based on future performance.  Transaction costs related to the MOTIVE Merger incurred 
during fiscal year 2017 were $3.2 million and are recorded in the Consolidated Statements of Operations within selling, 
general and administrative expense.   

Additional information regarding the MagVAR and MOTIVE acquisitions is described in Note 3--Business 
Combinations to our consolidated financial statements. The operations for MagVAR and MOTIVE are included within our 
other non-reportable business segments.  The MagVAR and MOTIVE Mergers were accounted for as a business 
combination in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 805, Business Combinations, which requires 
the assets acquired and liabilities assumed to be recorded at their acquisition date fair values. 

Impairments 

Consistent with our policy, we evaluate our drilling rigs and related equipment for impairment whenever events 
or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value of these assets may exceed the estimated undiscounted future 
net cash flows. Our evaluation, among other things, includes a review of external market factors and an assessment on 
the future marketability of specific rigs’ asset group. Given the continued low utilization within our International FlexRig4 
asset group and two of our domestic and international conventional rigs’ asset groups, together with the continued 
delivery of new, more capable rigs, we considered these economic factors to be indicators that these rigs’ asset groups 
may potentially be impaired. 

At September 30, 2018, we performed impairment testing on our International FlexRig4 asset group, which has 
an aggregate net book value of $63.0 million. We concluded that the net book value of the asset group is recoverable 
through estimated undiscounted future cash flows with a surplus of approximately 23 percent. The most significant 
assumptions used in our undiscounted cash flow model include: timing on awards of future drilling contracts, oil prices, 
operating dayrates, operating costs, rig reactivation costs, drilling rig utilization, revenue efficiency, estimated remaining 
economic useful life and net proceeds received upon future sale/disposition. The assumptions are consistent with the 
Company’s internal budgets and forecasts for future years. These significant assumptions are classified as Level 3 inputs 
by ASC Topic 820 Fair Value Measurement and Disclosures as they are based upon unobservable inputs and primarily 
rely on management assumptions and forecasts. Although we believe the assumptions used in our analysis are 
reasonable and appropriate and the asset group weighted average of expected future undiscounted net cash flows 
exceeds the net book value of the asset group as of the fiscal year 2018 year-end impairment evaluation, different 
assumptions and estimates could materially impact the analysis and our resulting conclusion. 

At September 30, 2018, we engaged a third party independent accounting firm who performed a market 
valuation, utilizing the market approach, on two of our domestic and international conventional rigs’ asset groups, which 
have aggregate net book values of $9.0 million and $15.2 million, respectively. We concluded that the fair values of these 
two asset groups exceed the net book values by approximately 64 percent and 141 percent, respectively, and as such, no 
impairment was recorded. The significant assumptions in the valuation exercise are classified as Level 2 and Level 3 
inputs by ASC Topic 820 Fair Value Measurement and Disclosures. 

 
During the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2018, after ceasing operations in Ecuador, within our International Land 

segment, we entered into a sales negotiation with respect to the six conventional rigs, within a separated international 
conventional rigs’ asset group, with net book values of $20.8 million, present in the country, pursuant to which the rigs, 
together with associated equipment and machinery would be sold to a third party to be recycled.  Certain components of 
these rigs with an $8.5 million net book value, that are not subject to the sale agreement, will be transferred to the United 
States to be utilized on other FlexRigs with high activity and demand. The sales transaction was completed in November 
2018. We recorded a non-cash impairment charge of $9.2 million ($7.0 million, net of tax, or $0.06 per diluted share), 
which is included in Asset Impairment Charge on the Consolidated Statement of Operations for the fiscal year ended 
September 30, 2018. As a result, the remaining rig within the same asset group, not to be disposed of, was written down 
resulting in an additional impairment charge of $1.4 million ($1.0 million, net of tax, or $0.01 per diluted share). 
 

Furthermore, during the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2018, within our U.S. Land segment, management 
committed to a plan to auction several previously decommissioned rigs during fiscal year 2019. As a result, we wrote 
them down to their estimated fair values. We recorded a non-cash impairment charge of $5.7 million ($4.2 million, net of 
tax, or $0.04 per diluted share), which is included in Asset Impairment Charge on the Consolidated Statements of 
Operations for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2018. 
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During the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2018, and as part of our annual goodwill impairment test, we performed a 

detailed assessment of the TerraVici technology reporting unit, where $4.7 million goodwill was allocated. We determined 
that the estimated fair value of this reporting unit was less than its carrying amount and recorded goodwill impairment 
losses of $4.7 million ($3.5 million, net of tax, or $0.03 per diluted share). In addition, we recorded an intangible asset 
impairment loss of $0.9 million ($0.7 million, net of tax, or $0.01 per diluted share). These impairment losses are included 
in Asset Impairment Charge on the Consolidated Statements of Operations for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2018. 
Our goodwill impairment analysis performed on our remaining technology reporting units in the fourth quarter of fiscal 
years 2018 and 2017 did not result in impairment charges. 

Results of Operations for the Fiscal Years Ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 

Consolidated Results of Operations 

All per share amounts included in the Results of Operations discussion are stated on a diluted basis. Except as 
specifically discussed, the following results of operations pertain only to our continuing operations. 

Net Income (Loss) Our net income for fiscal year 2018 was $482.7 million ($4.39 earnings per share), 
compared with net loss of $128.2 million ($1.20 loss per share) for fiscal year 2017. Net income in fiscal year 2018 and 
net loss in fiscal year 2017 include after-tax income from early termination revenue associated with drilling contracts 
terminated prior to the expiration of their fixed term of $12.6 million ($0.12 per share) and $20.2 million ($0.18 per share), 
respectively. Net income in fiscal year 2018 and net loss in fiscal year 2017 include after-tax gains from the sale of assets 
of $16.7 million ($0.15 per diluted share) and $14.3 million ($0.13 per diluted share), respectively. Additionally, net income 
in fiscal year 2018 and net loss in fiscal year 2017 includes after-tax income from a tax benefit of $477.2 million ($4.36 per 
diluted share) and a tax benefit of $56.7 million ($0.52 per diluted share), respectively.  

Revenue Consolidated operating revenues were $2.5 billion in fiscal year 2018 and $1.8 billion in fiscal year 
2017, including early termination revenue of $17.1 million and $29.4 million in each respective fiscal year.  Excluding early 
termination revenue, operating revenue increased $694.8 million in fiscal year 2018 compared to fiscal year 2017.  Oil 
prices steeply declined from over $106 per barrel in June 2014 to below $30 per barrel in early 2016.  During the second 
half of calendar year 2016, oil prices increased and fluctuated within a $42 to $54 per barrel price range for most of fiscal 
year 2017. However, during the second half of fiscal year 2018, oil prices were mostly in the $62 to $77 per barrel price 
range. Primarily as a result of the impact of oil prices on drilling activity by exploration and production companies during 
that time frame, the number of revenue days in our U.S. Land segment totaled 77,980 in fiscal year 2018, compared to 
57,120 in fiscal year 2017.  

Asset Impairment Management monitors industry market conditions impacting its long-lived assets, intangible 
assets and goodwill. When required, an impairment analysis is performed to determine if any impairment exists.  During 
the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2018, and after ceasing operations in Ecuador, we entered into a sales negotiation with 
respect to the six conventional rigs present in the country, pursuant to which the rigs, together with associated equipment 
and machinery, would be sold to a third party to be recycled. As a result, we recorded a non-cash impairment charge of 
$9.2 million. The remaining rig within the same asset group, not to be disposed of, was written down resulting in an 
additional impairment charge of $1.4 million ($1.0 million, net of tax, or $0.01 per diluted share). Additionally, during the 
fourth quarter of fiscal year 2018, management committed to a plan to auction several previously decommissioned rigs 
during fiscal year 2019. As a result, we wrote them down to their estimated fair values and we recorded a non-cash 
impairment charge of $5.7 million. Furthermore, during the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2018, we recorded goodwill and 
intangible assets impairment losses of $5.6 million related to the TerraVici technology reporting unit. The fiscal year 2018 
asset impairment charges are included in Asset Impairment Charge on the Consolidated Statement of Operations for the 
fiscal year ended September 30, 2018. We did not record any impairment in fiscal year 2017. 

Interest and Dividend Income Interest and dividend income was $8.0 million and $5.9 million in fiscal years 
2018 and 2017, respectively.  The higher income in fiscal year 2018 was primarily due to higher earnings on available 
cash equivalents and short-term investments.   

Direct Operating Expenses Direct operating expenses in fiscal year 2018 were $1.7 billion, compared with 
$1.2 billion in fiscal year 2017.  The increase in fiscal year 2018 from fiscal year 2017 was primarily attributable to a 
higher level of activity in fiscal year 2018.  
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General and Administrative Expense General and administrative expenses totaled $200.6 million in fiscal 
year 2018 and $151.0 million in fiscal year 2017.  During fiscal year 2018, we incurred transaction costs of $1.2 million 
related to our acquisition of MagVAR. Additionally, increased employee general and administrative headcount, primarily 
as a result of the acquisition of MagVAR and MOTIVE, caused an increase in employee compensation costs, including 
taxes, benefits and stock-based compensation, compared to fiscal year 2017.  

Depreciation and Amortization Depreciation and amortization expense was $583.8 million in fiscal year 2018 
and $585.5 million in fiscal year 2017. Depreciation and amortization includes amortization of intangible assets of $5.4 
million and $1.1 million in fiscal years 2018 and 2017, respectively, and abandonments of equipment of $27.7 million and 
$42.6 million in fiscal years 2018 and 2017, respectively. In fiscal year 2018, depreciation expense also includes $9.7 
million of accelerated depreciation for components on rigs that are planned for conversion in fiscal year 2019. 
Depreciation expense, exclusive of abandonments and accelerated depreciation, increased one percent in fiscal year 
2018 from fiscal year 2017. As the drilling markets continued to recover during fiscal year 2017, we began abandoning 
older rig components that were replaced by upgrades to our rig fleet to meet customer demands for additional 
capabilities.  This trend continued in fiscal year 2018. 

Interest Interest expense, net of amounts capitalized, totaled $24.3 million in fiscal year 2018 and $19.7 million 
in fiscal year 2017. Interest expense is primarily attributable to fixed-rate debt outstanding. Capitalized interest was 
$0.4 million and $0.3 million in fiscal years 2018 and 2017, respectively. All of the capitalized interest is attributable to our 
rig upgrade and rig construction programs. 

Income Taxes We had an income tax benefit of $477.2 million in fiscal year 2018 compared to an income tax 
benefit of $56.7 million in fiscal year 2017. The effective income tax rate was (3,012.3) percent in fiscal year 2018 
compared to 30.7 percent in fiscal year 2017. The effective tax rate for fiscal year 2018 was impacted by income tax 
adjustments related to the reduction of the federal statutory corporate income tax rate as part of the Tax Reform Act, 
which was enacted on December 22, 2017, and an increase in the deferred state income tax rate. In addition, effective tax 
rates differ from the U.S. federal statutory rate (24.5 percent for fiscal year 2018 and 35.0 percent for fiscal year 2017) 
due to non-deductible permanent items and state and foreign income taxes. Deferred income taxes are provided for 
temporary differences between the financial reporting basis and the tax basis of our assets and liabilities. Recoverability 
of any tax assets are evaluated and necessary allowances are provided. The carrying value of the net deferred tax assets 
is based on management’s judgments using certain estimates and assumptions that we will be able to generate sufficient 
future taxable income in certain tax jurisdictions to realize the benefits of such assets. If these estimates and related 
assumptions change in the future, additional valuation allowances may be recorded against the deferred tax assets 
resulting in additional income tax expense in the future. See Note 8—Income Taxes to our Consolidated Financial 
Statements for additional income tax disclosures. 

Research and Development During fiscal years 2018 and 2017, we incurred $18.2 million and $12.0 million, 
respectively, of research and development expenses. The increase in expense is primarily related to the acquisitions of 
MOTIVE and MagVAR given that a portion of their ongoing expenses are classified as research and development. We 
anticipate research and development expenses to continue during fiscal year 2019. 

Discontinued Operations Expenses incurred within the country of Venezuela are reported as discontinued 
operations. In March 2016, the Venezuelan government implemented the previously announced plans for a new foreign 
currency exchange system. Our wholly-owned subsidiaries, Helmerich & Payne International Drilling Co. and Helmerich & 
Payne de Venezuela, C.A., filed a lawsuit in the United States District Court for the District of Columbia on September 23, 
2011 against the Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela, Petroleos de Venezuela, S.A. and PDVSA Petroleo, S.A. We are 
seeking damages for the taking of our Venezuelan drilling business in violation of international law and for breach of 
contract. While there exists the possibility of realizing a recovery, we are currently unable to determine the timing or 
amounts we may receive, if any, or the likelihood of recovery. Activity within discontinued operations for both fiscal years 
2017 and 2018 is primarily a result of the impact of exchange rate fluctuations on remaining in country assets and 
liabilities. 
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U.S. Land Operations Segment 

          

     2018      2017      % Change 
  (in thousands, except operating statistics) 
Operating revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  2,068,195  $  1,439,523   43.7 %
Direct operating expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      1,348,533     984,205   37.0  
Selling, general and administrative expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      58,157     50,712   14.7  
Depreciation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      505,112     499,486   1.1  
Asset impairment charge . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      5,695     —   100.0  
Segment operating income (loss) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  150,698  $  (94,880)  (258.8) 
Operating Statistics (1):                   
Revenue days . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      77,980     57,120   36.5 %
Average rig revenue per day . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  23,411  $  22,607   3.6  
Average rig expense per day . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  14,182  $  14,623   (3.0) 
Average rig margin per day . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  9,229  $  7,984   15.6  
Number of rigs at end of period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      350     350    —  
Rig utilization . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      61 %      45 %   35.6  

 
(1) Operating statistics for per day revenue, expense and margin do not include reimbursements of “out-of-pocket” expenses of 

$242,617 and $148,218 for fiscal years 2018 and 2017, respectively. 
 

Operating Income (Loss) In fiscal year 2018, the U.S. Land segment had operating income of $150.7 million 
compared to an operating loss of $94.9 million in fiscal year 2017. Included in U.S. land revenues for fiscal years 2018 
and 2017 is approximately $17.1 million and $24.5 million, respectively, from early termination of fixed-term 
contracts.  Fixed-term contracts customarily provide for termination at the election of the customer, with an early 
termination payment to be paid to us if a contract is terminated prior to the expiration of the fixed term (except in limited 
circumstances including sustained unacceptable performance by us). 

Revenue Excluding early termination revenue of $219 and $428 per day for fiscal years 2018 and 2017, 
respectively, average revenue per day for fiscal year 2018 increased by $1,013 to $23,192 from $22,179 in fiscal year 
2017.  Our activity increased year-over-year in response to higher commodity prices resulting in a 36.5 percent increase 
in revenue days when comparing fiscal year 2018 to fiscal year 2017.   

Direct Operating Expenses Direct rig expense increased to $1.3 billion in fiscal year 2018 from $984.2 million 
in fiscal year 2017.  This increase was primarily attributable to increased activity. Additionally, we implemented a wage 
increase for our field personnel in some regions in April 2018. 

General and Administrative Expense In fiscal year 2018, general and administrative expense increased 14.7 
percent compared to 2017. This change was primarily driven by an increase in employee headcount, which resulted in an 
increase in employee compensation, including taxes, benefits and stock-based compensation.  

Asset Impairment Charge During the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2018, management committed to a plan to 
auction several previously decommissioned rigs during fiscal year 2019. As a result, we wrote these rigs down to their 
estimated fair values and recorded a non-cash impairment charge of $5.7 million, which is included in Asset Impairment 
Charge on the Consolidated Statement of Operations for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2018.  

 
Depreciation Depreciation includes charges for abandoned equipment of $26.3 million and $42.2 million in 

fiscal years 2018 and 2017, respectively. In fiscal year 2018, depreciation expense also includes $9.7 million of 
accelerated depreciation for components on rigs that are scheduled for conversion in fiscal year 2019. As the drilling 
markets continued to recover during fiscal year 2017, we began abandoning older rig components to meet customer 
demands for additional capabilities. This trend continued in fiscal year 2018. Excluding the abandonments and 
accelerated depreciation, depreciation in fiscal year 2018 increased from fiscal year 2017.   

Utilization Rig utilization increased to 61 percent in fiscal year 2018 from 45 percent in fiscal year 2017. The 
total number of available rigs at both September 30, 2018 and September 30, 2017 was 350.  

At September 30, 2018, 232 out of 350 existing rigs in the U.S. Land segment were generating revenue. Of the 
232 rigs generating revenue, 136 were under fixed-term contracts, and 96 were working well-to-well. At November 9, 
2018, the number of existing rigs under fixed-term contracts in the segment was 141 and the number of rigs working in 
the spot market was 95. 
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Offshore Operations Segment 

          

     2018      2017      % Change 
  (in thousands, except operating statistics) 
Operating revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  142,500  $  136,263   4.6 %
Direct operating expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      101,477     96,593   5.1  
Selling, general and administrative expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      4,507     3,705   21.6  
Depreciation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      10,392     11,764   (11.7) 
Segment operating income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  26,124  $  24,201   7.9  
Operating Statistics (1):                   
Revenue days . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      2,036     2,277   (10.6)%
Average rig revenue per day . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  35,331  $  34,332   2.9  
Average rig expense per day . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  26,009  $  23,172   12.2  
Average rig margin per day . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  9,322  $  11,160   (16.5) 
Number of rigs at end of period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      8     8    —  
Rig utilization . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      70 %      74 %   (5.4) 

 
(1) Operating statistics for per day revenue, expense and margin do not include reimbursements of “out-of-pocket” expenses of 

$20,279 and $21,578 for fiscal years 2018 and 2017, respectively. The operating statistics only include rigs owned by us and 
exclude offshore platform management and labor service contracts and currency revaluation expense. 

 
Operating Income In fiscal year 2018, the Offshore segment had operating income of $26.1 million compared 

to operating income of $24.2 million in fiscal year 2017.  

Revenue Average rig revenue per day increased in fiscal year 2018 compared to fiscal year 2017 primarily due 
to several rigs moving to higher pricing from previous standby or other special dayrates. During April 2018, a previously 
idle rig commenced work on a customer’s platform.  

Direct Operating Expenses Average rig expense increased to $26,009 per day in fiscal year 2018 from 
$23,172 per day in fiscal year 2017.  This increase was primarily attributable to rig start-up expenses and unfavorable 
adjustments to self-insurance expenses related to workers’ compensation.  

Depreciation Depreciation expense decreased 11.7 percent in fiscal year 2018 compared to fiscal year 2017. 
This change was primarily driven by two rigs becoming fully depreciated during fiscal year 2018.  

Utilization During the second quarter of fiscal year 2017, we sold one of our offshore rigs.  At September 30, 
2018, six of our eight platform rigs were contracted compared to five of the eight available platform rigs at September 30, 
2017. 

International Land Operations Segment 

          

     2018      2017      % Change 
  (in thousands, except operating statistics) 
Operating revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  238,356  $  212,972   11.9 %
Direct operating expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      177,938     163,486   8.8  
Selling, general and administrative expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      3,658     3,088   18.5  
Depreciation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      46,826     53,622   (12.7) 
Asset impairment charge . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     10,617    —  100.0  
Segment operating loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  (683) $  (7,224)  (90.5) 
Operating Statistics (1):                
Revenue days . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      6,696     4,951   35.2 %
Average rig revenue per day . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  33,830  $  40,979   (17.4) 
Average rig expense per day . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  24,211  $  29,761   (18.7) 
Average rig margin per day . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  9,620  $  11,218   (14.2) 
Number of rigs at end of period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      32     38   (15.8) 
Rig utilization . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      49 %      36 %   36.1  

 
(1) Operating statistics for per day revenue, expense and margin do not include reimbursements of “out-of-pocket” expenses of 

$11,828 and $10,074 for fiscal years 2018 and 2017, respectively. Also excluded are the effects of currency revaluation 
income and expense. 
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Operating Loss The International Land segment had an operating loss of $0.7 million for fiscal year 2018 
compared to an operating loss of $7.2 million for fiscal year 2017. 

Revenue Our activity has increased primarily in response to higher commodity prices.  We experienced a 
35.2 percent increase in revenue days when comparing fiscal year 2018 to fiscal year 2017. The average number of 
active rigs was 18.2 during fiscal year 2018 compared to 13.6 during fiscal year 2017. 

Direct Operating Expenses Although direct operating expenses increased in fiscal year 2018 to $177.9 million 
from $163.5 million in fiscal year 2017, the average rig expense per day decreased by $5,550, an 18.7 percent decrease 
as compared to the fiscal year 2017 average rig expense. Included in direct operating expenses are foreign currency 
transaction losses of $4.0 million and $6.0 million for fiscal years 2018 and 2017, respectively.  The losses are primarily 
due to an ongoing devaluation of the Argentine peso beginning in December 2015. 

Depreciation Depreciation expense decreased 12.7 percent in fiscal year 2018 compared to fiscal year 2017. 
This decrease was due to several rig components in Argentina that became fully depreciated during fiscal year 2018.   

Asset Impairment Charge During the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2018, after ceasing operations in Ecuador, 
we entered into a sales negotiation with respect to six conventional rigs, with net book values of $20.8 million, present in 
the country, pursuant to which the rigs, together with associated equipment and machinery, would be sold to a third party 
to be recycled. Certain components of these rigs with an $8.5 million net book value, that are not subject to the sale 
agreement, will be transferred to the United States to be utilized on other FlexRigs with high activity and demand. The 
sales transaction was completed in November 2018. We recorded a non-cash impairment charge of $9.2 million ($7.0 
million, net of tax, or $0.06 per diluted share), which is included in Asset Impairment Charge on the Consolidated 
Statement of Operations for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2018 related to these rigs. As a result, the remaining rig 
within the same asset group, not to be disposed of, was written down resulting in an additional impairment charge of $1.4 
million ($1.0 million, net of tax, or $0.01 per diluted share). 

Utilization Utilization increased from 36 percent in fiscal year 2017 to 49 percent in fiscal year 2018. The 
increase was driven by the increase in rig activity as discussed above.  

Other Operations 

Results of our other operations, excluding corporate selling, general and administrative costs and corporate 
depreciation, are as follows: 

          

     2018      2017      % Change 
  (in thousands, except operating statistics) 
Operating revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  38,217  $  15,983   139.1 %
Direct operating expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      44,390   18,552  139.3  
Selling, general and administrative expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      15,801       1,756   799.8  
Depreciation and amortization . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      8,332       5,124   62.6  
Asset impairment charge . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     5,637    —  100.0  
Operating loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  (35,943) $  (9,449)  280.4  

 
Operating Loss Other operations in fiscal year 2018 had an operating loss of $35.9 million compared to an 

operating loss of $9.4 million in fiscal year 2017. The change was primarily driven by the acquisition of MagVAR in 
December 2017 and twelve full months of operations of MOTIVE, which was acquired in June 2017. Refer to Note 3—
Business Combinations of the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional disclosures.  

Asset Impairment Charge During the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2018, we recorded goodwill and intangible 
assets impairment losses of $5.6 million related to the TerraVici technology reporting unit where $4.7 million goodwill was 
allocated. This impairment loss is included in Asset Impairment Charge on the Consolidated Statements of Operations for 
the fiscal year ended September 30, 2018. 
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Results of Operation for the Fiscal Years Ended September 30, 2017 and 2016 

Consolidated Results of Operations 

All per share amounts included in the Results of Operations discussion are stated on a diluted basis. Except as 
specifically discussed, the following results of operations pertain only to our continuing operations. 

Net Loss Our net loss for fiscal year 2017 was $128.2 million ($1.20 loss per share) compared to a net loss of 
$56.8 million ($0.54 loss per share) for fiscal year 2016. Net loss in fiscal years 2017 and 2016 includes after-tax income 
from early termination revenue associated with drilling contracts terminated prior to the expiration of their fixed term of 
$20.2 million ($0.18 per share) and $139.3 million ($1.29 per share), respectively. Net loss in fiscal years 2017 and 2016 
includes after-tax gains from the sale of assets of $14.3 million ($0.13 per share) and $6.1 million ($0.06 per share), 
respectively. Included in our fiscal year 2016 net loss is an after-tax loss of $15.9 million ($0.15 loss per share) from an 
other-than-temporary impairment of our marketable equity security position in Atwood Oceanics, Inc. (“Atwood”). Net loss 
in fiscal year 2016 also includes an after-tax loss of $12.0 million ($0.11 loss per share) from the settlement of litigation 
and a $3.8 million loss ($0.04 loss per share) from discontinued operations. 

Revenue Consolidated operating revenues were $1.8 billion in fiscal year 2017 and $1.6 billion in fiscal year 
2016, including early termination revenue of $29.4 million and $219.0 million in each respective fiscal year. Primarily as a 
result of the impact of oil prices on drilling activity by exploration and production companies during that time frame, the 
number of revenue days in our U.S. Land segment totaled 57,120 in fiscal year 2017 and 36,984 in fiscal year 2016. 

Interest and Dividend Income Interest and dividend income was $5.9 million and $3.2 million in fiscal year 
2017 and 2016, respectively.  The higher income in fiscal year 2017 was primarily due to higher earnings on available 
cash equivalents and short-term investments. 

Direct Operating Expenses Direct operating costs in fiscal year 2017 were $1.2 billion and $0.9 billion in fiscal 
year 2016. The increase in fiscal year 2017 from fiscal year 2016 was primarily due to an increase in drilling activity. 

General and Administrative Expense General and administrative expenses totaled $151.0 million in fiscal 
year 2017 and $146.2 million in fiscal year 2016. During fiscal year 2017, we incurred transaction costs of $3.2 million 
related to our acquisition of MOTIVE. In addition, bonuses paid to employees increased in fiscal year 2017. 

Depreciation and Amortization Depreciation and amortization expense was $585.5 million in fiscal year 2017 
and $598.6 million in fiscal year 2016. Depreciation and amortization includes abandonments of equipment of 
$42.6 million in fiscal year 2017 and $39.3 million in fiscal year 2016. Additionally, we recorded impairment charges on rig 
and rig related equipment of $6.3 million in fiscal year 2016. Depreciation expense, exclusive of abandonments, 
decreased three percent in fiscal year 2017 from fiscal year 2016.  The decrease is primarily due to relatively lower levels 
of capital expenditures during fiscal year 2017 and legacy assets reaching the end of their depreciable 
lives.  Abandonments were primarily due to the abandonment of used drilling equipment in both fiscal years. 

Interest Interest expense net of amounts capitalized totaled $19.7 million in fiscal year 2017 and $22.9 million 
in fiscal year 2016. Interest expense is primarily attributable to fixed-rate debt outstanding. There was a favorable 
adjustment to interest expense of $5.2 million in fiscal year 2017 related to the reversal of previously booked uncertain tax 
positions where the statute of limitations had expired. Capitalized interest was $0.3 million and $2.8 million in fiscal years 
2017 and 2016, respectively. All of the capitalized interest is attributable to our rig construction and upgrade program. 

Income Taxes We had an income tax benefit of $56.7 million in fiscal year 2017 compared to an income tax 
benefit of $19.7 million in fiscal year 2016. The effective income tax rate was 30.7 percent in fiscal year 2017 and 
27.1 percent in fiscal year 2016. Deferred income taxes are provided for temporary differences between the financial 
reporting basis and the tax basis of our assets and liabilities. Recoverability of any tax assets are evaluated and 
necessary allowances are provided. The carrying value of the net deferred tax assets is based on management’s 
judgments using certain estimates and assumptions that we will be able to generate sufficient future taxable income in 
certain tax jurisdictions to realize the benefits of such assets. If these estimates and related assumptions change in the 
future, additional valuation allowances may be recorded against the deferred tax assets resulting in additional income tax 
expense in the future. See Note 8—Income Taxes to our Consolidated Financial Statements for additional income tax 
disclosures. 



43 

Research and Development During fiscal years 2017 and 2016, we incurred $12.0 million and $10.3 million, 
respectively, of research and development expenses primarily related to the ongoing development of the rotary steerable 
system tools. 

U.S. Land Operations Segment 

          

     2017      2016      % Change 
  (in thousands, except operating statistics) 
Operating revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  1,439,523  $  1,242,462   15.9 %
Direct operating expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      984,205     603,800   63.0  
Selling, general and administrative expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      50,712     50,057   1.3  
Depreciation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      499,486     508,237   (1.7) 
Asset impairment charge . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      —     6,250   (100.0) 
Segment operating income (loss) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  (94,880) $  74,118   (228.0) 
Operating Statistics (1):                   
Revenue days . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      57,120     36,984   54.4 %
Average rig revenue per day . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  22,607  $  31,369   (27.9) 
Average rig expense per day . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  14,623  $  14,117   3.6  
Average rig margin per day . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  7,984  $  17,252   (53.7) 
Number of rigs at end of period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      350     348   0.6  
Rig utilization . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      45 %      30 %   50.0  

 
(1) Operating statistics for per day revenue, expense and margin do not include reimbursements of “out-of-pocket” expenses of 

$148,218 and $82,337 for fiscal years 2017 and 2016, respectively. 
 
Operating Income (Loss) In fiscal year 2017, the U.S. Land segment had an operating loss of $94.9 million 

compared to operating income of $74.1 million in fiscal year 2016.  Included in U.S. land revenues for fiscal years 2017 
and 2016 is approximately $24.5 million and $219.0 million, respectively, from early termination of fixed-term contracts. 

Revenue Excluding early termination revenue of $428 and $5,921 per day for fiscal years 2017 and 2016, 
respectively, average revenue per day for fiscal year 2017 decreased by $3,269 to $22,179 from $25,448 in fiscal year 
2016. Our activity increased year-over-year in response to higher commodity prices, resulting in a 54 percent increase in 
revenue days when comparing fiscal year 2017 to fiscal year 2016. However, legacy term contracts at high dayrates 
made up a lower proportion of our fiscal year 2017 activity due to continued contract expirations. Further, newly 
contracted rigs which made up a majority of our fiscal year 2017 activity were priced at relatively lower levels which 
reflected depressed market conditions.  

Direct Operating Expenses The average rig expense per day increased to $14,623 in fiscal year 2017 from 
$14,117 in fiscal year 2016. This increase was primarily attributable to start-up expenses related to rigs returning to work 
during fiscal year 2017.   

Depreciation Depreciation includes charges for abandoned equipment of $42.2 million and $38.8 million in 
fiscal years 2017 and 2016, respectively.  Included in abandonments in fiscal year 2017 are older rig components that 
were replaced by upgrades to our rig fleet to meet customer demands for additional capabilities. Included in 
abandonments in fiscal year 2016 is the retirement of used drilling equipment. Excluding the abandonments, depreciation 
in fiscal year 2017 decreased from fiscal year 2016, primarily due to relatively low levels of capital expenditures during 
fiscal year 2017 and fiscal year 2016 and certain legacy assets reaching the end of their depreciable lives in fiscal year 
2017 and fiscal year 2016. 

Asset Impairment Charge During fiscal year 2016, we recorded an asset impairment charge in the U.S. Land 
segment of $6.3 million to reduce the carrying value of rig and rig related equipment classified as held for sale to their 
estimated fair values, based on expected sales prices.  

Utilization Rig utilization increased to 45 percent in fiscal year 2017 from 30 percent in fiscal year 2016.  The 
total number of rigs at September 30, 2017 was 350 compared to 348 rigs at September 30, 2016.  The net increase is 
due to two new FlexRigs completed in fiscal year 2017 and included in our operating statistics.      

At September 30, 2017, 197 out of 350 existing rigs in the U.S. Land segment were generating revenue.  Of the 
197 rigs generating revenue, 100 were under fixed-term contracts, and 97 were working in the spot market.  
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Offshore Operations Segment 

          

     2017      2016      % Change 
  (in thousands, except operating statistics) 
Operating revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  136,263  $  138,601   (1.7)%
Direct operating expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      96,593     106,983   (9.7) 
Selling, general and administrative expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      3,705     3,464   7.0  
Depreciation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      11,764     12,495   (5.9) 
Segment operating income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  24,201  $  15,659   54.6  
Operating Statistics (1):                
Revenue days . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      2,277     2,708   (15.9)%
Average rig revenue per day . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  34,332  $  26,973   27.3  
Average rig expense per day . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  23,172  $  19,381   19.6  
Average rig margin per day . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  11,160  $  7,592   47.0  
Number of rigs at end of period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      8     9   (11.1) 
Rig utilization . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      74 %      82 %   (9.8) 

 
(1) Operating statistics for per day revenue, expense and margin do not include reimbursements of “out-of-pocket” expenses of 

$21,578 and $23,138 for fiscal years 2017 and 2016, respectively. The operating statistics only include rigs owned by us and 
exclude offshore platform management and labor service contracts and currency revaluation expense. 
 
Operating Income In fiscal year 2017, the Offshore segment had operating income of $24.2 million compared 

to operating income of $15.7 million in fiscal year 2016.   

Revenue Average rig revenue per day and average rig margin per day increased in fiscal year 2017 compared 
to fiscal year 2016 primarily due to receiving full pricing during fiscal year 2017 after receiving lower pricing while on 
standby or other special dayrates during fiscal year 2016.  

Depreciation Depreciation decreased slightly by 5.9 percent in fiscal year 2017 compared to fiscal year 2016 
due to the sale of a rig during fiscal year 2017 and some assets becoming fully depreciated during the year.  

Direct Operating Expenses Direct operating expense in fiscal year 2017 decreased by 9.7 percent compared 
to fiscal year 2016. This decrease was primarily due to two less rigs working during the year.  

International Land Operations Segment 

          

     2017      2016      % Change 
  (in thousands, except operating statistics) 
Operating revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  212,972  $  229,894   (7.4)%
Direct operating expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      163,486     183,969   (11.1) 
Selling, general and administrative expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      3,088     2,909   6.2  
Depreciation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      53,622     57,102   (6.1) 
Segment operating loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  (7,224) $  (14,086)  48.7  
Operating Statistics (1):             
Revenue days . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      4,951     5,364   (7.7)%
Average rig revenue per day . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  40,979  $  39,044   5.0  
Average rig expense per day . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  29,761  $  28,638   3.9  
Average rig margin per day . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  11,218  $  10,406   7.8  

Number of rigs at end of period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      38     38    -  
Rig utilization . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      36 %      39 %   (7.7) 

 
(1) Operating statistics for per day revenue, expense and margin do not include reimbursements of “out-of-pocket” expenses of 

$10,074 and $20,458 for fiscal years 2017 and 2016, respectively. Also excluded are the effects of currency revaluation 
income and expense. 
 
Operating Loss The International Land segment had an operating loss of $7.2 million for fiscal year 2017 

compared to an operating loss of $14.1 million for fiscal year 2016. 

Revenue Excluding early termination revenue of $955 per day in fiscal year 2017, the average rig margin per 
day for fiscal year 2017 compared to fiscal year 2016 decreased by $143 to $10,263.  Low oil prices continued to have a 
negative effect on customer spending.  As a result, we experienced an 8 percent decrease in revenue days when 
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comparing fiscal year 2017 to fiscal year 2016. The average number of active rigs was 13.6 during fiscal year 2017 
compared to 14.7 during fiscal year 2016. 

Direct Operating Expenses Although direct operating expenses decreased in fiscal year 2017 to $163.5 
million from $184.0 million in fiscal year 2016, the average rig expense per day increased $1,123 or 4 percent as 
compared to the fiscal year 2016 average rig expense. Included in direct operating expenses are foreign currency 
transaction losses of $6.0 million and $9.8 million for fiscal years 2017 and 2016, respectively. The fiscal year 2016 losses 
were primarily due to a devaluation of the Argentine peso in December 2015. 

Depreciation Depreciation decreased slightly by 6.1 percent in fiscal year 2017 compared to fiscal year 2016 
due to some assets becoming fully depreciated during the year. 

Other Operations 

Results of our other operations, excluding corporate selling, general and administrative costs and corporate 
depreciation, are as follows: 
          

     2017      2016      % Change 
  (in thousands, except operating statistics) 
Operating revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  15,983  $  13,275   20.4 %
Direct operating expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      18,552   16,132  15.0  
Selling, general and administrative expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      1,756       194   805.2  
Depreciation and amortization . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      5,124       4,440   15.4  
Operating loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  (9,449) $  (7,491)  26.1  

 
Operating Loss Other operations in fiscal year 2017 had an operating loss of $9.4 million compared to an 

operating loss of $7.5 million in fiscal year 2016. The change was primarily driven by the acquisition of MOTIVE in June 
2017. Refer to Note 3—Business Combinations of the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional disclosures. 
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Liquidity and Capital Resources 

Sources of Liquidity  

Our sources of available liquidity include existing cash balances on hand, cash flows from operations, and 
availability under our credit facility. Our liquidity requirements include meeting ongoing working capital needs, funding our 
capital expenditure projects, paying dividends declared, and repaying our outstanding indebtedness. Historically, we have 
financed operations primarily through internally generated cash flows. During periods when internally generated cash 
flows are not sufficient to meet liquidity needs, we will borrow from available credit sources, access capital markets or sell 
our portfolio securities.  Likewise, if we are generating excess cash flows, we may invest in highly rated short-term money 
market and debt securities. These investments can include U.S. Treasury securities, U.S. Agency issued debt securities, 
corporate bonds, certificates of deposit and money market funds. We have continued to reinvest maturities and earnings 
during fiscal years 2018 and 2017. The securities are recorded at fair value. 

We may seek to access the debt and equity capital markets from time to time to raise additional capital, 
increase liquidity as necessary, fund our additional purchases, exchange or redeem Senior Notes, or repay any amounts 
under our credit facility. Our ability to access the debt and equity capital markets depends on a number of factors, 
including our credit rating, market and industry conditions and market perceptions of our industry, general economic 
conditions, our revenue backlog and our capital expenditure commitments.  

Cash Flows 

Our cash flows fluctuate depending on a number of factors, including, among others, the number of our drilling 
rigs under contract, the dayrates we receive under those contracts, the efficiency with which we operate our drilling units, 
the timing of collections on outstanding accounts receivable, the timing of payments to our vendors for operating costs, 
and capital expenditures. To date, general inflationary trends have not had a material effect on our operating margins.  

As of September 30, 2018, we had $284.4 million of cash on hand and $41.5 million of short-term investments. 
Our cash flows for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016 are presented below:  

          

  Year Ended  
  September 30,  
(in thousands)     2018      2017  2016 
     As adjusted (Note 2) 
Net cash provided (used) by:          

Operating activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  544,531 $  361,631  $  754,531 
Investing activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    (472,362)  (444,988)   (234,219)
Financing activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    (309,189)  (300,829)   (344,135)

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  (237,020) $  (384,186)  $  176,177 

 
Operating Activities 

Net working capital excluding cash and short-term investments increased $87.6 million to $412.6 million as of 
September 30, 2018 from $325.0 million as of September 30, 2017 due primarily to an increase in accounts receivable 
and inventories of materials and supplies, offset by an increase in accrued liabilities. Net cash provided from operating 
activities was $544.5 million in fiscal year 2018 compared to $361.6 million in fiscal year 2017. The $182.9 million 
increase in cash provided by operating activities is primarily due to an increase in net income due to increased activity 
during the fiscal year. In fiscal year 2016, net cash provided from operating activities was $754.5 million. The $392.9 
million decrease in cash provided by operating activities between fiscal years 2017 and 2016 was primarily due to a larger 
net loss reported in fiscal year 2017.  

Investing Activities 

Capital Expenditures Our investing activities are primarily related to capital expenditures for our fleet. Our 
capital expenditures were $466.6 million in 2018, $397.6 million in fiscal year 2017 and $257.2 million in fiscal year 2016. 
Our fiscal year 2019 capital spending is currently estimated to be between $650 million and $680 million. This estimate 
includes normal capital maintenance requirements, capital spending related to reactivating idle rigs, tubulars and other 
upgrades primarily related to improving our existing rig fleet. 
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Acquisition of Business During fiscal years 2018 and 2017, we paid $47.9 million and $70.4 million, 
respectively, net of cash acquired, for the acquisition of drilling technology companies. 

Sale of Assets Our proceeds from asset sales totaled $44.4 million in fiscal year 2018, $23.4 million in fiscal 
year 2017 and $21.8 million in fiscal year 2016. Income from asset sales in fiscal year 2018 totaled $22.7 million, 
$20.6 million in fiscal year 2017 and $9.9 million in fiscal year 2016. In each year we had sales of old or damaged rig 
equipment and drill pipe used in the ordinary course of business included in operating activity within the statement of cash 
flow. 

Stock Portfolio Held We manage a portfolio of marketable securities consisting of common shares of Ensco 
plc (“Ensco”) and Schlumberger, Ltd. that, at the close of fiscal year 2018, had a fair value of $82.5 million. The value of 
the portfolio is subject to fluctuation in the market and may vary considerably over time. The portfolio is recorded at fair 
value on our balance sheet. During the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2016, we determined that the decline in fair value 
below our cost basis in Atwood Oceanics, Inc. (“Atwood”) was other than temporary. As a result, we recorded a non-cash 
charge totaling $26.0 million. 

In May 2017, Ensco announced that it entered into a definitive merger agreement under which Ensco would 
acquire Atwood in an all-stock transaction. The transaction closed on October 6, 2017.  Under the terms of the merger 
agreement, we received 1.60 shares of Ensco for each share of our Atwood common stock. The securities in our portfolio 
are subject to a wide variety of market-related risks that could substantially reduce or increase the fair value of the 
holdings. In general, the portfolio is recorded at fair value on the balance sheet with changes in unrealized after-tax value 
reflected in the equity section of the balance sheet.   

Our stock portfolio held as of September 30, 2018 is presented below: 

         

  Number       
September 30, 2018     of Shares     Cost Basis     Market Value
  (in thousands, except share amounts) 
Ensco plc . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .       6,400,000     $  34,760     $  54,016 
Schlumberger, Ltd. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     467,500     3,713     28,480 
Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .        $  38,473  $  82,496 

 
Financing Activities 

The increase of $8.4 million in net cash used by financing activities in fiscal year 2018 from fiscal year 2017 was 
primarily due to an excess tax benefit from stock-based compensation that occurred in 2017 and not in 2018. The 
decrease of $43.3 million in net cash used by financing activities between fiscal years 2017 and 2016 was primarily due to 
$40.0 million in cash used to payback long-term debt in fiscal year 2016.  

Dividends We paid dividends of $2.82, $2.80, and $2.78 per share during fiscal years 2018, 2017 and 2016, 
respectively. Total dividends were $308.4 million, $305.5 million, and $300.2 million in fiscal years 2018, 2017 and 2016, 
respectively. Adjusting for stock splits accordingly, we have increased the effective annual dividend per share every fiscal 
year for the past 46 years. The declaration and amount of future dividends is at the discretion of our Board of Directors 
and subject to our financial condition, results of operations, cash flows, and other factors our Board of Directors deems 
relevant. 

Credit Facilities 

On July 13, 2016, we entered into a $300 million unsecured revolving credit facility (the “2016 Credit Facility”) 
with a maturity date of July 13, 2021. The 2016 Credit Facility had a maximum of $75 million available to use as letters of 
credit. The majority of any borrowings under the facility would accrue interest at a spread over the London Interbank 
Offered Rate (LIBOR). We also paid a commitment fee based on the unused balance of the facility. Borrowing spreads as 
well as commitment fees were determined according to a scale based on the Company’s debt to total capitalization ratio. 
The spread over LIBOR ranged from 1.125 percent to 1.75 percent per annum and commitment fees ranged from 0.15 
percent to 0.30 percent per annum. Based on our debt to total capitalization on September 30, 2018, the spread over 
LIBOR and commitment fees would be 1.125 percent and 0.15 percent, respectively. There was a financial covenant in 
the facility that required us to maintain a total debt to total capitalization ratio of less than 50 percent. The 2016 Credit 
Facility contained additional terms, conditions, restrictions and covenants that we believe were usual and customary in 
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unsecured debt arrangements for companies of similar size and credit quality, including a limitation that priority debt (as 
defined in the agreement) could not exceed 17.5 percent of the net worth of the Company.  As of September 30, 2018, 
there were no borrowings, but there were three letters of credit outstanding in the amount of $39.3 million.  At 
September 30, 2018, we had $260.7 million available to borrow under the 2016 Credit Facility.  Subsequent to September 
30, 2018, the Company decreased one of the three letters of credit by $1.3 million, which increased availability under the 
facility to $262.0 million.  

Subsequent to our fiscal year-end, on November 13, 2018, we entered into a $750 million unsecured revolving 
credit facility (the “2018 Credit Facility”). In connection with entering into the 2018 Credit Facility, we terminated the 2016 
Credit Facility. See Note 19-–Subsequent Events to our Consolidated Financial Statements for more information about 
the 2018 Credit Facility.  

The Company has a $12 million unsecured standalone line of credit facility, which is purposed for the issuance 
of bid and performance bonds, as needed, for international land operations.  The Company currently has no outstanding 
obligations against this facility. 

The applicable agreements for all unsecured debt contain additional terms, conditions and restrictions that we 
believe are usual and customary in unsecured debt arrangements for companies that are similar in size and credit quality. 
At September 30, 2018, we were in compliance with all debt covenants, and we anticipate that we will continue to be in 
compliance for the next fiscal year.  

Repurchase and Retirement of Common Shares 

We did not have any active stock repurchase program in fiscal years 2018, 2017, or 2016. We have an 
evergreen authorization to purchase up to four million shares per fiscal year. 

Future Cash Requirements 

Our operating cash requirements, scheduled debt repayments, interest payments, any declared dividends, and 
estimated capital expenditures, including our rig upgrade construction program, for fiscal year 2019 are expected to be 
funded through current cash and cash to be provided from operating activities. However, there can be no assurance that 
we will continue to generate cash flows at current levels. 

The long-term debt to total capitalization ratio was 10.1 percent at September 30, 2018 compared to 
10.6 percent at September 30, 2017. 

Off-balance Sheet Arrangements 

We have no off-balance sheet arrangements as that term is defined in Item 303(a)(4)(ii) of Regulation S-K. For 
information regarding our drilling contract backlog, see Item 1— “Business — Contract Backlog”. 
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Material Commitments 

Our contractual obligations as of September 30, 2018 are summarized in the table below in thousands: 

                      

  Payments due by year 
                                          After 
Contractual Obligations      Total     2019     2020     2021     2022     2023     2023 
Long-term debt . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $ 500,000  $  —  $  —  $  —  $  —  $  —  $ 500,000 
Interest (1) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     150,156    23,250    23,250    23,250    23,250    23,250    33,906 
Operating leases (2) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      32,941     9,113    6,670    4,357     3,985     3,721     5,095 
Purchase obligations (2) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      110,371     110,371     —     —     —     —     — 
Total contractual obligations . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $ 793,468  $ 142,734  $ 29,920  $  27,607  $ 27,235  $ 26,971  $ 539,001 

 
(1) Interest on fixed-rate debt was estimated based on principal maturities. See Note 7--Debt to our Consolidated Financial 

Statements. 
(2) See Note 15—Commitments and Contingencies to our Consolidated Financial Statements. 

The above table does not include obligations for our pension plan or amounts recorded for uncertain tax 
positions. In fiscal years 2018 and 2017, we did not make any contributions to the pension plan. Contributions may be 
made in fiscal year 2019 to fund unexpected distributions in lieu of liquidating pension assets. Future contributions 
beyond fiscal year 2019 are difficult to estimate due to multiple variables involved. 

At September 30, 2018, we had $17.1 million recorded for uncertain tax positions and related interest and 
penalties. However, the timing of such payments to the respective taxing authorities cannot be estimated at this time. 
Income taxes are more fully described in Note 8—Income Taxes to our Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates 

Accounting policies that we consider significant are summarized in Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting 
Policies, Risks and Uncertainties to our Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part II, Item 8 – Financial 
Statements and Supplementary Data of this report. The preparation of our financial statements in conformity with U.S. 
GAAP requires management to make certain estimates and assumptions. These estimates and assumptions affect the 
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and related disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities. 
Estimates are based on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under 
the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and 
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. These estimates and assumptions are evaluated on an on-
going basis. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions. The following is a 
discussion of the critical accounting policies and estimates used in our financial statements. 

Property, Plant and Equipment 

Property, plant and equipment, including renewals and betterments, are capitalized at cost, while maintenance 
and repairs are expensed as incurred. The interest expense applicable to the construction of qualifying assets is 
capitalized as a component of the cost of such assets. We account for the depreciation of property, plant and equipment 
using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets considering the estimated salvage value of the 
property, plant and equipment. Both the estimated useful lives and salvage values require the use of management 
estimates. Certain events, such as unforeseen changes in operations, technology or market conditions, could materially 
affect our estimates and assumptions related to depreciation or result in abandonments. For the fiscal years presented in 
this report, no significant changes were made to the determinations of useful lives or salvage values. Upon retirement or 
other disposal of fixed assets, the cost and related accumulated depreciation are removed from the respective accounts 
and any gains or losses are recorded in the results of operations. 

Impairment of Long-lived Assets, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets 

Management assesses the potential impairment of our long-lived assets and finite-lived intangibles whenever 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. Changes that could prompt 
such an assessment may include equipment obsolescence, changes in the market demand, periods of relatively low rig 
utilization, declining revenue per day, declining cash margin per day, completion of specific contracts and/or overall 
changes in general market conditions. If a review of the long-lived assets and finite-lived intangibles indicates that the 
carrying value of certain of these assets is more than the estimated undiscounted future cash flows, an impairment charge 
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is made, as required, to adjust the carrying value to the estimated fair value. Cash flows are estimated by management 
considering factors such as prospective market demand, recent changes in rig technology and its effect on each rig’s 
marketability, any cash investment required to make a rig marketable, suitability of rig size and makeup to existing 
platforms, and competitive dynamics including utilization. The fair value of drilling rigs is determined based upon either an 
income approach using estimated discounted future cash flows or market approach, considering factors such as recent 
market sales of rigs of other companies and our own sales of rigs, appraisals and other factors. The use of different 
assumptions could increase or decrease the estimated fair value of assets and could therefore affect any impairment 
measurement. 

We review goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairment annually in the fourth fiscal quarter or 
more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of such goodwill and indefinite-
lived intangible assets may exceed their fair value. For impairment testing, goodwill is evaluated at the reporting unit level.  
We initially assess goodwill for impairment based on qualitative factors to determine whether the existence of events or 
circumstances leads to a determination that it is more likely than not that the fair value of one of our reporting units is 
greater than its carrying amount.  

If further testing is necessary or a quantitative test is elected, we quantitatively compare the fair value of a 
reporting unit with its carrying amount, including goodwill. If the carrying amount exceeds the fair value, an impairment 
charge will be recognized in an amount equal to the excess; however, the loss recognized would not exceed the total 
amount of goodwill allocated to that reporting unit.  Impairment for indefinite-lived intangible assets is measured as the 
difference between the fair value of the asset and its carrying value. 

At September 30, 2018, we performed impairment testing on our International FlexRig4 asset group, which has 
an aggregate net book value of $63.0 million. We concluded that the net book value of the drilling rig’s asset group is 
recoverable through estimated undiscounted future cash flows with a surplus of approximately 23 percent. The most 
significant assumptions used in our undiscounted cash flow model include: timing on awards of future drilling contracts, oil 
prices, operating dayrates, operating costs, rig- reactivation costs, drilling rig utilization, revenue efficiency, estimated 
remaining economic useful life and net proceeds received upon future sale/disposition. The assumptions are consistent 
with the Company’s internal budgets and forecasts for future years. These significant assumptions are classified as Level 
3 inputs by ASC Topic 820 Fair Value Measurement and Disclosures as they are based upon unobservable inputs and 
primarily rely on management assumptions and forecasts. Although we believe the assumptions used in our analysis are 
reasonable and appropriate and the asset group weighted average of expected future undiscounted net cash flows 
exceeds the net book value of the asset group as of the fiscal year 2018 year-end impairment evaluation, different 
assumptions and estimates could materially impact the analysis and our resulting conclusion. 

At September 30, 2018, we engaged a third party independent accounting firm who performed a market 
valuation, utilizing the market approach, on two of our domestic and international conventional rigs’ asset groups, which 
have an aggregate net book values of $9.0 million and $15.2 million, respectively. We concluded that the fair values of 
these two asset groups exceed the net book values by approximately 64 percent and 141 percent, respectively and as 
such, no impairment was recorded. The significant assumptions in the valuation exercise are classified as Level 2 and 
Level 3 inputs by ASC Topic 820 Fair Value Measurement and Disclosures. 

During fiscal years 2018 and 2016, we recognized $23.1 million and $6.3 million, respectively of asset 
impairment charges.  

Self-Insurance Accruals 

We self-insure a significant portion of expected losses relating to workers’ compensation, general liability, 
employer’s liability and automobile liability. Generally, deductibles range from $1 million to $5 million per occurrence 
depending on the coverage and whether a claim occurs outside or inside of the United States. Insurance is purchased 
over deductibles to reduce our exposure to catastrophic events but there can be no assurance that such coverage will 
respond or be adequate in all circumstances. Estimates are recorded for incurred outstanding liabilities for workers’ 
compensation and other casualty claims. Retained losses are estimated and accrued based upon our estimates of the 
aggregate liability for claims incurred. Estimates for liabilities and retained losses are based on adjusters’ estimates, our 
historical loss experience and statistical methods that we believe are reliable. We also engage an actuary to perform a 
periodic review of our domestic casualty losses. Nonetheless, insurance estimates include certain assumptions and 
management judgments regarding the frequency and severity of claims, claim development and settlement practices. 
Unanticipated changes in these factors may produce materially different amounts of expense that would be reported 
under these programs. 
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Our wholly-owned captive insurance company finances a significant portion of the physical damage risk on 
company-owned drilling rigs as well as international casualty deductibles. An actuary reviews our captive losses on an 
annual basis.  

We insure land rigs and related equipment at values that approximate the current replacement costs on the 
inception date of the policies. However, we self-insure large deductibles under these policies. We also carry insurance 
with varying deductibles and coverage limits with respect to offshore platform rigs and “named wind storm” risk in the Gulf 
of Mexico. We self-insure a number of other risks, including loss of earnings and business interruption, and most cyber 
risks. 

Revenue Recognition 

Contract drilling revenues are comprised of daywork drilling contracts for which the related revenues and 
expenses are recognized as services are performed and collection is reasonably assured. For certain contracts, we 
receive payments contractually designated for the mobilization of rigs and other drilling equipment. Mobilization payments 
received, and direct costs incurred for the mobilization, are deferred and recognized over the term of the related drilling 
contract. Costs incurred to relocate rigs and other drilling equipment to areas in which a contract has not been secured 
are expensed as incurred. Reimbursements received for out-of-pocket expenses are recorded as both revenues and 
direct costs. For contracts that are terminated prior to the specified term, early termination payments received by us are 
recognized as revenues when all contractual requirements are met. 

Pension Costs and Obligations 

Our pension benefit costs and obligations are dependent on various actuarial assumptions. We make 
assumptions relating to discount rates and expected return on plan assets. Our discount rate is determined by matching 
projected cash distributions with the appropriate corporate bond yields in a yield curve analysis. The discount rate was 
increased to 4.27 percent from 3.79 percent as of September 30, 2018 to reflect changes in the market conditions for 
high-quality fixed-income investments. The expected return on plan assets is determined based on historical portfolio 
results and future expectations of rates of return. Actual results that differ from estimated assumptions are accumulated 
and amortized over the estimated future working life of the plan participants and could therefore affect the expense 
recognized and obligations in future periods. As of September 30, 2006, the Pension Plan was frozen and benefit 
accruals were discontinued. As a result, the rate of compensation increase assumption has been eliminated from future 
periods. We anticipate pension expense to decrease by approximately $1.4 million in fiscal year 2019 from fiscal year 
2018. 

Stock-Based Compensation 

Historically, we have granted stock-based awards to key employees and non-employee directors as part of their 
compensation. We estimate the fair value of all stock option awards as of the date of grant by applying the Black-Scholes 
option-pricing model. The application of this valuation model involves assumptions, some of which are judgmental and 
highly sensitive. These assumptions include, among others, the expected stock price volatility, the expected life of the 
stock options and the risk-free interest rate. Expected volatilities were estimated using the historical volatility of our stock 
based upon the expected term of the option. The expected term of the option was derived from historical data and 
represents the period of time that options are estimated to be outstanding. The risk-free interest rate for periods within the 
estimated life of the option was based on the U.S. Treasury Strip rate in effect at the time of the grant. The fair value of 
each award is amortized on a straight-line basis over the vesting period for awards granted to employees and non-
employee directors. 

The fair value of restricted stock awards is determined based on the closing price of our common stock on the 
date of grant. We amortize the fair value of restricted stock awards to compensation expense on a straight-line basis over 
the vesting period. 

New Accounting Standards 

See Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, Risks and Uncertainties to our Consolidated 
Financial Statements for recently adopted accounting standards and new accounting standards not yet adopted. 
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK 

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk 

Our drilling contracts in foreign countries generally provide for payment in U.S. dollars. However, in Argentina, 
while the contract is denominated in the U.S. dollar, we are paid in Argentine pesos. The Argentine branch of one of our 
second-tier subsidiaries then converts the Argentine pesos to U.S. dollars through the Argentine Foreign Exchange 
Market and then remits the dollars to its U.S. parent. In the future, other contracts or applicable law may require payments 
to be made in foreign currencies. As such, there can be no assurance that we will not experience in Argentina or 
elsewhere a devaluation of foreign currency, foreign exchange restrictions or other difficulties repatriating U.S. dollars 
even if we are able to negotiate the contract provisions designed to mitigate such risks. In the future, we may incur 
currency devaluations, foreign exchange restrictions or other difficulties repatriating U.S. dollars in Argentina or 
elsewhere, which could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations. At 
September 30, 2018, a hypothetical decrease in value of 10 percent would result in an insignificant decrease in value of 
our monetary assets and liabilities denominated in Argentine pesos by approximately $4,595. 

Argentina’s economy is currently considered highly inflationary, which is defined as cumulative inflation rates 
exceeding 100 percent in the most recent three-year period based on inflation data published by the respective 
governments. Nonetheless, all of our foreign operations use the U.S. dollar as the functional currency and local currency 
monetary assets and liabilities are remeasured into U.S. dollars with gains and losses resulting from foreign currency 
transactions included in current results of operations. 

Commodity Price Risk 

The demand for contract drilling services is derived from exploration and production companies spending 
money to explore and develop drilling prospects in search of crude oil and natural gas. Their spending is driven by their 
cash flow and financial strength, which is affected by trends in crude oil and natural gas commodity prices. Crude oil 
prices are determined by a number of factors including global supply and demand, the establishment of and compliance 
with production quotas by oil exporting countries, worldwide economic conditions and geopolitical factors. Crude oil and 
natural gas prices have historically been volatile and very difficult to predict with any degree of certainty. While current 
energy prices are important contributors to positive cash flow for customers, expectations about future prices and price 
volatility are generally more important for determining future spending levels. This volatility can lead many exploration and 
production companies to base their capital spending on much more conservative estimates of commodity prices. As a 
result, demand for contract drilling services is not always purely a function of the movement of commodity prices. 

Credit and Capital Market Risk 

Customers may finance their exploration activities through cash flow from operations, the incurrence of debt or 
the issuance of equity. Any deterioration in the credit and capital markets, as experienced in the past, can make it difficult 
for customers to obtain funding for their capital needs. A reduction of cash flow resulting from declines in commodity 
prices or a reduction of available financing may result in customer credit defaults or reduced demand for our services, 
which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Similarly, we 
may need to access capital markets to obtain financing. Our ability to access capital markets for financing could be limited 
by, among other things, oil and gas prices, our existing capital structure, our credit ratings, the state of the economy, the 
health of the drilling and overall oil and gas industry, and the liquidity of the capital markets. Many of the factors that affect 
our ability to access capital markets are outside of our control. No assurance can be given that we will be able to access 
capital markets on terms acceptable to us when required to do so, which could have a material adverse impact on our 
business, financial condition and results of operations. 

Further, we attempt to secure favorable prices through advanced ordering and purchasing for drilling rig 
components. While these materials have generally been available at acceptable prices, there is no assurance the prices 
will not vary significantly in the future. Any fluctuations in market conditions causing increased prices in materials and 
supplies could have a material adverse effect on future operating costs. 

Interest Rate Risk 

Our interest rate risk exposure results primarily from short-term rates, mainly LIBOR-based, on any borrowings 
from our revolving credit facility. There were no outstanding borrowings under this facility at September 30, 2018, and our 
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outstanding debt consisted of $500 million in a senior unsecured note, which has a fixed rate of 4.65 percent. At 
September 30, 2018, the average interest rate risk on our fixed-rate debt of $500 million was estimated to be 4.65 percent 
after 2023. Comparatively, we estimated our interest rate risk at September 30, 2017 to be 4.65 percent after 2022. The 
fair value of the fixed-rate debt was estimated to be $509.3 million and $529.0 million for fiscal years 2018 and 2017, 
respectively. 

Equity Price Risk 

On September 30, 2018, we had a portfolio of securities with a total fair value of $82.5 million. The total fair 
value of the portfolio of securities was $70.2 million at September 30, 2017. A hypothetical 10 percent decrease in the 
market prices for all securities in our portfolio as of September 30, 2018 would decrease the fair value of our 
available-for-sale securities by $8.3 million. We make no specific plans to sell securities, but rather sell securities based 
on market conditions and other circumstances. These securities are subject to a wide variety and number of 
market-related risks that could substantially reduce or increase the fair value of our holdings. The portfolio is recorded at 
fair value on the balance sheet with changes in unrealized after-tax value reflected in the equity section of the balance 
sheet unless a decline in fair value below our cost basis is considered to be other than temporary in which case the 
change is recorded through earnings.   At November 8, 2018, the total fair value of our securities decreased to 
approximately $68.5 million. Currently, the fair value exceeds the cost of the investments. We continually monitor the fair 
value of the investments but are unable to predict future market volatility and any potential impact to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements. 
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Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

Management of Helmerich & Payne, Inc. is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal 
control over financial reporting as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) or 15d-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Our 
internal control over financial reporting was designed under the supervision of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief 
Financial Officer to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of 
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America, and includes those policies and procedures that:  
 

(i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the 
transactions and dispositions of our assets; 

 
(ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of 

financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that our receipts 
and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of our management and the 
Board of Directors; and 

 
(iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or 

disposition of our assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.  
 

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect 
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls 
may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or 
procedures may deteriorate. 

Management assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of 
September 30, 2018. In making this assessment, management used the criteria established in the Internal Control—
Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based 
on our evaluation under the criteria in Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013), management has concluded that the 
Company maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of September 30, 2018.  

Ernst & Young LLP, an independent public accounting firm, has issued an attestation report on the 
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of September 30, 2018, as stated in their report 
which appears herein. 

 
 

 

  

   

Helmerich & Payne, Inc.     

    

by     

    

/s/ John W. Lindsay   /s/ Mark W. Smith 

John W. Lindsay   Mark W. Smith 

Director, President and   Vice President and 

Chief Executive Officer   Chief Financial Officer 

   

November 16, 2018   November 16, 2018 
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 

 
The Board of Directors and Shareholders of 
Helmerich & Payne, Inc. 

 
Opinion on the Financial Statements 
 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Helmerich & Payne, Inc. (the Company) as 
of September 30, 2018 and 2017, and the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income (loss), 
shareholders' equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended September 30, 2018, and the related 
notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”).  In our opinion, the consolidated financial 
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company at September 30, 2018 and 2017, 
and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended September 30, 2018, in 
conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. 
 

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board 
(United States) (PCAOB), the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of September 30, 2018, based on 
criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the 
Treadway Commission (2013 framework) and our report dated November 16, 2018, expressed an unqualified opinion 
thereon. 
 
Basis for Opinion 
 

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to 
express an opinion on the Company’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm 
registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. 
federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the 
PCAOB.  
 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we 
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits include performing procedures to assess the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those 
risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made 
by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits 
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 
 
 
 
 
 
 /s/Ernst & Young LLP 
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 1994.  
Tulsa, Oklahoma  
November 16, 2018  
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 
 

 
The Board of Directors and Shareholders of 
Helmerich & Payne, Inc. 
 
 
Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

 
We have audited Helmerich & Payne, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of September 30, 2018, based 

on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the 
Treadway Commission (2013 framework) (the COSO criteria). In our opinion, Helmerich & Payne, Inc. (the Company) 
maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of September 30, 2018, based on the 
COSO criteria. 

 
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 

States) (PCAOB), the consolidated balance sheets as of September 30, 2018 and 2017, and the related consolidated statements 
of operations, comprehensive income (loss), shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended 
September 30, 2018, and the related notes and our report dated November 16, 2018 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon. 

 
Basis for Opinion 

 
The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for 

its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management’s 
Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control 
over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be 
independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and 
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. 

 
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and 

perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained 
in all material respects.  

 
Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a 

material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the 
assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our 
audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

 
Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

 
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding 

the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that 
(1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions 
of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit 
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and 
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the 
company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or 
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements. 

 
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. 

Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate 
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 

 
 
 

   /s/ Ernst & Young LLP 
  
Tulsa, Oklahoma  
November 16, 2018  
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HELMERICH & PAYNE, INC. 
Consolidated Balance Sheets 

 
       

  September 30,  
(in thousands except share data and per share amounts)      2018      2017 
Assets       
Current Assets:       

Cash and cash equivalents . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  284,355  $  521,375 
Short-term investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     41,461    44,491 
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $6,217 and $5,721, respectively  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      565,202     477,074 
Inventories of materials and supplies, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      158,134     137,204 
Prepaid expenses and other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      66,398     55,123 

Total current assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      1,115,550     1,235,267 
Investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      98,696     84,026 
Property, plant and equipment, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     4,857,382    5,001,051 
Noncurrent Assets:       

Goodwill . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     64,777    51,705 
Intangible assets, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     73,207    50,785 
Other assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     5,255    17,154 

Total noncurrent assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     143,239    119,644 
       

Total assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  6,214,867  $  6,439,988 
       

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity       
Current Liabilities:       

Accounts payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  132,664  $  135,628 
Accrued liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      244,504     208,757 

Total current liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      377,168     344,385 
Noncurrent Liabilities:       

Long-term debt . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      493,968     492,902 
Deferred income taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      853,136     1,332,689 
Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      93,606     101,409 
Noncurrent liabilities - discontinued operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      14,254     4,012 

Total noncurrent liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      1,454,964     1,931,012 
Commitments and Contingencies (Note 15)       

Shareholders' Equity:       
Common stock, $.10 par value, 160,000,000 shares authorized, 112,008,961 and 111,956,875 
shares issued as of September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively, and 108,993,718 and 
108,604,047 shares outstanding as of September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively . . . . . . . . . . . . .      11,201     11,196 
Preferred stock, no par value, 1,000,000 shares authorized, no shares issued . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      —     — 
Additional paid-in capital . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      500,393     487,248 
Retained earnings . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      4,027,779     3,855,686 
Accumulated other comprehensive income  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      16,550     2,300 
Treasury stock, at cost, 3,015,243 shares and 3,352,828 shares as of September 30, 2018 and 
2017, respectively . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      (173,188)    (191,839)

Total shareholders’ equity . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      4,382,735     4,164,591 
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  6,214,867  $  6,439,988 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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HELMERICH & PAYNE, INC. 
Consolidated Statements of Operations 

 
          

  Year Ended September 30,  
(in thousands, except per share amounts)     2018      2017      2016 
Operating revenues          

Contract drilling . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $ 2,449,051  $ 1,788,758  $ 1,610,957 
Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      38,217     15,983     13,275 

     2,487,268     1,804,741     1,624,232 
Operating costs and expenses          

Contract drilling operating expenses, excluding depreciation and amortization . . . . . . .      1,626,387     1,242,605     892,748 
Operating expenses applicable to other revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     26,223    6,712    6,057 
Depreciation and amortization . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      583,802     585,543     598,587 
Research and development . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      18,167     12,047     10,269 
Selling, general and administrative . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      200,619     151,002     146,183 
Asset impairment charge . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     23,128    —    6,250 
Gain on sale of assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     (22,660)   (20,627)   (9,896)
    2,455,666    1,977,282    1,650,198 

Operating income (loss) from continuing operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      31,602     (172,541)    (25,966)
Other income (expense)          

Interest and dividend income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      8,017     5,915     3,166 
Interest expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      (24,265)    (19,747)    (22,913)
Gain (loss) on investment securities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      1     —     (25,989)
Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      486     1,775     (965)

     (15,761)    (12,057)    (46,701)
Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      15,841     (184,598)    (72,667)
Income tax benefit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      (477,169)    (56,735)    (19,677)
Income (loss) from continuing operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      493,010     (127,863)    (52,990)
Income from discontinued operations before income taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      23,389     3,285     2,360 
Income tax provision . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      33,727     3,634     6,198 
Loss from discontinued operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      (10,338)    (349)    (3,838)
Net Income (Loss) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  482,672  $  (128,212) $  (56,828)
Basic earnings per common share:          

Income (loss) from continuing operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  4.49  $  (1.20) $  (0.50)
Loss from discontinued operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  (0.10) $  —  $  (0.04)

Net income (loss) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  4.39  $  (1.20) $  (0.54)
Diluted earnings per common share:          

Income (loss) from continuing operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  4.47  $  (1.20) $  (0.50)
Loss from discontinued operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  (0.10) $  —  $  (0.04)

Net income (loss) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  4.37  $  (1.20) $  (0.54)
Weighted average shares outstanding (in thousands):          

Basic . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      108,851     108,500     107,996 
Diluted . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      109,387     108,500     107,996 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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HELMERICH & PAYNE, INC. 
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss) 

 
          

  Year Ended September 30,  
(in thousands)      2018      2017      2016 
Net income (loss) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  482,672  $  (128,212)  $  (56,828)
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of income taxes:          

Unrealized appreciation (depreciation) on securities, net of income taxes of $3.3 
million at September 30, 2018, ($0.5) million at September 30, 2017 and $1.7 million 
at September 30, 2016 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      9,001     (829)     2,772 
Reclassification of realized losses in net income, net of income taxes of $0.6 million at 
September 30, 2016 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      —     —     926 
Minimum pension liability adjustments, net of income taxes of $1.9 million at 
September 30, 2018, $1.9 million at September 30, 2017 and ($1.4) million at 
September 30, 2016 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      5,249     3,333     (2,525)

Other comprehensive income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      14,250     2,504     1,173 
Comprehensive income (loss) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  496,922  $  (125,708)  $  (55,655)

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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HELMERICH & PAYNE, INC. 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 

 
          

  Year Ended September 30,  
(in thousands)      2018      2017      2016 
     As adjusted (Note 2) 
Cash flows from operating activities:                      

Net income (loss) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  482,672  $  (128,212)  $  (56,828)
Adjustment for income from discontinued operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      10,338     349     3,838 
Income (loss) from continuing operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      493,010     (127,863)     (52,990)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:          

Depreciation and amortization . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      583,802     585,543     598,587 
Asset impairment charge . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     23,128    —    6,250 
Amortization of debt discount and debt issuance costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     1,067    1,055    1,168 
Provision for (recovery of) bad debt . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      2,193     2,016    (2,013)
Stock-based compensation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      31,687     26,183     24,383 
Pension settlement charge . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     913    1,640    4,964 
(Gain) loss on investment securities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      (1)    —     25,989 
Gain from sale of assets  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      (22,660)    (20,627)     (9,896)
Deferred income tax (benefit) expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      (486,758)    (24,111)     60,088 
Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      6,710     543     151 
Change in assets and liabilities increasing (decreasing) cash:          

Accounts receivable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      (85,202)    (97,114)     72,792 
Inventories of materials and supplies . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      (22,427)    (10,607)     1,944 
Prepaid expenses and other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      (955)    31,434     (2,460)
Accounts payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      (4,461)    39,412     (10,907)
Accrued liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      33,173     (36,120)     49,562 
Deferred income tax liability . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      2,268     3,472     3,703 
Other noncurrent liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      (10,787)    (13,075)     (16,831)

Net cash provided by operating activities from continuing operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      544,700     361,781     754,484 
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities from discontinued operations . . . . . .      (169)    (150)     47 

Net cash provided by operating activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      544,531     361,631     754,531 
Cash flows from investing activities:           

Capital expenditures . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      (466,584)    (397,567)     (257,169)
Purchase of short-term investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     (71,049)   (69,866)    (57,276)
Payment for acquisition of business, net of cash acquired . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     (47,886)   (70,416)    — 
Proceeds from sale of short-term investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     68,776    69,449    58,381 
Proceeds from asset sales . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      44,381     23,412     21,845 

Net cash used in investing activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      (472,362)    (444,988)     (234,219)
Cash flows from financing activities:           

Payments on long-term debt . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      —     —     (40,000)
Debt issuance costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     —    —    (1,111)
Dividends paid . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      (308,430)    (305,515)     (300,152)
Proceeds from stock option exercises . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      6,355     11,285     2,774 
Payments for employee taxes on net settlement of equity awards . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      (7,114)    (6,599)     (5,646)

Net cash used in financing activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      (309,189)    (300,829)     (344,135)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      (237,020)    (384,186)     176,177 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      521,375     905,561     729,384 
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  284,355  $  521,375  $  905,561 
        
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:         

Cash paid during the period:         
Interest paid . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  20,502  $  22,936  $  28,011 
Income tax refund, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  38,400  $  23,463  $  24,109 

Changes in accounts payable and accrued liabilities related to purchases of property, 
plant and equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  (2,245) $  (10,539)  $  15,879 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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HELMERICH & PAYNE, INC. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

 
NOTE 1 NATURE OF OPERATIONS 

Helmerich & Payne, Inc. (which, together with its subsidiaries, is identified as the “Company,” “we,” “us,” or 
“our,” except where stated or the context requires otherwise) through its operating subsidiaries provides performance-
driven drilling services and technologies that are intended to make hydrocarbon recovery safer and more economical for 
oil and gas exploration and production companies. Our global contract drilling business is composed of three reportable 
business segments: U.S. Land, Offshore and International Land. During the fiscal year ended September 30, 2018, our 
U.S. Land operations were primarily located in Colorado, Louisiana, Ohio, Oklahoma, New Mexico, North Dakota, 
Pennsylvania, Texas, Utah, West Virginia and Wyoming. Our Offshore operations were conducted in the Gulf of Mexico. 
Our International Land operations had rigs located in five international locations during fiscal year 2018: Argentina, 
Bahrain, Colombia, Ecuador and United Arab Emirates (“U.A.E.”).  

Additionally, we focus on research and development of technology designed to improve the efficiency and 
accuracy of drilling operations. We also own, develop and operate limited commercial real estate properties. Our real 
estate investments, which are located exclusively within Tulsa, Oklahoma, include a shopping center, multi-tenant 
industrial warehouse properties, and undeveloped real estate.    
 
NOTE 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES 

Basis of Presentation 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”). 

We classified our former Venezuelan operation as a discontinued operation in the third quarter of fiscal year 
2010, as more fully described in Note 4—Discontinued Operations. Unless indicated otherwise, the information in the 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements relates only to our continuing operations. 

Principles of Consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Helmerich & Payne, Inc. and its domestic and 
foreign subsidiaries. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary and 
ceases when the Company loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or 
disposed of during the fiscal year are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income from the date the Company gains control until the date when the Company ceases to control the subsidiary. All 
significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. 

Foreign Currencies 

Our functional currency, together with all our foreign subsidiaries, is the U.S. dollar.   Monetary assets and 
liabilities denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar are translated at exchange rates in effect at the end of the 
period, and the resulting gains and losses are recorded on our statement of operations. Aggregate foreign currency 
losses of $4.0 million, $7.1 million and $9.3 million in fiscal years 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively, are included in direct 
operating costs. 

Use of Estimates 

The preparation of our financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and 
liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting 
period.  Actual results could differ from those estimates. 
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Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Restricted Cash 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, demand deposits with banks and all highly liquid investments 
with original maturities of three months or less. Our cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments are subject to 
potential credit risk, and certain of our cash accounts carry balances greater than the federally insured limits. 

We had restricted cash and cash equivalents of $41.8 million and $39.1 million at September 30, 2018 and 2017, 
respectively. Of the total at September 30, 2018 and 2017, $11.3 million and $9.4 million, respectively, is related to the 
acquisition of drilling technology companies described in Note 3—Business Combinations, $2.0 million as of both year 
ends is from the initial capitalization of the captive insurance company, and $28.5 million and $27.7 million, respectively, 
represents an additional amount management has elected to restrict for the purpose of potential insurance claims in our 
wholly-owned captive insurance company.  The restricted amounts are primarily invested in short-term money market 
securities. See Note 2 for changes to the presentation of restricted cash effective October 1, 2018. 
 

The restricted cash and cash equivalents are reflected in the balance sheet as follows: 

       

  September 30,  
      2018      2017 
  (in thousands) 
Prepaid expenses and other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  39,830  $  32,439 
Other assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  2,000  $  6,695 
 
Inventories of Materials and Supplies 

Inventories are primarily replacement parts and supplies held for consumption in our drilling operations. 
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or net realizable value. Cost is determined on a weighted average basis and 
includes the cost of materials, shipping, duties, labor and manufacturing overhead. Net realizable value is defined as the 
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less reasonably predictable costs of completion, disposal and 
transportation. 

Our reserves during fiscal years 2018 and 2017 were 5.9 percent and 6.3 percent, respectively, of the balance 
to provide for non-recoverable inventory costs. The reserves for excess and obsolete inventory were $9.9 million and $9.2 
million for fiscal years 2018 and 2017, respectively.  

Investments 

We maintain investments in equity securities of certain publicly traded companies. The cost of securities used in 
determining realized gains and losses is based on the average cost basis of the security purchased. We regularly review 
investment securities for impairment based on criteria that include the extent to which the investment’s carrying value 
exceeds its related fair value, the duration of the market decline and the financial strength and specific prospects of the 
issuer of the security. Unrealized gains are recognized in other comprehensive income. Unrealized losses that are other 
than temporary are recognized in earnings. See Note 2 for changes in accounting for investments effective October 1, 
2018.  

Property, Plant, and Equipment 

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Substantially all property, plant 
and equipment are depreciated using the straight-line method based on the estimated useful lives of the assets after 
deducting their residual values. The amount of depreciation expense we record is dependent upon certain assumptions, 
including an asset’s estimated useful life, rate of consumption, and corresponding salvage value. We periodically review 
these assumptions and may change one or more of these assumptions. Changes in our assumptions may require us to 
recognize, on a prospective basis, increased or decreased depreciation expense. 

We capitalize interest on major projects during construction. Interest is capitalized based on the average 
interest rate on related debt. Capitalized interest for fiscal years 2018, 2017 and 2016 was $0.4 million, $0.3 million and 
$2.8 million, respectively. 

We review long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable.  Changes that could prompt such an assessment include a 
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significant decline in revenue or cash margin per day, extended periods of low rig asset group utilization, changes in 
market demand for a specific asset, obsolescence, completion of specific contracts and/or overall general market 
conditions.  If the review of the long-lived assets indicates that the carrying value of these assets/asset groups is more 
than the estimated undiscounted future cash flows projected to be realized from the use of the asset and its eventual 
disposal an impairment charge is made, as required, to adjust the carrying value down to the estimated fair value of the 
asset.  The estimated fair value is determined based upon either an income approach using estimated discounted future 
cash flows or a market approach. Fair value is estimated, if applicable, considering factors such as recent market sales of 
rigs of other companies and our own sales of rigs, appraisals and other factors.   

Cash flows are estimated by management considering factors such as prospective market demand, margins, 
recent changes in rig technology and its effect on each rig’s marketability, any investment required to make a rig 
operational, suitability of rig size and make up to existing platforms, and competitive dynamics including industry 
utilization. Long-lived assets that are held for sale are recorded at the lower of carrying value or the fair value less costs to 
sell.  

Goodwill and Intangible Assets 

Goodwill represents the excess of purchase price over the fair value of net assets acquired in a business 
combination, at the date of acquisition. Goodwill and indefinite-life intangibles are not amortized but are tested for 
potential impairment at the reporting unit level at a minimum on an annual basis in the fourth fiscal quarter of each fiscal 
year or when indications of potential impairment exist. If an impairment is determined to exist, an impairment charge for 
the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the reporting unit’s fair value is recognized, limited to the total amount 
of goodwill allocated to that reporting unit.  The reporting unit level is defined as an operating segment or one level below 
an operating segment.  

Finite-lived intangible assets are amortized using the straight-line method over the period in which these assets 
contribute to our cash flows, generally estimated to be 15 years and are evaluated for impairment in accordance with our 
policies for valuation of long-lived assets.   

Drilling Revenues 

Contract drilling revenues are comprised of daywork drilling contracts for which the related revenues and 
expenses are recognized as services are performed and collection is reasonably assured.  For certain contracts, we 
receive payments contractually designated for the mobilization of rigs and other drilling equipment.  For certain contracts, 
mobilization payments received, and direct costs incurred for the mobilization, are deferred and recognized on a straight-
line basis over the term of the related drilling contract.  Costs incurred to relocate rigs and other drilling equipment to 
areas in which a contract has not been secured are expensed as incurred.  Reimbursements received for out-of-pocket 
expenses are recorded as both revenues and direct costs.  Reimbursements for fiscal years 2018, 2017 and 2016 were 
$274.7 million, $179.9 million and $125.9 million, respectively.  For contracts that are terminated by customers prior to the 
expirations of their fixed terms, contractual provisions customarily require early termination amounts to be paid to 
us.  Revenues from early terminated contracts are recognized when all contractual requirements have been met.  Early 
termination revenue for fiscal years 2018, 2017 and 2016 was approximately $17.1 million, $29.4 million and $219.0 
million, respectively. 

Rent Revenues 

We enter into leases with tenants in our rental properties consisting primarily of retail and multi-tenant 
warehouse space.  The lease terms of tenants occupying space in the retail centers and warehouse buildings generally 
range from three to ten years. Minimum rents are recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the related 
leases.  Overage and percentage rents are based on tenants’ sales volume.  Recoveries from tenants for property taxes 
and operating expenses are recognized in other operating revenues in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. 
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Our rent revenues are as follows: 

          

  Year Ended September 30,  
      2018      2017      2016 
  (in thousands) 
Minimum rents . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  9,950  $  9,735  $  9,196 
Overage and percentage rents . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  1,040  $  936  $  1,211 
 

At September 30, 2018, minimum future rental income to be received on noncancelable operating leases was 
as follows: 

    

Fiscal Year      Amount 
  (in thousands) 
2019 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  7,709 
2020 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      6,314 
2021 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      4,473 
2022 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      2,488 
2023 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      1,725 
Thereafter . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      4,868 

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  27,577 

 
Leasehold improvement allowances are capitalized and amortized over the lease term. 

At September 30, 2018 and 2017, the cost and accumulated depreciation for real estate properties were as 
follows: 

       

  September 30,  
      2018      2017 
  (in thousands) 
Real estate properties . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  69,133  $  66,005 
Accumulated depreciation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      (42,272)    (42,169)
  $  26,861  $  23,836 

 
Income Taxes 

Current income tax expense is the amount of income taxes expected to be payable for the current fiscal 
year.  Deferred income taxes are computed using the liability method and are provided on all temporary differences 
between the financial basis and the tax basis of our assets and liabilities. 

We provide for uncertain tax positions when such tax positions do not meet the recognition thresholds or 
measurement standards prescribed in Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 740, Income Taxes, which is more fully 
discussed in Note 8—Income Taxes.  Amounts for uncertain tax positions are adjusted in periods when new information 
becomes available or when positions are effectively settled.  We recognize accrued interest related to unrecognized tax 
benefits in interest expense and penalties in other expense in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. 

Earnings per Common Share 

Basic earnings per share is computed utilizing the two-class method and is calculated based on the weighted-
average number of common shares outstanding during the periods presented. Diluted earnings per share is computed 
using the weighted-average number of common and common equivalent shares outstanding during the periods utilizing 
the two-class method for stock options and nonvested restricted stock. We have granted and expect to continue to grant 
to employees restricted stock grants that contain non-forfeitable rights to dividends. Such grants are considered 
participating securities under ASC 260, Earnings Per Share. As such, we have included these grants in the calculation of 
our basic earnings per share and calculate basic earnings per share using the two-class method. 

Stock-Based Compensation 

Stock-based compensation expense is determined using a fair-value-based measurement method for all 
awards granted.  In computing the impact, the fair value of each option is estimated on the date of grant based on the 
Black-Scholes options-pricing model utilizing assumptions for a risk free interest rate, volatility, dividend yield and 
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expected remaining term of the awards.  The assumptions used in calculating the fair value of stock-based payment 
awards represent management’s best estimates, but these estimates involve inherent uncertainties and the application of 
management judgment.  Stock-based compensation is recognized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service 
periods of the stock awards, which is generally the vesting period.  Compensation expense related to stock options is 
recorded as a component of general and administrative expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. 

Treasury Stock 

Treasury stock purchases are accounted for under the cost method whereby the cost of the acquired stock is 
recorded as treasury stock.  Gains and losses on the subsequent reissuance of shares are credited or charged to 
additional paid-in capital using the average-cost method. 

Comprehensive Income or Loss 

Other comprehensive income or loss refers to revenues, expenses, gains, and losses that are included in 
comprehensive income or loss but excluded from net income or loss.  We report the components of other comprehensive 
income or loss, net of tax, by their nature and disclose the tax effect allocated to each component in the Consolidated 
Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss).  

Leases 

We lease office space and equipment for use in operations. Leases are evaluated at inception or upon any 
subsequent material modification and, depending on the lease terms, are classified as either capital leases or operating 
leases as appropriate under ASC 840, Leases. For operating leases that contain built-in pre-determined rent escalations, 
rent expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the life of the lease. Leasehold improvements are capitalized and 
amortized over the lease term. We do not have significant capital leases. 
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Recently Issued Accounting Updates 

Changes to U.S. GAAP are established by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) in the form of 
Accounting Standard Updates (“ASUs”) to the FASB ASC. We consider the applicability and impact of all ASUs. ASUs not 
listed below were assessed and determined to be either not applicable or clarifications of ASUs listed below.  

The following tables provide a brief description of recent accounting pronouncements and our analysis of the 
effects on our financial statements: 

    
Standard Description Date of 

Adoption 
Effect on the Financial Statements 
or Other Significant Matters 

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements 

ASU No. 2016-09, 
Compensation – 
Stock 
Compensation 
(Topic 718): 
Improvements to 
Employee Share-
Based Payment 
Accounting 

The standard requires that all excess tax benefits and 
deficiencies previously recorded as additional paid-in 
capital be prospectively recorded in income tax 
expense.  The adoption of this ASU could cause 
volatility in the effective tax rate on a quarter by quarter 
basis due primarily to fluctuations in the Company's 
stock price and the timing of stock option exercises and 
vesting of restricted share grants. The standard 
requires excess tax benefits to be presented as an 
operating activity on the statement of cash flows rather 
than as a financing activity.  Excess tax benefits and 
deficiencies are recorded within the provision for 
income taxes within the Consolidated Statements of 
Operations on a prospective basis as required by the 
standard. The standard also requires taxes paid for 
employee withholdings to be presented as a financing 
activity on the statement of cash flows.  

October 1, 
2017 

We adopted this ASU during the first quarter 
of fiscal year 2018. We elected to present 
changes to the statement of cash flows on a 
retrospective basis as allowed by the 
standard in order to maintain comparability 
between fiscal years. As such, prior period 
cash flows from operations for the fiscal 
years ended September 30, 2017 and 2016 
have been adjusted to reflect an increase of 
$4.4 million and $0.9 million, respectively, 
with a corresponding decrease to cash flows 
used in financing activities, compared to 
amounts previously reported. The standard 
also requires taxes paid for employee 
withholdings to be presented as a financing 
activity on the statement of cash flows but 
this requirement had no impact on our total 
financing activities as this has been the 
practice historically.  We also elected to 
account for forfeitures of awards as they 
occur, instead of estimating a forfeiture 
amount. On October 1, 2017, we recorded a 
$0.3 million cumulative-effect adjustment to 
retained earnings for the differential between 
the amount of compensation cost previously 
recorded and the amount that would have 
been recorded without assuming forfeitures. 

ASU No. 2014-15, 
Presentation of 
Financial 
Statements – Going 
Concern (Subtopic 
205-40): Disclosure 
of Uncertainties 
about an Entity’s 
Ability to Continue 
as a Going Concern 

The new guidance requires management to assess a 
company’s ability to continue as a going concern and to 
provide related footnote disclosures in certain 
circumstances. Disclosures are required when 
conditions give rise to substantial doubt. Substantial 
doubt is deemed to exist when it is probable that the 
company will be unable to meet its obligations within 
one year from the financial statement issuance date.  

September 
30, 2017 

We adopted ASU No. 2014-15, as required, 
on September 30, 2017 with no impact on 
our consolidated financial statements and 
disclosures.   

ASU No. 2015-11, 
Inventory (Topic 
330): Simplifying 
the Measurement of 
Inventory 

This update simplifies the subsequent measurement of 
inventory. It replaces the current lower of cost or 
market test with the lower of cost or net realizable value 
test. Net realizable value is defined as the estimated 
selling prices in the ordinary course of business, less 
reasonably predictable costs of completion, disposal 
and transportation.  

October 1, 
2017 

We adopted this ASU during the first quarter 
of fiscal year 2018. There was no impact on 
our consolidated financial statements.  
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ASU No. 2017-04, 
Intangibles—
Goodwill and Other 
(Topic 350): 
Simplifying the Test 
for Goodwill 
Impairment 

The new guidance eliminates the requirement to 
calculate the implied fair value of goodwill (i.e., Step 2 
of today’s goodwill impairment test) to measure a 
goodwill impairment charge. Instead, entities will record 
an impairment charge based on the excess of a 
reporting unit’s carrying amount over its fair value (i.e., 
measure the charge based on today’s Step 1).  
 

June 30, 
2017 

As permitted, we early adopted this guidance 
effective June 30, 2017, with no impact on 
our consolidated financial statements. 

Standards that are not yet adopted as of September 30, 2018 

ASU No. 2018-14, 
Compensation – 
Retirement Benefits 
– Defined Benefit 
Plans—General 
(Topic 715-20): 
Disclosure 
Framework – 
Changes to the 
Disclosure 
Requirements for 
Defined Benefit 
Plans 

This ASU amends ASC 715 to add, remove, and clarify 
disclosure requirements related to defined benefit  
pension and other postretirement plans. 

October 1, 
2021 

We are currently evaluating the impact that 
the new guidance may have on our 
consolidated financial statements and 
disclosures. 

ASU No. 2018-13, 
Fair Value 
Measurement 
(Topic 820): 
Disclosure 
Framework – 
Changes to the 
Disclosure 
Requirements for 
Fair Value 
Measurement 

This ASU eliminates, adds and modifies certain 
disclosure requirements for fair value measurements 
as part of its disclosure framework project, where 
entities will no longer be required to disclose the 
amount of and reasons for transfers between Level 1 
and Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy, but public 
companies will be required to disclose the range and 
weighted average used to develop significant 
unobservable inputs for Level 3 fair value 
measurements. 
 

October 1, 
2020 

We are currently evaluating the impact that 
the new guidance may have on our 
consolidated financial statements and 
disclosures. 

ASU No. 2018-02, 
Income Statement 
– Reporting 
Comprehensive 
Income (Topic 220) 
Reclassification of 
Certain Tax Effects 
From Accumulated 
Other 
Comprehensive 
Income 

This ASU relates to the impacts of the tax legislation 
commonly referred to as the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act 
(the “Tax Reform Act”). The guidance permits the 
reclassification of certain income tax effects of the Tax 
Reform Act from Other Comprehensive Income to 
Retained Earnings. The guidance also requires certain 
new disclosures. This update is effective for fiscal years 
beginning after December 15, 2018, and interim 
periods within those fiscal periods and early adoption is 
permitted. Entities may adopt the guidance using one 
of two transition methods; retrospective to each period 
(or periods) in which the income tax effects of the Tax 
Reform Act related to the items remaining in Other 
Comprehensive Income are recognized or at the 
beginning of the period of adoption. 

October 1, 
2019 

We are currently evaluating the impact that 
the new guidance may have on our 
consolidated financial statements and 
disclosures. 

ASU No. 2017-09, 
Compensation – 
Stock 
Compensation 
(Topic 718): Scope 
of Modification 
Accounting 

Under the new guidance, modification accounting is 
required only if the fair value, the vesting conditions, or 
the classification of the award (as equity or liability) 
changes as a result of the change in terms or 
conditions. Regardless of whether the change to the 
terms or conditions of the award requires modification 
accounting, the existing disclosure requirements and 
other aspects of U.S. GAAP associated with 
modification, such as earnings per share, continue to 
apply. 

October 1, 
2018 

We do not expect the new guidance to have 
a material impact on our consolidated 
financial statements. 
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ASU No. 2017-07, 
Compensation – 
Retirement Benefits 
(Topic 715): 
Improving the 
Presentation of Net 
Periodic Pension 
Cost and Net 
Periodic 
Postretirement 
Benefit Cost 

The ASU will change how employers that sponsor 
defined benefit pension and/or other postretirement 
benefit plans present the net periodic benefit cost in the 
income statement. Employers will present the service 
cost component of net periodic benefit cost in the same 
income statement line item(s) as other employee 
compensation costs arising from services rendered 
during the period. Employers will present the other 
components of the net periodic benefit cost separately 
from the line item(s) that includes the service cost and 
outside of any subtotal of operating income, if one is 
presented. 

October 1, 
2018 

We do not expect the new guidance to have 
a material impact on our consolidated 
financial statements. 

ASU No. 2016-18, 
Statement of Cash 
Flows (Topic 230): 
Restricted Cash 

The ASU requires amounts generally described as 
restricted cash and restricted cash equivalents be 
included with cash and cash equivalents when 
reconciling the total beginning and ending amounts for 
the periods shown on the statement of cash flows. 

October 1, 
2018 

We will adopt the guidance retrospectively to 
all periods presented prior to the adoption 
date (October 1, 2018) by excluding the 
change in restricted cash balances from cash 
flows from operating activities. The impact of 
which will be an increase in the cash flows 
from operating activities in the fiscal years 
2018 and 2017 by $2.7 million and $9.5 
million, respectively.  

ASU No. 2016-16, 
Income Taxes 
(Topic 740): Intra-
Entity Transfers of 
Assets Other Than 
Inventory 

Under current U.S. GAAP, the tax effects of intra-entity 
asset transfers (intercompany sales) are deferred until 
the transferred asset is sold to a third party or 
otherwise recovered through use. This is an exception 
to the principle in ASC 740, Income Taxes, that 
generally requires comprehensive recognition of 
current and deferred income taxes. The new guidance 
eliminates the exception for all intra-entity sales of 
assets other than inventory. As a result, a reporting 
entity would recognize the tax expense from the sale of 
the asset in the seller's tax jurisdiction when the 
transfer occurs, even though the pre-tax effects of that 
transaction are eliminated in consolidation. Any 
deferred tax asset that arises in the buyer's jurisdiction 
would also be recognized at the time of the transfer. 
The new guidance does not apply to intra-entity 
transfers of inventory. The income tax consequences 
from the sale of inventory from one member of a 
consolidated entity to another will continue to be 
deferred until the inventory is sold to a third party. 

October 1, 
2018 

We do not expect the new guidance to have 
a material impact on our consolidated 
financial statements. 

ASU No. 2016-15, 
Statement of Cash 
Flows (Topic 230): 
Classification of 
Certain Cash 
Receipts and Cash 
Payments 

The ASU is intended to reduce diversity in practice in 
presentation and classification of certain cash receipts 
and cash payments by providing guidance on eight 
specific cash flow issues. The ASU is effective for fiscal 
years beginning after December 15, 2017, and interim 
periods within those fiscal years.  Early adoption is 
permitted, including adoption in an interim period. 

October 1, 
2018 

We plan to adopt this standard 
retrospectively to all periods presented.  We 
are currently assessing the impact this 
standard will have on our consolidated 
statements of cash flows. 

ASU No. 2016-13, 
Financial 
Instruments – 
Credit Losses 
(Topic 326) 

This ASU introduces a new model for recognizing credit 
losses on financial instruments based on an estimate of 
current expected credit losses. The new model will 
apply to: (1) loans, accounts receivable, trade 
receivables, and other financial assets measured at 
amortized cost, (2) loan commitments and certain other 
off-balance sheet credit exposures, (3) debt securities 
and other financial assets measured at fair value 
through other comprehensive income/(loss), and (4) 
beneficial interests in securitized financial assets. This 
update is effective for annual and interim periods 
beginning after December 15, 2019.   

October 1, 
2020 

We are currently evaluating the impact that 
the new guidance may have on our 
consolidated financial statements and 
disclosures. 
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ASU No. 2016-02, 
Leases (Topic 842) 

ASU 2016-02 will require organizations that lease 
assets — referred to as “lessees” — to recognize on 
the balance sheet the assets and liabilities for the rights 
and obligations created by those leases. Under ASU 
2016-02, a lessee will be required to recognize assets 
and liabilities for leases with lease terms of more than 
12 months. Lessor accounting remains substantially 
similar to current U.S. GAAP. In addition, disclosures of 
leasing activities are to be expanded to include 
qualitative along with specific quantitative information. 
For public entities, ASU 2016-02 is effective for fiscal 
years beginning after December 15, 2018, including 
interim periods within those fiscal years. ASU 2016-02 
mandates a modified retrospective transition method 
with an option to use certain practical expedients.   

October 1, 
2019 

We are currently evaluating the potential 
impact of adopting this guidance on our 
consolidated financial statements and 
disclosures. 

ASU No. 2016-01, 
Financial 
Instruments – 
Overall (Subtopic 
825-10): 
Recognition and 
Measurement of 
Financial Assets 
and Financial 
Liabilities 

The standard requires entities to measure equity 
investments that do not result in consolidation and are 
not accounted for under the equity method at fair value 
and recognize any changes in fair value in net 
income.  The provisions of ASU 2016-01 are effective 
for interim and annual periods starting after December 
15, 2017.  At adoption, a cumulative-effect adjustment 
to beginning retained earnings will be recorded.   

October 1, 
2018 

Subsequent to adoption, changes in the fair 
value of our available-for-sale investments 
will be recognized in net income and the 
effect will be subject to stock market 
fluctuations. The cumulative catch up impact 
for the October 1, 2018 implementation will 
be a reclassification of $44 million, 
cumulative gains related to our available-for-
sale securities, currently recorded in the 
beginning balance of the accumulated other 
comprehensive income, to beginning balance 
of retained earnings at October 1, 2018. 

ASU No. 2014-09, 
Revenue from 
Contracts with 
Customers (Topic 
606): Revenue from 
Contracts with 
Customers 

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, Revenue 
from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606). The 
update outlines a single comprehensive model for 
companies to use in accounting for revenue arising 
from contracts with customers and supersedes the 
most current revenue recognition guidance, including 
industry-specific guidance. The core principle of the 
guidance is that an entity should recognize revenue 
when promised goods or services are transferred to 
customers in an amount that reflects the consideration 
to which the entity expects to be entitled for those 
goods or services. The update also requires 
disclosures enabling users of financial statements to 
understand the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty 
of revenue and cash flows arising from contracts with 
customers. Furthermore, as part of Topic 606, the 
FASB introduced ASC 340-40 Other Assets and 
Deferred Costs, which provides guidance on the 
capitalization of contract related costs that are not 
within the scope of other authoritative literature. The 
update will be effective for fiscal reporting periods 
beginning after December 15, 2017, including interim 
periods within the reporting period. Companies may 
use either a full retrospective or a modified 
retrospective approach to adopt the updates. 

October 1, 
2018 

We intend to adopt the new guidance using 
the modified retrospective approach. In 
preparation for our adoption of the new 
standard, we have evaluated representative 
samples of contracts and other forms of 
agreements with our customers based upon 
the five-step model specified by the new 
guidance. We have completed a preliminary 
assessment of the of the potential impact 
the implementation of this new guidance will 
have on our financial statements. Although 
our preliminary assessment may change 
based upon completion of our evaluation, 
the following summarizes the more 
significant impacts expected from the 
adoption of the new standard: 

 
• Certain revenues currently 

recognized at a point in time, are 
expected to be recognized over the 
term of the contract.  
 

• Certain associated costs to fulfill 
these contracts that are currently 
being expensed at a point in time, 
are expected to be capitalized as a 
contract fulfillment cost and 
amortized over the contract term, 
including expected contract 
extensions. 

 
• Enhance our disclosures to provide 

additional information relating to 
disaggregated revenue, contract 
assets and liabilities and remaining 
performance obligations. 
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Concentration of Credit Risk 

Financial instruments, which potentially subject us to concentrations of credit risk, consist primarily of temporary 
cash investments, short-term investments and trade receivables.  The industry concentration has the potential to impact 
our overall exposure to market and credit risks, either positively or negatively, in that our customers could be affected by 
similar changes in economic, industry or other conditions. However, we believe that the credit risk posed by this industry 
concentration is offset by the creditworthiness of our customer base. 

We had revenues from individual customers, related to our U.S. Land segment, that constituted 10 percent or 
more of our total revenues as follows:  

           

(In thousands)  2018  2017  2016 
EOG Resources, Inc. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $ 258,194  $ 163,582  $ 124,262 
 

In addition, we have certain customers that make up a significant portion of our Accounts Receivable at 
September 30, 2018, as indicated in the table below:  

   

 Percentage of 
 Accounts Receivable 
EOG Resources, Inc.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    8.8 %
Occidental Oil and Gas Corporation . . . .    4.7 %

 
We place temporary cash investments in the U.S. with established financial institutions and invest in a 

diversified portfolio of highly rated, short-term money market instruments.  Our trade receivables, primarily with 
established companies in the oil and gas industry, may impact credit risk as customers may be similarly affected by 
prolonged changes in economic and industry conditions.  International sales also present various risks including 
governmental activities that may limit or disrupt markets and restrict the movement of funds.  Most of our international 
sales, however, are to large international or government-owned national oil companies.  We perform credit evaluations of 
customers and do not typically require collateral in support for trade receivables.  We provide an allowance for doubtful 
accounts, when necessary, to cover estimated credit losses.  Such an allowance is based on management’s knowledge 
of customer accounts. 
 
Volatility of Market 

Our operations can be materially affected by oil and gas prices.  Oil and natural gas prices have been 
historically volatile and difficult to predict with any degree of certainty.  While current energy prices are important 
contributors to positive cash flow for customers, expectations about future prices and price volatility are generally more 
important for determining a customer’s future spending levels.  This volatility, along with the difficulty in predicting future 
prices, can lead many exploration and production companies to base their capital spending on more conservative 
estimates of commodity prices.  As a result, demand for contract drilling services is not always purely a function of the 
movement of commodity prices. 

In addition, customers may finance their exploration activities through cash flow from operations, the incurrence 
of debt or the issuance of equity.  Any deterioration in the credit and capital markets may cause difficulty for customers to 
obtain funding for their capital needs.  A reduction of cash flow resulting from declines in commodity prices or a reduction 
of available financing may result in a reduction in customer spending and the demand for our services.  This reduction in 
spending could have a material adverse effect on our operations. 

Self-Insurance 

We have accrued a liability for estimated workers’ compensation and other casualty claims incurred based upon 
cash reserves plus an estimate of loss development and incurred but not reported claims.  The estimate is based upon 
historical trends.  Insurance recoveries related to such liability are recorded when considered probable. 

We self-insure a significant portion of expected losses relating to workers’ compensation, general liability and 
automobile liability. Generally, deductibles range from $1 million to $5 million per occurrence depending on the coverage 
and whether a claim occurs outside or inside of the United States. Insurance is purchased over deductibles to reduce our 
exposure to catastrophic events. Estimates are recorded for incurred outstanding liabilities for workers’ compensation, 
general liability claims and claims that are incurred but not reported. Estimates are based on adjusters’ estimates, historic 
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experience and statistical methods that we believe are reliable. We have also engaged an actuary to perform a review of 
our domestic casualty losses.  Nonetheless, insurance estimates include certain assumptions and management 
judgments regarding the frequency and severity of claims, claim development and settlement practices. Unanticipated 
changes in these factors may produce materially different amounts of expense that would be reported under these 
programs.  

International Land Drilling Operations 

International Land drilling operations may significantly contribute to our revenues and net operating 
income. There can be no assurance that we will be able to successfully conduct such operations, and a failure to do so 
may have an adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations, and cash flows.  Also, the success of our 
international land operations will be subject to numerous contingencies, some of which are beyond management’s 
control.  These contingencies include general and regional economic conditions, fluctuations in currency exchange rates, 
modified exchange controls, changes in international regulatory requirements and international employment issues, risk of 
expropriation of real and personal property and the burden of complying with foreign laws.  Additionally, in the event that 
extended labor strikes occur or a country experiences significant political, economic or social instability, we could 
experience shortages in labor and/or material and supplies necessary to operate some of our drilling rigs, thereby 
potentially causing an adverse material effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. In Argentina, 
while our dayrate is denominated in U.S. dollars, we are paid in Argentine pesos.  The Argentine branch of one of our 
second-tier subsidiaries remits U.S. dollars to its U.S. parent by converting the Argentine pesos into U.S. dollars through 
the Argentine Foreign Exchange Market and repatriating the U.S. dollars. Argentina has a history of implementing 
currency controls which restrict the conversion and repatriation of US dollars. These controls were not in place in 
Argentina during this past fiscal year. 

Argentina’s economy is considered highly inflationary, which is defined as cumulative inflation rates exceeding 
100 percent in the most recent three-year period based on inflation data published by the respective 
governments.  Nonetheless, all of our foreign subsidiaries use the U.S. dollar as the functional currency and local 
currency monetary assets and liabilities are remeasured into U.S. dollars with gains and losses resulting from foreign 
currency transactions included in current results of operations. 

Because of the impact of local laws, our future operations in certain areas may be conducted through entities in 
which local citizens own interests and through entities (including joint ventures) in which we hold only a minority interest or 
pursuant to arrangements under which we conduct operations under contract to local entities.  While we believe that 
neither operating through such entities nor pursuant to such arrangements would have a material adverse effect on our 
operations or revenues, there can be no assurance that we will in all cases be able to structure or restructure our 
operations to conform to local law (or the administration thereof) on terms acceptable to us. 

 
 

NOTE 3 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS 

Fiscal Year 2018 Acquisitions 

On December 8, 2017, we completed an acquisition (“MagVAR Acquisition”) of an unaffiliated company, 
Magnetic Variation Services, LLC (“MagVAR”), which is now a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.  The operations 
for MagVAR are included with our other non-reportable business segments.  At the effective time of the MagVAR 
Acquisition, MagVAR shareholders received aggregate cash consideration of $47.9 million, net of customary closing 
adjustments, and certain management members received restricted stock awards covering 213,904 shares of Helmerich 
& Payne, Inc. common stock. The grant date fair value of the restricted stock of $13.1 million is being amortized to 
expense over the three year vesting period.  At closing, $6.0 million of the cash consideration was placed in escrow, to be 
released to the sellers twelve months after the acquisition closing date.  The amount placed in escrow is classified as 
restricted cash and is included in prepaid expenses and other in the Consolidated Balance Sheet at September 30, 
2018.  Transaction costs related to the MagVAR Acquisition incurred during the fiscal year ended September 30, 2018 
were approximately $1.2 million and are recorded in the Consolidated Statements of Operations within general and 
administrative expense.  We recorded revenue of $11.6 million and a net loss of $3.0 million related to MagVAR during 
the fiscal year ended September 30, 2018. 

Through comprehensive 3D geomagnetic reference modeling, MagVAR provides measurement while drilling 
(“MWD”) survey corrections by identifying and quantifying MWD tool measurement errors in real-time, greatly improving 
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directional drilling performance and wellbore placement.  MagVAR technology has been successfully deployed in both 
onshore and offshore fields in North America, South America, Europe, Africa, Australia and Asia. 

The MagVAR Acquisition was accounted for as a business combination in accordance with ASC 805, Business 
Combinations, which requires the assets acquired and liabilities assumed to be recorded at their acquisition date fair 
values. The following table summarizes the purchase price and the fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed 
at the acquisition date (in thousands): 

    

Purchase Price       
Consideration given   

Cash consideration . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  48,485 
   

Allocation of Purchase Price   
Fair value of assets acquired   

Current assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  2,286 
Property, plant and equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     13 
Intangible assets, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     28,700 
Goodwill . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      17,791 
   
Total assets acquired . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  48,790 

   
Fair value of liabilities assumed   

Current liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  305 
   

Fair value of total assets acquired and liabilities assumed . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  48,485 

 
Intangible assets acquired consist of developed technology, a trade name and customer relationships.  The 

intangible assets are being amortized under a straight-line method over their estimated useful lives ranging from five to 20 
years. 

The methodologies used in valuing the intangible assets include the multi-period excess earnings method for 
developed technology, the with and without method for customer relationships and the relief-from-royalty method for the 
trade name. The excess of the purchase price over the total net identifiable assets has been recorded as 
goodwill.  Factors comprising goodwill include the synergies expected from the expanded service capabilities as well as 
the value of the assembled workforce.  The goodwill is reported within our other non-reportable business segments and 
was allocated to our MagVAR reporting unit.  The goodwill is not subject to amortization, but is evaluated at least annually 
for impairment in the fourth quarter of each fiscal year, or more frequently if impairment indicators are present.  The 
intangible assets and goodwill are amortized straight-line over 15 years for income tax purposes. 

The following unaudited pro forma combined financial information is provided for the fiscal year ended 
September 30, 2018 and 2017, as though the MagVAR Acquisition had been completed as of October 1, 2016.  These 
pro forma combined results of operations have been prepared by adjusting our historical results to include the historical 
results of MagVAR and reflect pro forma adjustments based on available information and certain assumptions that we 
believe are reasonable, including application of an appropriate income tax to MagVAR’s pre-tax loss.  Additionally, pro 
forma earnings for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2018 were adjusted to exclude $0.5 million of after-tax transaction 
costs.  The unaudited pro forma combined financial information is provided for illustrative purposes only and is not 
necessarily indicative of the actual results that would have been achieved by the combined company for the periods 
presented or that may be achieved by the combined company in the future.  Future results may vary significantly from the 
results reflected in this pro forma financial information. 

       

   Pro Forma 
      2018      2017 
  (unaudited, in thousands) 
Revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  2,490,955  $  1,814,215 
Net income (loss) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  480,423  $  (126,355)
 
 

 
Fiscal Year 2017 Acquisitions  
 

On June 2, 2017, we completed a merger transaction (“MOTIVE Merger”) pursuant to which an unaffiliated 
drilling technology company, MOTIVE Drilling Technologies, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“MOTIVE”), was merged with 
and into our wholly-owned subsidiary Spring Merger Sub, Inc., a Delaware corporation.  MOTIVE survived the transaction 



75 

and is now a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.  The operations for MOTIVE are included within our other non-
reportable business segments.  At the effective time of the MOTIVE Merger, MOTIVE shareholders received aggregate 
cash consideration of $74.3 million, net of customary closing adjustments, and may receive up to an additional $25.0 
million in potential earnout payments based on future performance.  At closing, $9.4 million of the cash consideration was 
placed in escrow, with one-half to be released to the seller on each of the twelve and eighteen month anniversaries of the 
merger completion date.  Transaction costs related to the MOTIVE Merger incurred during fiscal year 2017 were $3.2 
million and are recorded in the Consolidated Statement of Operations within the general and administrative expense line 
item.  We recorded revenue of $12.9 million and $3.3 million and a net loss of $20.1 million and $2.2 million related to 
MOTIVE during the fiscal years ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. 

MOTIVE has a proprietary Bit Guidance System™ that is an algorithm-driven system that considers the total 
economic consequences of directional drilling decisions and is designed to consistently lower drilling costs through more 
efficient drilling and increase hydrocarbon production through smoother wellbores and more accurate well 
placement.  Given our strong and longstanding technology and innovation focus, we believe the technology will continue 
to advance and provide further benefits for the industry. 

The MOTIVE Merger was accounted for as a business combination in accordance with ASC 805, Business 
Combinations, which requires the assets acquired and liabilities assumed to be recorded at their acquisition date fair 
values. The following table summarizes the purchase price and the allocation of the fair values of assets acquired and 
liabilities assumed and separately identifiable intangible assets at the acquisition date (in thousands):  

 
    

Purchase Price   
Consideration given   
   

Cash consideration . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $ 74,275 
Long-term contingent earnout liability (Other noncurrent liabilities) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    14,509 
Total consideration given . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $ 88,784 
   

Allocation of Purchase Price   
Fair value of assets acquired   

Current assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $ 4,425 
Property, plant and equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    300 
Intangible assets, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    51,000 
Goodwill . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    46,987 
   
Total assets acquired . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $ 102,712 

   
Fair value of liabilities assumed   

Current liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $ 25 
Deferred income taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    13,903 
   
Total liabilities acquired . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $ 13,928 

   
Fair value of total assets acquired and liabilities assumed . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $ 88,784 

 
Contingent consideration paid during fiscal year 2018 was $10.6 million. The fair value of the contingent 

consideration of $11.2 million and $14.9 million at September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively, was calculated using a 
Monte Carlo simulation, which evaluates numerous potential earnings and pay out scenarios and is considered a Level 3 
measurement under the fair value hierarchy. The change in the fair value of the contingent consideration of $6.9 million 
and $0.4 million during the fiscal year ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively, was recorded in expenses 
applicable to other revenues in the Consolidated Statement of Operations.  The developed technology is an intangible 
asset that will be amortized on a straight-line basis over an estimated 15-year life. The developed technology intangible 
asset was valued using an income approach, considering the estimated discounted future cash flows expected to be 
realized over the life of the asset, which is considered a Level 3 measurement under the fair value hierarchy.  Goodwill 
represents the residual of the purchase price paid and consists largely of the synergies and economies of scale expected 
from the drilling technology providing more efficient drilling and directional drilling services, the first mover advantage 
obtained through the acquisition and expected future developments resulting from the assembled workforce.  The 
goodwill is reported within our other non-reportable business segments and was allocated to our MOTIVE reporting 
unit.  The goodwill is not subject to amortization but will be evaluated at least annually for impairment in the fourth quarter 
of each fiscal year or more frequently if impairment indicators are present.  The developed technology and goodwill are 
not deductible for income tax purposes.  An associated deferred tax liability has been recorded in regards to the 
developed technology. 
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NOTE 4 DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 

Current and noncurrent liabilities consist of municipal and income taxes payable and social obligations due 
within the country in Venezuela. Expenses incurred for in-country obligations are reported as discontinued operations. 

The activity for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2018 was due to the remeasurement of uncertain tax 
liabilities as a result of the devaluation of the Venezuela Bolivar. Early in 2018, the Venezuelan government announced 
that it changed the existing dual-rate foreign currency exchange system by eliminating its heavily subsidized foreign 
exchange rate, which was 10 Bolivars per U.S. dollar, and relaunched an exchange system known as DICOM. The 
Venezuela government also established a new currency called the “Sovereign Bolivar,” which was determined by the 
elimination of five zeros from the old currency. The DICOM floating rate was approximately 62 Bolivars per U.S. dollar at 
September 30, 2018. The DICOM floating rate might not reflect the barter market exchange rates. 
 
NOTE 5 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

Property, plant and equipment as of September 30, 2018 and 2017 consisted of the following (in thousands): 

         

     Estimated Useful Lives     September 30, 2018      September 30, 2017 
Contract drilling equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    4 - 15 years  $  8,442,081  $  8,197,572 
Real estate properties . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    10 - 45 years     68,888     66,005 
Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    2 - 23 years     471,310     450,031 
Construction in progress . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .           163,968     169,326 
          9,146,247     8,882,934 
Accumulated depreciation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .           (4,288,865)    (3,881,883)
Property, plant and equipment, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .        $  4,857,382  $  5,001,051 
 
Impairments 

Consistent with our policy, we evaluate our drilling rigs and related equipment for impairment whenever events 
or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value of these assets may exceed the estimated undiscounted future 
net cash flows. Our evaluation, among other things, includes a review of external market factors and an assessment on 
the future marketability of specific rigs’ asset group. Given the continued low utilization within our International FlexRig4 
asset group and two of our domestic and international conventional rigs’ asset groups, together with the continued 
delivery of new, more capable rigs, we considered these economic factors to be indicators that these asset groups may 
potentially be impaired. 

At September 30, 2018, we performed impairment testing on our International FlexRig4 asset group, which has 
an aggregate net book value of $63.0 million. We concluded that the net book value of the drilling rigs’ asset group is 
recoverable through estimated undiscounted cash flows with a surplus. The most significant assumptions used in our 
undiscounted cash flow model include: timing on awards of future drilling contracts, oil prices, operating dayrates, 
operating costs, rig reactivation costs, drilling rig utilization, revenue efficiency, estimated remaining economic useful life 
and net proceeds received upon future sale/disposition. The assumptions are consistent with the Company’s internal 
budgets and forecasts for future years. These significant assumptions are classified as Level 3 inputs by ASC Topic 820 
Fair Value Measurement and Disclosures as they are based upon unobservable inputs and primarily rely on management 
assumptions and forecasts.   Although we believe the assumptions used in our analysis are reasonable and appropriate 
and the asset group weighted average of expected future undiscounted net cash flows exceeds the net book value of the 
asset group as of the fiscal year 2018 year-end impairment evaluation, different assumptions and estimates could 
materially impact the analysis and our resulting conclusion. 

 
At September 30, 2018, we engaged a third party independent accounting firm who performed a market 

valuation, utilizing the market approach, on two of our domestic and international conventional rigs’ asset groups, which 
have an aggregate net book values of $9.0 million and $15.2 million, respectively. We concluded that the fair values of 
these two asset groups exceed the net book values by approximately 64 percent and 141 percent, respectively, and as 
such, no impairment was recorded. The significant assumptions in the valuation exercise are classified as Level 2 and 
Level 3 inputs by ASC Topic 820 Fair Value Measurement and Disclosures.  

During the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2018, after ceasing operations in Ecuador, we entered into a sales 
negotiation with respect to the six conventional rigs, within a separate international conventional rigs’ asset group, with net 
book values of $20.8 million, present in the country, pursuant to which the rigs, together with associated equipment and 
machinery would be sold to a third party to be recycled. Certain components of these rigs, with an $8.5 million net book 
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value, that are not subject to the sale agreement, will be transferred to the United States to be utilized on other FlexRigs 
with high activity and demand. The sales transaction was completed in November 2018. We recorded a non-cash 
impairment charge within our International Land segment of $9.2 million ($7.0 million, net of tax, or $0.06 per diluted 
share), which is included in Asset Impairment Charge on the Consolidated Statement of Operations for the fiscal year 
ended September 30, 2018. As a result, the remaining rig within the same asset group, not to be disposed of, was written 
down resulting in an additional impairment charge of $1.4 million ($1.0 million, net of tax, or $0.01 per diluted share). The 
assets were recorded at fair value based on the sales agreement and as such are classified as Level 2 within the fair 
value hierarchy.  
 

Furthermore, during the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2018, within our U.S. Land segment, management 
committed to a plan to auction several previously decommissioned rigs during fiscal year 2019. As a result, we wrote 
them down to their estimated fair values. We recorded a non-cash impairment charge of $5.7 million ($4.2 million, net of 
tax, or $0.04 per diluted share), which is included in Asset Impairment Charge on the Consolidated Statements of 
Operations for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2018. The assets were recorded at fair value based on the auction 
price and as such are classified as Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.  
 

During fiscal year 2016, we recorded an asset impairment charge in the U.S. Land segment of $6.3 million to 
reduce the carrying value of rig and rig related equipment classified as held for sale to their estimated fair values, based 
on expected sales prices.   

Depreciation 

Depreciation in the Consolidated Statements of Operations of $583.8 million, $585.5 million and $598.6 million 
includes abandonments of $27.7 million, $42.6 million and $39.3 million for fiscal years 2018, 2017 and 2016, 
respectively.  During 2018, we have shortened the estimated useful lives of certain components of rigs planned for 
conversion, with a total net book value of $3.7 million, resulting in an increase in depreciation expense during 2018 of 
approximately $9.7 million. This will also increase the depreciation expense for the next three months by approximately 
$0.9 million and will decrease the depreciation expense for fiscal years 2019, 2020, 2021, 2022, and 2023 by $2.3 million, 
$2.3 million, $2.2 million, $1.3 million, and $0.4 million, respectively, and thereafter by $1.0 million. 

Gain on Sale of Assets 

We had a gain on sales of assets of $22.7 million and $20.6 million in fiscal years 2018 and 2017, respectively. 
These gains were primarily related to drill pipe damaged or lost in drilling operations.  

NOTE 6 GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

Goodwill 

All of our goodwill is within our other non-reportable operating segments. The following is a summary of 
changes in goodwill (in thousands): 

    

Balance at September 30, 2016 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  4,718 
Additions . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     46,987 

Balance at September 30, 2017 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     51,705 
Additions (Note 3) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     17,791 
Impairment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     (4,719)

Balance at September 30, 2018 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  64,777 
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Intangible Assets 

Intangible assets arising from business acquisitions consisted of the following: 

                    

   September 30, 2018  September 30, 2017 
   Gross      Gross     
   Carrying  Accumulated    Carrying  Accumulated   
(in thousands)         Amount     Amortization     Net      Amount     Amortization     Net 
Finite-lived intangible asset:                    

Developed technology . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $  70,000 $  5,589 $  64,411  $  51,000 $  1,134 $  49,866 
Trade name . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   5,700  237  5,463   —  —  — 
Customer relationships . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   4,000  667  3,333   —  —  — 
 $  79,700 $  6,493 $  73,207  $  51,000 $  1,134 $  49,866 
  

Indefinite-lived intangible asset:  
Trademark . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $  — $  — $  —  $  919 $  — $  919 
                  

 
Amortization expense was $5.4 million and $1.1 million for fiscal years 2018 and 2017, respectively, and is 

estimated to be $5.8 million for each of the next four succeeding fiscal years and approximately $5.1 million for fiscal year 
2023. 

 
Impairments 
 

During the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2018, and as part of our annual goodwill impairment test, we performed a 
detailed assessment of the TerraVici reporting unit, where $4.7 million of goodwill was allocated. We determined that the 
estimated fair value of this reporting unit was less than its carrying amount and we recorded goodwill impairment losses of 
$4.7 million ($3.5 million, net of tax, or $0.03 per diluted share). In addition, we recorded an intangible assets impairment 
loss of $0.9 million ($0.7 million net of tax, or $0.01 per diluted share). These impairment losses are included in Asset 
Impairment Charge on the Consolidated Statements of Operations for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2018. 

 
Our goodwill impairment analysis performed on our remaining technology reporting units in the fourth quarter of 

fiscal years 2018 and 2017 did not result in impairment charges.  
 

NOTE 7 DEBT 

We had the following unsecured long-term debt outstanding at rates and maturities shown in the following table: 

                   

  September 30, 2018  September 30, 2017 
    Unamortized      Unamortized   
  Face  Debt Issuance Book  Face  Debt Issuance Book 
     Amount      Cost     Value     Amount      Cost      Value 
  (in thousands) 
Unsecured senior notes issued March 19, 
2015:                   

Due March 19, 2025 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $ 500,000  $  (6,032) $ 493,968  $ 500,000  $  (7,098) $ 492,902 
    500,000    (6,032)   493,968    500,000    (7,098)   492,902 
Less long-term debt due within one year . . . . .      —     —     —     —     —     — 
Long-term debt . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $ 500,000  $  (6,032) $ 493,968  $ 500,000  $  (7,098) $ 492,902 

 
On March 19, 2015, we issued $500 million of 4.65 percent 10-year unsecured senior notes.  Interest is payable 

semi-annually on March 15 and September 15. The debt discount is being amortized to interest expense using the 
effective interest method.  The debt issuance costs are amortized straight-line over the stated life of the obligation, which 
approximates the effective interest method. 

On July 13, 2016, we entered into a $300 million unsecured revolving credit facility (the “2016 Credit Facility”) 
with a maturity date of July 13, 2021.  The 2016 Credit Facility had a maximum of $75 million available to use as letters of 
credit. The majority of any borrowings under the facility would accrue interest at a spread over the London Interbank 
Offered Rate (“LIBOR”). We also paid a commitment fee based on the unused balance of the facility. Borrowing spreads 
as well as commitment fees were determined according to the Company’s credit rating. The spread over LIBOR ranged 
from 1.125 percent to 1.75 percent per annum and commitment fees ranged from 0.15 percent to 0.30 percent per 



79 

annum. Based on our debt to total capitalization on September 30, 2018, the spread over LIBOR and commitment fees 
would be 1.125 percent and 0.15 percent, respectively. There was a financial covenant in the facility that required us to 
maintain a total debt to total capitalization ratio of less than 50 percent. The 2016 Credit Facility contained additional 
terms, conditions, restrictions and covenants that we believe were usual and customary in unsecured debt arrangements 
for companies of similar size and credit quality including a limitation that priority debt (as defined in the agreement) could 
not exceed 17.5 percent of the net worth of the Company.  As of September 30, 2018, the Company had no borrowings 
against the line, but there were three letters of credit outstanding in the amount of $39.3 million. Two of these letters of 
credit in the amount of $29.3 million support self-insured losses under the Company’s high deductible casualty insurance 
programs and the remaining $10.0 million letter of credit supports an operating line of credit with a bank in Argentina. As a 
result, at September 30, 2018, we had $260.7 million available to borrow under the 2016 Credit Facility.  Subsequent to 
September 30, 2018, the Company decreased one of the three letters of credit by $1.3 million, which increased availability 
under the facility to $262.0 million.  

Subsequent to our fiscal year-end, on November 13, 2018, we entered into a $750 million unsecured revolving 
credit facility (the “2018 Credit Facility”). In connection with entering into the 2018 Credit Facility, we terminated the 2016 
Credit Facility. See Note 19-–Subsequent Events to our Consolidated Financial Statements for more information about 
the 2018 Credit Facility. 

At September 30, 2018, we had a $12 million unsecured standalone line of credit, which is purposed for the 
issuance of bid and performance bonds, as needed, for international land operations. As of September 30, 2018, we do 
not have any outstanding obligations against this facility.  

The applicable agreements for all unsecured debt contain additional terms, conditions and restrictions that we 
believe are usual and customary in unsecured debt arrangements for companies that are similar in size and credit quality. 
At September 30, 2018, we were in compliance with all debt covenants. 

At September 30, 2018, aggregate maturities of long-term debt are as follows (in thousands): 

    

Year ending September 30,        
2019 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  — 
2020 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     — 
2021 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     — 
2022 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     — 
2023 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     — 
Thereafter . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     500,000 
  $  500,000 

 

 
NOTE 8 INCOME TAXES 

Impact of Tax Reform 

On December 22, 2017, the President of the United States signed into law the Tax Reform Act. Among a 
number of substantial changes to the current U.S. federal income tax rules, the Tax Reform Act decreases the marginal 
U.S. corporate income tax rate from 35 percent to 21 percent, provides for bonus depreciation that will allow for full 
expensing of qualified property in the year placed in service, limits the deductibility of certain expenditures, and 
significantly changes the U.S. taxation of certain foreign operations. By operation of law, we will apply a blended U.S. 
statutory federal income tax rate of 24.5 percent for fiscal year 2018. As a result of the Tax Reform Act, we were required 
to revalue deferred tax assets and liabilities from 35 percent to 21 percent. This revaluation has resulted in recognition of 
a tax benefit of approximately $502.1 million, which is included as a component of income tax expense in continuing 
operations on the Consolidated Statements of Operations.  

On December 22, 2017, Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 118 ("SAB 118") was issued to address the application of 
U.S. GAAP in situations when a registrant does not have the necessary information available, prepared, or analyzed 
(including computations) in reasonable detail to complete the accounting for certain income tax effects of the Tax Reform 
Act. In accordance with SAB 118, we recorded our best estimate of the impact of the Tax Reform Act in our fiscal year 
end income tax provision in accordance with our understanding of the Tax Reform Act and guidance available as of the 
date of this filing. Although we believe we have substantially completed our accounting for certain income tax effects of 
the Tax Reform Act, to the extent that the Internal Revenue Service or U.S. Treasury issues additional guidance during 
the SAB 118 measurement period, the Company will promptly evaluate whether any additional adjustments are required. 
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Income Tax Provision and Rate 

The components of the provision (benefit) for income taxes are as follows: 

          

  Year Ended September 30,  
      2018      2017      2016 
  (in thousands) 
Current:          

Federal . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  757  $  (36,260) $  (86,010)
Foreign . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      6,492     4,108     9,987 
State . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      2,340     (472)    (3,742)

     9,589     (32,624)    (79,765)
Deferred:          

Federal . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      (508,256)     (14,953)    58,136 
Foreign . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      7,415     (7,827)    408 
State . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      14,083     (1,331)    1,544 

     (486,758)     (24,111)    60,088 
Total benefit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  (477,169)  $  (56,735) $  (19,677)

 
The amounts of domestic and foreign income (loss) before income taxes are as follows: 

          

  Year Ended September 30,  
      2018      2017      2016 
  (in thousands) 
Domestic . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  27,436  $  (173,157)  $  (49,636)
Foreign . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      (11,595)   (11,441)    (23,031)
  $  15,841  $  (184,598)  $  (72,667)

 
Effective income tax rates as compared to the U.S. Federal income tax rate are as follows: 

        

  Year Ended September 30,    
      2018      2017      2016   
U.S. Federal income tax rate . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    24.5 %    35.0 %    35.0 %
Effect of foreign taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     87.8   1.8   (13.8) 
State income taxes, net of federal tax benefit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     68.8   0.6   3.2  
U.S. domestic production activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     —   (2.1)  (10.4) 
Remeasurement of deferred tax related to Tax Reform Act . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    (3,169.4)  —   —  
Other impact of foreign operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    (43.4)  (2.9)  14.7  
Non-deductible meals and entertainment (1) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    8.2   —   —  
Equity compensation (1) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    (5.3)  —   —  
Officer's compensation (1) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    1.7   —   —  
Contingent consideration adjustment (1) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    10.7   —   —  
Other (1) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     4.1   (1.7)  (1.6) 
Effective income tax rate . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     (3,012.3)%    30.7 %    27.1 %

 
(1) For fiscal years 2017 and 2016, “other” reflects adjustments for non-deductible meals and entertainment, equity compensation,  

officer’s compensation and contingent consideration.  
 
Effective tax rates differ from the U.S. federal statutory rate of 24.5 percent (blended for fiscal year 2018) due to 

state and foreign income taxes, change of the federal income tax rate from the Tax Reform Act, and the tax effect of non-
deductible expenses (primarily related to certain meals and entertainment, officer’s compensation limited pursuant to 
Section 162(m) of the Code, and adjustments to the contingent consideration related to the MOTIVE Merger). 

Deferred Taxes 

Deferred income taxes are provided for the temporary differences between the financial reporting basis and the 
tax basis of our assets and liabilities.  Recoverability of any tax assets are evaluated and necessary valuation allowances 
are provided.  The carrying value of the net deferred tax assets is based on management’s judgments using certain 
estimates and assumptions that we will be able to generate sufficient future taxable income in certain tax jurisdictions to 
realize the benefits of such assets.  If these estimates and related assumptions change in the future, additional valuation 
allowances may be recorded against the deferred tax assets resulting in additional income tax expense in the future. 
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The components of our net deferred tax liabilities are as follows: 

       

  September 30,  
      2018      2017 
  (in thousands) 
Deferred tax liabilities:       

Property, plant and equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  904,734  $  1,386,512 
Available-for-sale securities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      10,464     24,940 
Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      12,787     21,609 

Total deferred tax liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      927,985     1,433,061 
Deferred tax assets:       

Pension reserves . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      3,477     7,614 
Self-insurance reserves . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      13,100     19,461 
Net operating loss, foreign tax credit, and other federal tax credit carryforwards . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      55,889     62,478 
Financial accruals . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      45,708     62,971 
Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      4,888     6,003 

Total deferred tax assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      123,062     158,527 
Valuation allowance . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      (48,213)    (58,155)

Net deferred tax assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      74,849     100,372 
Net deferred tax liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  853,136  $  1,332,689 

 
The change in our net deferred tax assets and liabilities is impacted by foreign currency remeasurement. 

As of September 30, 2018, we had federal, state and foreign tax net operating loss carryforwards of 
$50.8 million, $31.2 million and $83.7 million, respectively, and foreign tax credit carryforwards of approximately 
$24.9 million (of which $20.1 million is reflected as a deferred tax asset in our Consolidated Financial Statements prior to 
consideration of our valuation allowance) which will expire in fiscal years 2019 through 2038. The valuation allowance is 
primarily attributable to foreign and certain state net operating loss carryforwards of $22.8 million and $0.5 million, 
respectively, and foreign tax credit carryforwards of $20.1 million, equity compensation of $2.3 million, and foreign 
minimum tax credit carryforwards of $2.5 million which more likely than not will not be utilized. 

Unrecognized Tax Benefits 

We recognize accrued interest related to unrecognized tax benefits in interest expense, and penalties in other 
expense in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. As of September 30, 2018 and 2017, we had accrued interest 
and penalties of $2.2 million and $2.8 million, respectively. 

A reconciliation of the change in our gross unrecognized tax benefits for the fiscal years ended September 30, 
2018 and 2017 is as follows: 

       

  September 30,  
      2018      2017 
  (in thousands) 
Unrecognized tax benefits at October 1, . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  4,773  $  9,551 
Gross increases - tax positions in prior periods . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      3     — 
Gross decreases - tax positions in prior periods . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      —     (1)
Gross decreases - current period effect of tax positions . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      (280)    (170)
Gross increases - current period effect of tax positions . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      10,537     300 
Expiration of statute of limitations for assessments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     (128)   (4,907)
Unrecognized tax benefits at September 30,  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  14,905  $  4,773 

 
As of September 30, 2018 and 2017, our liability for unrecognized tax benefits includes $14.3 million and $3.7 

million, respectively, of unrecognized tax benefits related to discontinued operations that, if recognized, would not affect 
the effective tax rate. The remaining unrecognized tax benefits would affect the effective tax rate if recognized. The 
liabilities for unrecognized tax benefits and related interest and penalties are included in other noncurrent liabilities in our 
Consolidated Balance Sheets. 

For the next 12 months, we cannot predict with certainty whether we will achieve ultimate resolution of any 
uncertain tax position associated with our U.S. and international land operations that could result in increases or 
decreases of our unrecognized tax benefits. However, we do not expect the increases or decreases to have a material 
effect on our results of operations or financial position. 
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Tax Returns 

We file a consolidated U.S. federal income tax return, as well as income tax returns in various states and 
foreign jurisdictions.  The tax years that remain open to examination by U.S. federal and state jurisdictions include fiscal 
years 2014 through 2017, with exception of certain state jurisdictions currently under audit. The tax years remaining open 
to examination by foreign jurisdictions include 2003 through 2017. 
 
NOTE 9 SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 

The Company has authorization from the Board of Directors for the repurchase of up to four million common 
shares in any calendar year. The repurchases may be made using our cash and cash equivalents or other available 
sources. We had no purchases of common shares during the fiscal years ended September 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016. 

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) 

Components of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) were as follows: 

          

  September 30,  
      2018      2017      2016 
  (in thousands) 
Pre-tax amounts:          

Unrealized appreciation on securities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  44,023  $  31,700  $  33,051 
Unrealized actuarial loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      (21,693)     (28,873)    (34,112)

 $  22,330  $  2,827  $  (1,061)
After-tax amounts:          

Unrealized appreciation on securities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  29,071  $  20,070  $  20,899 
Unrealized actuarial loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      (12,521)     (17,770)    (21,103)

  $  16,550  $  2,300  $  (204)

 
The following is a summary of the changes in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax, by 

component for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2018: 

          

  Unrealized       
   Appreciation on   Defined    
   Available-for-sale   Benefit    
     Securities      Pension Plan      Total 
   (in thousands) 
Balance at September 30, 2017 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  20,070  $  (17,770) $  2,300 

Other comprehensive income before reclassifications . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      9,001    —     9,001 
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income . . . . . . . . . .      —    5,249     5,249 
Net current-period other comprehensive income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      9,001     5,249     14,250 

Balance at September 30, 2018 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  29,071  $  (12,521) $  16,550 
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The following provides detail about accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) components which were 
reclassified to the Consolidated Statements of Operations during the fiscal years ended September 30, 2018, 2017 and 
2016: 

            

   Amount   
  Reclassified from   
  Accumulated Other   
  Comprehensive  Affected Line 
Details About Accumulated Other  Income (Loss)  Item in the Consolidated 
Comprehensive Income (Loss) Components      2018      2017  2016  Statements of Operations 
  (in thousands)   
Other-than-temporary impairment of 
available-for-sale securities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  —  $  —  $  1,509  Loss on investment securities 
    —    —    (583) Income tax provision 
    —    —    926  Net of tax 
            
Amortization of net actuarial loss on defined benefit 
pension plan . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  7,180   $  5,238  $  (3,968)  Selling, general and administrative
    (1,931)    (1,905)   1,443  Income tax provision 
    5,249    3,333    (2,525)  Net of tax 
Total reclassifications for the period . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  5,249   $  3,333  $  (1,599)   
 
 

 
 

NOTE 10 STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION 

On March 2, 2016, the Helmerich & Payne, Inc. 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the “2016 Plan”) was approved 
by our stockholders.  The 2016 Plan, among other things, authorizes the Human Resources Committee of the Board to 
grant non-qualified stock options and restricted stock awards to selected employees and to non-employee 
Directors.  Restricted stock may be granted for no consideration other than prior and future services.  The purchase price 
per share for stock options may not be less than market price of the underlying stock on the date of grant.  Stock options 
expire 10 years after the grant date.  Awards outstanding in the Helmerich & Payne, Inc. 2005 Long-Term Incentive Plan 
and the Helmerich & Payne, Inc. 2010 Long-Term Incentive Plan (collectively the “2010 Plan”) remain subject to the terms 
and conditions of those plans.  During the fiscal year ended September 30, 2018, there were 693,873 non-qualified stock 
options and 411,977 shares of restricted stock awards granted under the 2016 Plan. An additional 213,904 of restricted 
stock grants were awarded outside of the 2016 Plan. 

A summary of compensation cost for stock-based payment arrangements recognized in general and 
administrative expense in fiscal years 2018, 2017 and 2016 is as follows: 

          

  September 30,  
      2018      2017      2016 
  (in thousands) 
Compensation expense          

Stock options . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  7,913  $  7,439  $  8,290 
Restricted stock . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      23,774     18,744     16,093 

  $  31,687  $  26,183  $  24,383 

 
Stock Options 

Vesting requirements for stock options are determined by the Human Resources Committee of our Board of 
Directors. Options currently outstanding began vesting one year after the grant date with 25 percent of the options vesting 
for four consecutive years. 

We use the Black-Scholes formula to estimate the fair value of stock options granted to employees.  The fair 
value of the options is amortized to compensation expense on a straight-line basis over the requisite service periods of 
the stock awards, which are generally the vesting periods.   
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The weighted-average fair value calculations for options granted within the fiscal period are based on the 
following weighted-average assumptions set forth in the table below.  Options that were granted in prior periods are based 
on assumptions prevailing at the date of grant. 

        

      2018      2017   2016   
Risk-free interest rate (1) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     2.2 %    2.0 %    1.8 %
Expected stock volatility (2) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     36.1 %    38.9 %    37.6 %
Dividend yield (3) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     4.7 %    3.7 %    4.6 %
Expected term (in years) (4) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     6.0   5.5   5.5  
 

(1) The risk-free interest rate is based on U.S. Treasury securities for the expected term of the option. 
(2) Expected volatilities are based on the daily closing price of our stock based upon historical experience over a period which 

approximates the expected term of the option. 
(3) The dividend yield is based on our current dividend yield. 
(4) The expected term of the options granted represents the period of time that they are expect to be outstanding. We estimate 

term of option granted based on historical experience with grants and exercise. 

Based on these calculations, the weighted-average fair value per option granted to acquire a share of common 
stock was $13.17, $20.48 and $13.12 per share for fiscal years 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively. 

The following summary reflects the stock option activity for our common stock and related information for fiscal 
years 2018, 2017 and 2016 (shares in thousands): 

                

  2018  2017  2016 
       Weighted-Average          Weighted-Average         Weighted-Average
     Shares    Exercise Price      Shares    Exercise Price     Shares    Exercise Price 
Outstanding at October 1, . . . . . . . . . .     3,278  $  56.41    3,312  $  51.74    2,776  $  48.51 
Granted . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     694     59.03    396     76.61    876     58.25 
Exercised . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     (375)    36.88    (415)    38.04    (220)    31.52 
Forfeited/Expired . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     (98)    70.77    (15)    68.32    (120)    61.80 
Outstanding on September 30,  . . . . . .     3,499  $  58.62    3,278  $  56.41    3,312  $  51.74 
Exercisable on September 30,  . . . . . .     2,193  $  56.31    2,167  $  50.87    2,225  $  46.66 
Shares available to grant . . . . . . . . . . .     5,140       5,624       6,600    
 

The following table summarizes information about stock options at September 30, 2018 (shares in thousands): 

             

  Outstanding Stock Options  Exercisable Stock Options 
          Weighted-Average     Weighted-Average           Weighted-Average
Range of Exercise Prices     Options    Remaining Life      Exercise Price      Options      Exercise Price 
$0.00 to $21.07 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     180   0.2  $  21.07   180  $  21.07 
$21.07 to $59.76 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     2,417   5.9    55.16   1,418    53.03 
$59.76 to $68.83 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     358   6.3    68.66   275    68.83 
$68.83 to $81.31 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    544   7.1    79.79   320    79.86 
   3,499        2,193    
 

At September 30, 2018, the weighted-average remaining life of exercisable stock options was 4.36 years and 
the aggregate intrinsic value was $30.9 million with a weighted-average exercise price of $56.31 per share. 

The number of options vested or expected to vest at September 30, 2018 was 1,306,087 with an aggregate 
intrinsic value of $10.6 million and a weighted-average exercise price of $62.49 per share. 

As of September 30, 2018, the unrecognized compensation cost related to the stock options was $7.3 million. 
That cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.3 years. 

The total intrinsic value of options exercised during fiscal years 2018, 2017 and 2016 was $9.9 million, 
$13.1 million and $6.3 million, respectively. 

The grant date fair value of shares vested during fiscal years 2018, 2017 and 2016 was $8.8 million, 
$6.7 million and $9.6 million, respectively. 
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Restricted Stock 

Restricted stock awards consist of our common stock and are time-vested over three to six years. We recognize 
compensation expense on a straight-line basis over the vesting period. The fair value of restricted stock awards is 
determined based on the closing price of our shares on the grant date. As of September 30, 2018, there was $34.4 million 
of total unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested restricted stock awards. That cost is expected to be 
recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.4 years. 

A summary of the status of our restricted stock awards as of September 30, 2018, and of changes in restricted 
stock outstanding during the fiscal years ended September 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016, is as follows (shares in thousands): 

                

  2018  2017  2016 
           Weighted-Average          Weighted-Average          Weighted-Average
    Grant Date Fair    Grant Date Fair    Grant Date Fair 
  Shares Value per Share  Shares Value per Share  Shares Value per Share 
Outstanding at October 1, . . . . . . . . . .     659  $  70.76    648  $  64.24    668  $  67.03 
Granted . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     626     59.53    292     78.69    294     58.25 
Vested (1) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     (258)    70.60    (271)    63.81    (256)    64.75 
Forfeited . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     (26)    66.73    (10)    68.09    (58)    63.65 
Outstanding on September 30,  . . . . . .     1,001  $  63.74    659  $  70.76    648  $  64.24 

 
(1) The number of restricted stock awards vested includes shares that we withheld on behalf of our employees to satisfy the 

statutory tax withholding requirements.      
 

NOTE 11 EARNINGS (LOSSES) PER COMMON SHARE 

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share: 

          

  September 30,  
      2018      2017      2016 
  (in thousands) 
          
Numerator:          

Income (loss) from continuing operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  493,010  $  (127,863) $  (52,990)
Loss from discontinued operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      (10,338)    (349)    (3,838)
Net income (loss) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      482,672     (128,212)    (56,828)

Adjustment for basic earnings per share          
Earnings allocated to unvested shareholders . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      (4,346)    (1,811)    (1,858)

Numerator for basic earnings per share:          
From continuing operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      488,664     (129,674)    (54,848)
From discontinued operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      (10,338)    (349)    (3,838)

     478,326     (130,023)    (58,686)
Adjustment for diluted earnings per share:          

Effect of reallocating undistributed earnings of unvested shareholders . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      7     —     — 
Numerator for diluted earnings per share:          

From continuing operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      488,671     (129,674)    (54,848)
From discontinued operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      (10,338)    (349)    (3,838)

  $  478,333  $  (130,023) $  (58,686)
Denominator:          

Denominator for basic earnings per share - weighted-average shares. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      108,851     108,500     107,996 
Effect of dilutive shares from stock options and restricted stock . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      536     —     — 
Denominator for diluted earnings per share - adjusted weighted-average shares . . . . . . .      109,387     108,500     107,996 

Basic earnings per common share:          
Income (loss) from continuing operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  4.49  $  (1.20) $  (0.50)
Loss from discontinued operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      (0.10)    —     (0.04)

Net income (loss) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  4.39  $  (1.20) $  (0.54)
Diluted earnings per common share:          

Income (loss) from continuing operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  4.47  $  (1.20) $  (0.50)
Loss from discontinued operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      (0.10)    —     (0.04)

Net income (loss) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  4.37  $  (1.20) $  (0.54)

 
We had a net loss for fiscal years 2017 and 2016.  Accordingly, our diluted earnings per share calculation for 

those years were equivalent to our basic earnings per share calculation since diluted earnings per share excluded any 
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assumed exercise of equity awards.  These were excluded because they were deemed to be anti-dilutive, meaning their 
inclusion would have reduced the reported net loss per share in the applicable period. 

The following shares attributable to outstanding equity awards were excluded from the calculation of diluted 
earnings per share because their inclusion would have been anti-dilutive: 

          

     2018      2017      2016 
  (in thousands, except per share amounts) 
Shares excluded from calculation of diluted earnings per share . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     1,559    1,008    1,788 
Weighted-average price per share . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  68.28  $  74.38  $  63.73 
 

 
NOTE 12 FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

We have certain assets and liabilities that are required to be measured and disclosed at fair value. Fair value is 
defined as the exchange price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the 
principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at 
the measurement date.  We use the fair value hierarchy established in ASC 820-10 to measure fair value to prioritize the 
inputs: 

• Level 1 — Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the 
reporting entity can access at the measurement date. 

• Level 2 — Observable inputs, other than quoted prices included in Level 1, such as quoted prices for 
similar assets or liabilities in active markets; quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in markets 
that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market 
data. 

• Level 3 — Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant 
to the fair value of the assets or liabilities.  This includes pricing models, discounted cash flow 
methodologies and similar techniques that use significant unobservable inputs. 

The assets held in a Non-Qualified Supplemental Savings Plan are carried at fair value and totaled $16.2 million 
and $13.9 million at September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. The assets are comprised of mutual funds that are 
measured using Level 1 inputs. 

Short-term investments include securities classified as trading securities.  Both realized and unrealized gains 
and losses on trading securities are included in other income (expense) in the Consolidated Statements of 
Operations.  The securities are recorded at fair value. 

Our non-financial assets, such as intangible assets, goodwill and property, plant and equipment, are recorded 
at fair value when acquired in a business combination or when an impairment charge is recognized. If measured at fair 
value in the Consolidated Balance Sheets, these would generally be classified within Level 2 or 3 of the fair value 
hierarchy. Refer to Note 3—Business Combinations, Note 5—Property, Plant and Equipment and Note 6—Goodwill and 
Intangible Assets for details on these fair value measurements.  

The majority of cash equivalents are invested in highly-liquid money-market mutual funds invested primarily in 
direct or indirect obligations of the U.S. Government. The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents approximates fair 
value due to the short maturity of those investments. 

The carrying value of other current assets, accrued liabilities and other liabilities approximated fair value at 
September 30, 2018 and 2017. 
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The following table summarizes our assets measured at fair value presented in our Consolidated Balance Sheet 
as of September 30, 2018: 

             

      Fair Value      (Level 1)      (Level 2)      (Level 3) 
  (in thousands) 
Recurring fair value measurements:             
Short-term investments:             

Certificates of deposit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  1,500  $  —  $  1,500  $  — 
Corporate and municipal debt securities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     17,518    —    17,518    — 
U.S. government and federal agency securities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     22,443    22,443    —    — 

Total short-term investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     41,461    22,443    19,018    — 
Cash and cash equivalents . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     284,355    284,355    —    — 
Investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      82,496     82,496     —     — 
Other current assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      39,830     39,830     —     — 
Other assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      2,000     2,000     —     — 
Total assets measured at fair value . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  450,142  $  431,124  $  19,018  $  — 
            
Liabilities:             
Contingent earnout liability . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  11,160  $  —  $  —  $  11,160 

 
At September 30, 2018, our financial instruments measured at fair value utilizing Level 1 inputs include cash 

equivalents, U.S. Agency issued debt securities, equity securities with active markets, and money market funds that are 
classified as restricted assets. The current portion of restricted amounts are included in prepaid expenses and other, and 
the noncurrent portion is included in other assets. For these items, quoted current market prices are readily available. 

At September 30, 2018, assets measured at fair value using Level 2 inputs include certificates of deposit, 
municipal bonds and corporate bonds measured using broker quotations that utilize observable market inputs. 

Our financial instruments measured using Level 3 inputs consist of potential earnout payments associated with 
the acquisition of MOTIVE in fiscal year 2017.  The valuation techniques used for determining the fair value of the 
potential earnout payments use a Monte Carlo simulation which evaluates numerous potential earnings and pay out 
scenarios. 

The following table presents a reconciliation of changes in fair value of our financial assets and liabilities 
classified as Level 3 fair value measurements in the fair value hierarchy for the indicated periods: 

       

      2018      2017 
  (in thousands) 
       
Net liabilities at beginning of period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  14,879  $  — 

Total gains or losses:       
Included in earnings . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     6,906    14,879 

Settlements (1) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     (10,625)   — 
Net liabilities at end of period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  11,160  $  14,879 

 
(1) Settlements represent earnout payments that have been earned or paid during the period. 

The following information presents the supplemental fair value information about long-term fixed-rate debt at 
September 30, 2018 and September 30, 2017. 

       

  September 30,  
      2018      2017 
  (in millions) 
Carrying value of long-term fixed-rate debt . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  494.0  $  492.9 
Fair value of long-term fixed-rate debt . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  509.3  $  529.0 
 

The fair value for the $500 million fixed-rate debt was based on broker quotes at September 30, 2018.  The 
notes are classified within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy as they are not actively traded in markets. 

On an ongoing basis we evaluate the marketable equity securities to determine if any decline in fair value below 
cost is other-than-temporary.  If a decline in fair value below cost is determined to be other-than-temporary, an impairment 
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charge is recorded and a new cost basis established.  We review several factors to determine whether a loss is other-
than-temporary.  These factors include, but are not limited to, (i) the length of time a security is in an unrealized loss 
position, (ii) the extent to which fair value is less than cost, (iii) the financial condition and near-term prospects of the 
issuer and (iv) our intent and ability to hold the security for a period of time sufficient to allow for any anticipated recovery 
in fair value. When securities are sold, the cost of securities used in determining realized gains and losses is based on the 
average cost basis of the security sold. 

The estimated fair value of our available-for-sale securities, reflected on our Consolidated Balance Sheets as 
Investments, is based on Level 1 inputs. The following is a summary of available-for-sale securities, which excludes 
assets held in a Non-Qualified Supplemental Savings Plan: 

             

     Gross  Gross  Estimated
     Unrealized  Unrealized  Fair 
     Cost     Gains      Losses      Value 
  (in thousands) 
Equity Securities:             

September 30, 2018 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $ 38,473  $  44,023  $  —  $  82,496 
September 30, 2017 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $ 38,473  $  31,700  $  —  $  70,173 

 

 
NOTE 13 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS 

We maintain a domestic noncontributory defined benefit pension plan covering certain U.S. employees who 
meet certain age and service requirements.  In July 2003, we revised the Helmerich & Payne, Inc. Employee Retirement 
Plan (“Pension Plan”) to close the Pension Plan to new participants effective October 1, 2003, and reduce benefit 
accruals for current participants through September 30, 2006, at which time benefit accruals were discontinued and the 
Pension Plan was frozen. 

The following table provides a reconciliation of the changes in the pension benefit obligations and fair value of 
Pension Plan assets over the two-year period ended September 30, 2017 and a statement of the funded status as of 
September 30, 2018 and 2017: 

       

      2018      2017 
  (in thousands) 
Accumulated Benefit Obligation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  106,205  $  109,976 
Changes in projected benefit obligations       
Projected benefit obligation at beginning of year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  109,976  $  109,731 

Interest cost . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      4,077     4,053 
Actuarial (gain) loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      (2,143)    3,633 
Benefits paid . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      (5,705)    (7,441)

Projected benefit obligation at end of year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  106,205  $  109,976 
Change in plan assets       
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  92,816  $  90,748 

Actual return on plan assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      7,754     9,470 
Employer contribution . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      32     39 
Benefits paid . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      (5,705)    (7,441)

Fair value of plan assets at end of year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  94,897  $  92,816 
Funded status of the plan at end of year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  (11,308) $  (17,160)

 
The amounts recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheets at September 30, 2018 and 2017 are as follows 

(in thousands): 

       

Accrued liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .       $  (58)     $  (45)
Noncurrent liabilities-other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      (11,250)    (17,115)
Net amount recognized . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  (11,308) $  (17,160)

 
The amounts recognized in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) at September 30, 2018 and 

2017, and not yet reflected in net periodic benefit cost, are as follows (in thousands): 

       

Net actuarial loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .       $  (21,693)      $  (28,873)
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The amount recognized in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) and not yet reflected in periodic 
benefit cost expected to be amortized in next year’s periodic benefit cost is a net actuarial loss of $1.2 million. 

The weighted average assumptions used for the pension calculations were as follows: 

        

  September 30,   
      2018      2017      2016   
Discount rate for net periodic benefit costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     3.79 %    3.64 %    4.27 % 
Discount rate for year-end obligations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     4.27 %    3.79 %    3.64 % 
Expected return on plan assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     6.06 %    6.17 %    5.89 % 
 

The mortality table issued by the Society of Actuaries in October 2018 was used for the September 30, 2018 
pension calculation. The new mortality information reflects improved life expectancies and projected mortality 
improvements. 

We did not make any contributions to the Pension Plan in fiscal year 2018. In fiscal year 2019, we do not expect 
minimum contributions required by law to be needed.  However, we may make contributions in fiscal year 2019 if needed 
to fund unexpected distributions in lieu of liquidating pension assets. 

Components of the net periodic pension expense (benefit) were as follows: 

          

  Year Ended September 30,  
   2018      2017      2016 
  (in thousands) 
Interest cost . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  4,077  $  4,053  $  4,266 
Expected return on plan assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      (5,555)    (5,130)    (5,616)
Recognized net actuarial loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      1,926     2,891     2,083 
Settlement . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      913     1,640     4,964 
Net pension expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  1,361  $  3,454  $  5,697 

 
We record settlement expense when benefit payments exceed the total annual service and interest costs. 

The following table reflects the expected benefits to be paid from the Pension Plan in each of the next five fiscal 
years, and in the aggregate for the five years thereafter (in thousands). 

                    

Year Ended September 30,  
2019      2020      2021      2022      2023      2024 – 2028      Total 

$   18,075  $  7,433  $  5,684  $  6,351  $  6,665  $  31,813  $  76,021 
 

Included in the Pension Plan is an unfunded supplemental executive retirement plan. 

Investment Strategy and Asset Allocation 

Our investment policy and strategies are established with a long-term view in mind.  The investment strategy is 
intended to help pay the cost of the Pension Plan while providing adequate security to meet the benefits promised under 
the Pension Plan.  We maintain a diversified asset mix to minimize the risk of a material loss to the portfolio value that 
might occur from devaluation of any single investment.  In determining the appropriate asset mix, our financial strength 
and ability to fund potential shortfalls are considered.   Pension Plan assets are invested in portfolios of diversified public-
market equity securities and fixed income securities.  The Pension Plan does not directly hold securities of the Company. 

The expected long-term rate of return on Pension Plan assets is based on historical and projected rates of 
return for current and planned asset classes in the Pension Plan’s investment portfolio after analyzing historical 
experience and future expectations of the return and volatility of various asset classes. 
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The target allocation for 2019 and the asset allocation for the Pension Plan at the end of fiscal years 2018 and 
2017, by asset category, follows: 

        

   Percentage   
   of Plan   
  Target  Assets at   
  Allocation  September 30,    
Asset Category      2019      2018      2017   
U.S. equities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     45 %   52 %     50 %
International equities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     20   15    16  
Fixed income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     35   33    34  
Real estate and other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     —   —   —   

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     100 %   100 %     100 %
 
Plan Assets 

The fair value of Pension Plan assets at September 30, 2018 and 2017, summarized by level within the fair 
value hierarchy described in Note 12—Fair Value Measurement of Financial Instruments, are as follows: 

             

  Fair Value as of September 30, 2018 
      Total      Level 1      Level 2      Level 3 
  (in thousands) 
Short-term investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    $  2,745  $  2,745  $  —  $  — 
Mutual funds:          

Domestic stock funds . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      18,361     18,361     —     — 
Bond funds . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      17,918     17,918     —     — 
Balanced funds. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     17,977    17,977     —     — 
International stock funds . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      14,548     14,548     —     — 

Total mutual funds . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      68,804     68,804     —     — 
Domestic common stock . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      23,232     20,771     2,461     — 
Oil and gas properties . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      116     —     —     116 
Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  94,897  $  92,320  $  2,461  $  116 

 
             

  Fair Value as of September 30, 2017 
      Total      Level 1      Level 2      Level 3 
  (in thousands) 
Short-term investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    $  3,488  $  3,488  $  —  $  — 
Mutual funds:          

Domestic stock funds . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      18,377     18,377     —     — 
Bond funds . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      18,357     18,357     —     — 
Balanced funds. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     18,222    18,222     —     — 
International stock funds . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      14,583     14,583     —     — 

Total mutual funds . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      69,539     69,539     —     — 
Domestic common stock . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      19,692     19,692     —     — 
Oil and gas properties . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      97     —     —     97 
Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  92,816  $  92,719  $  —  $  97 

 
The Pension Plan’s financial assets utilizing Level 1 inputs are valued based on quoted prices in active markets 

for identical securities. The Pension Plan’s Level 2 financial assets include foreign common stock. The Pension Plan’s 
assets utilizing Level 3 inputs consist of oil and gas properties. The fair value of oil and gas properties is determined by 
Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., based upon actual revenue received for the previous twelve-month period and experience with 
similar assets. 
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The following table sets forth a summary of changes in the fair value of the Pension Plan’s Level 3 assets for 
the fiscal years ended September 30, 2018 and 2017: 

       

  Oil and Gas Properties 
  Year Ended  
  September 30,  
      2018      2017 
  (in thousands) 
Balance, beginning of year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  97  $   177 
Unrealized gains (losses) relating to property still held at the reporting date . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      19     (80)
Balance, end of year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  116  $   97 

 
Defined Contribution Plan 

Substantially all employees on the U.S. payroll may elect to participate in our 401(k)/Thrift Plan by contributing a 
portion of their earnings. We contribute an amount equal to 100 percent of the first five percent of the participant’s 
compensation subject to certain limitations. The annual expense incurred for this defined contribution plan was 
$26.6 million, $16.6 million and $21.6 million in fiscal years 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively. 

During fiscal year 2016, we determined that employee workforce reductions which started during 2015 and 
continued into 2016 due to reduced drilling activity resulted in a partial plan termination of the 401(k)/Thrift Plan.   Partial 
plan terminations result in affected participants becoming fully vested in Company contributions and actual earnings 
thereon at the termination date.  As a result of the partial plan termination status, we accrued additional employer 
contributions totaling $6.3 million in general and administrative expense in fiscal year 2016. 
 
NOTE 14 SUPPLEMENTAL BALANCE SHEET INFORMATION 

The following reflects the activity in our reserve for bad debt for fiscal years 2018, 2017 and 2016: 

          

      2018      2017      2016 
  (in thousands) 
Reserve for bad debt:          

Balance at October 1, . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  5,721  $  2,696  $  6,181 
Provision for (recovery of) bad debt . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      2,193     2,016     (2,013)
(Write-off) recovery of bad debt . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      (1,697)    1,009     (1,472)
Balance at September 30,  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  6,217  $  5,721  $  2,696 
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Accounts receivable, prepaid expenses and other current assets, accrued liabilities and long-term liabilities at 
September 30, 2018 and 2017 consist of the following: 

       

  September 30,  
      2018      2017 
  (in thousands) 
Accounts receivable, net of reserve:     

Trade receivables . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  530,859  $  398,348 
Income tax receivable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     34,343    78,726 

Total accounts receivable, net of reserve . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  565,202  $  477,074 
     
Prepaid expenses and other current assets:     

Restricted cash. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  39,830  $  32,439 
Deferred mobilization . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      6,484     6,458 
Prepaid insurance . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      6,149     4,060 
Prepaid value added tax . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      1,931     3,870 
Prepaid maintenance and rent . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     8,526    5,940 
Prepaid multi-flex rig fabrication . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     1,327    — 
Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      2,151     2,356 

Total prepaid expenses and other current assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  66,398  $  55,123 
Accrued liabilities:     

Accrued operating costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  37,528  $  36,949 
Payroll and employee benefits . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      80,915     54,941 
Taxes payable, other than income tax . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      50,683     35,638 
Self-insurance liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      15,887     22,159 
Deferred income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      20,527     25,893 
Deferred mobilization . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      9,662     9,828 
Accrued income taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      7,375     8,011 
Escrow . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     11,258    4,690 
Litigation and claims . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     1,749    1,779 
Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      8,920     8,869 

Total accrued liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  244,504  $  208,757 
Noncurrent liabilities — Other:     

Pension and other non-qualified retirement plans . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  35,051  $  37,989 
Self-insurance liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      39,380     29,037 
Contingent earnout liability . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     11,160    14,879 
Deferred mobilization . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      2,738     7,689 
Uncertain tax positions including interest and penalties . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      2,870     3,562 
Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      2,407     8,253 

Total noncurrent liabilities — other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  93,606  $  101,409 
 

 
NOTE 15 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

Purchase Commitments 

Equipment, parts and supplies are ordered in advance to promote efficient construction and capital 
improvement progress. At September 30, 2018, we had purchase commitments for equipment, parts and supplies of 
approximately $110.4 million. 

Guarantee Arrangements 

In the normal course of our business, we enter into agreements with financial institutions to provide letters of 
credit and surety bonds in connection with certain commitments entered into by us. We are contingently liable to these 
financial institutions in respect of such letters of credit and bonds and have agreed to indemnify the financial institutions 
for any payments made by them in respect of such letters of credit and bonds. None of these balance sheet arrangements 
either has, or is likely to have, a material effect on our consolidated financial statements. 

Lease Obligations 

At September 30, 2018, we were leasing our corporate office headquarters near downtown Tulsa, 
Oklahoma.  We also lease other office space and equipment for use in operations. 
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Future minimum rental payments required under operating leases having initial or remaining non-cancelable 
lease terms in excess of a year at September 30, 2018 are as follows: 

    

      Amount 
Fiscal Year  (in thousands) 
2019 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  9,113 
2020 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      6,670 
2021 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      4,357 
2022 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      3,985 
2023 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      3,721 
Thereafter . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      5,095 

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  32,941 

 
Total rent expense was $13.7 million, $14.0 million and $13.5 million for fiscal years 2018, 2017 and 2016, 

respectively. The future minimum lease payments for our Tulsa corporate office is a material portion of the amounts 
shown in the table above. This lease agreement commenced on May 30, 2003 and has subsequently been amended, 
most recently on August 25, 2017. The agreement will expire on January 31, 2025; however, we have two five-year 
renewal options. 

Contingencies 

We are party to legal proceedings and regulatory actions from time to time, including a number of cases which 
are currently pending. We maintain insurance against certain business risks subject to certain deductibles.  With the 
exception of the matters discussed below, none of these legal actions are expected to have a material adverse effect on 
our financial condition, cash flows or results of operations. 

During the ordinary course of our business, contingencies arise resulting from an existing condition, situation, or 
set of circumstances involving an uncertainty as to the realization of a possible gain contingency.  We account for gain 
contingencies in accordance with the provisions of ASC 450, Contingencies, and, therefore, we do not record gain 
contingencies and recognize income until realized.  The property and equipment of our Venezuelan subsidiary was seized 
by the Venezuelan government on June 30, 2010.  Our wholly-owned subsidiaries, Helmerich & Payne International 
Drilling Co. (“HPIDC”) and Helmerich & Payne de Venezuela, C.A., filed a lawsuit in the United States District Court for 
the District of Columbia on September 23, 2011 against the Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela, Petroleos de Venezuela, 
S.A. (“PDVSA”) and PDVSA Petroleo, S.A. (“Petroleo”).  Our subsidiaries seek damages for the taking of their 
Venezuelan drilling business in violation of international law and for breach of contract.  While there exists the possibility 
of realizing a recovery, we are currently unable to determine the timing or amounts we may receive, if any, or the 
likelihood of recovery. No contingent gains were recognized in our Consolidated Financial Statements during the fiscal 
years ended September 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016. 

NOTE 16 BUSINESS SEGMENTS AND GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION 

Description of the Business 

We are a global contract drilling company based in Tulsa, Oklahoma with operations in all major U.S. onshore 
basins as well as South America and the Middle East. Our contract drilling operations consist mainly of contracting 
Company-owned drilling equipment primarily to large oil and gas exploration companies. We are the recognized industry 
leader in drilling as well as technological innovation. 

At September 30, 2018, our contract drilling business includes the following reportable operating segments: 

• U.S. Land 
• Offshore 
• International Land 
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Each reportable operating segment is a strategic business unit that is managed separately and consolidated 
revenues and expenses reflect the elimination of all material intercompany transactions. Other includes additional non-
reportable operating segments.  Revenues included in “other” consist of revenue from our drilling technology services as 
well as rental income. 

Segment Performance 

We evaluate segment performance based on income or loss from continuing operations (segment operating 
income) before income taxes which includes: 

• Revenues from external and internal customers 
• Direct operating costs 
• Depreciation and 
• Allocated general and administrative costs 

but excludes acquisition related costs, corporate costs for other depreciation, income from asset sales and other 
corporate income and expense. 

General and administrative costs are allocated to the segments based primarily on specific identification and, to 
the extent that such identification is not practical, on other methods which we believe to be a reasonable reflection of the 
utilization of services provided.  

                  

      September 30, 2018 
      International      
(in thousands)      U.S. Land      Offshore      Land      Other      Eliminations     Total 
External Sales . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $ 2,068,195  $ 142,500  $  238,356  $  38,217  $  -  $ 2,487,268 

Intersegment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     1,189    —    —    1,026  $  (2,215)   - 
Total Sales . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      2,069,384     142,500     238,356     39,243     (2,215)    2,487,268 

             
Segment Operating Income (Loss) . . . . . . .     150,698    26,124    (683)   (27,790)   —    148,349 
Depreciation and Amortization . . . . . . . . . . .     505,112    10,392    46,826    21,472    —    583,802 
Total Assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     5,012,378    105,439    362,033    735,017    —    6,214,867 
Additions to Long-Lived Assets . . . . . . . . . .      441,624     4,326     4,424     18,456     —     468,830 

             
      September 30, 2017 

      International      
(in thousands)      U.S. Land      Offshore      Land      Other      Eliminations     Total 
External Sales . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $ 1,439,523  $ 136,263  $  212,972  $  15,983  $  —  $ 1,804,741 
Intersegment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     —    —    —    862    (862)   — 

Total Sales . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      1,439,523     136,263     212,972     16,845     (862)    1,804,741 
             
Segment Operating Income (Loss) . . . . . . .     (94,880)   24,201    (7,224)   (9,449)   —    (87,352)
Depreciation and Amortization . . . . . . . . . . .     499,486    11,764    53,622    20,671    —    585,543 
Total Assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     4,967,074    99,533    413,392    959,986    —    6,439,985 
Additions to Long-Lived Assets . . . . . . . . . .      394,508     2,847     3,400     7,351     —     408,106 

             
      September 30, 2016 

      International      
(in thousands)      U.S. Land      Offshore      Land      Other      Eliminations     Total 
External Sales . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $ 1,242,462  $ 138,601  $  229,894  $  13,275  $  —  $ 1,624,232 
Intersegment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     —    —    —    855    (855)   — 

Total Sales . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      1,242,462     138,601     229,894     14,130     (855)    1,624,232 
             
Segment Operating Income (Loss) . . . . . . .     74,118    15,659    (14,086)   (7,491)   —    68,200 
Depreciation and Amortization . . . . . . . . . . .     508,237    12,495    57,102    20,753    —    598,587 
Total Assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     5,005,299    105,152    487,181    1,234,323    —    6,831,955 
Additions to Long-Lived Assets . . . . . . . . . .      209,156     9,694     2,364     20,076     —     241,290 
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The following table reconciles segment operating income (loss) to income from continuing operations before 
income taxes as reported on the Consolidated Statements of Operations: 

          

  Year Ended September 30,  
      2018      2017      2016 
  (in thousands) 
Segment operating income (loss) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  148,349  $  (87,352)  $  68,200 
Income from asset sales . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      22,660     20,627     9,896 
Acquisition related costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     (8,153)   —    — 
Corporate selling, general and administrative costs and corporate depreciation . . . . . . . . . .      (131,254)    (105,816)     (104,062)

Operating income (loss) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      31,602     (172,541)     (25,966)
Other income (expense)          

Interest and dividend income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      8,017     5,915     3,166 
Interest expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      (24,265)    (19,747)     (22,913)
Gain (loss) on investment securities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      1     —     (25,989)
Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      486     1,775     (965)

Total unallocated amounts . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      (15,761)    (12,057)     (46,701)
Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  15,841  $  (184,598)  $  (72,667)

 
The following table presents revenues from external customers and long-lived assets by country based on the 

location of service provided: 
 
          

  Year Ended September 30,  
     2018      2017      2016 
  (in thousands) 
Operating revenues       

United States . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $ 2,247,400  $ 1,591,769  $ 1,386,786 
Argentina . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      190,038     157,257     159,427 
Colombia . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      38,793     37,554     20,488 
Ecuador . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     —    6    4,948 
Other Foreign . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      11,037     18,155     52,583 

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $ 2,487,268  $ 1,804,741  $ 1,624,232 
Property, plant and equipment, net       

United States . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $ 4,591,913  $ 4,686,235  $ 4,804,328 
Argentina . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      133,617     155,978     183,286 
Colombia . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      74,042     81,798     91,815 
Ecuador . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      10,781     22,298     438 
Other Foreign . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      47,029     54,742     64,866 

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $ 4,857,382  $ 5,001,051  $ 5,144,733 
 

 
NOTE 17 GUARANTOR AND NON-GUARANTOR FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

In March 2015, Helmerich & Payne International Drilling Co. (“the issuer”), a 100 percent owned subsidiary of 
Helmerich & Payne, Inc. (“parent”, “the guarantor”), issued senior unsecured notes with an aggregate principal amount of 
$500.0 million. The notes are fully and unconditionally guaranteed by the parent. No subsidiaries of the parent currently 
guarantee the notes, subject to certain provisions that if any subsidiary guarantees certain other debt of the issuer or 
parent, then such subsidiary will provide a guarantee of the obligation under the notes. 

In connection with the notes, we are providing the following condensed consolidating financial information in 
accordance with the Securities and Exchange Commission disclosure requirements, so that separate financial statements 
of the issuer are not required to be filed. Each entity in the consolidating financial information follows the same accounting 
policies as described in the consolidated financial statements.  Condensed consolidating financial information for the 
issuer, Helmerich & Payne International Drilling Co., and parent, guarantor, Helmerich & Payne, Inc. is shown in the 
tables below. 
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING BALANCE SHEETS 
 
                

  September 30, 2018 
     Helmerich & Payne        
  Helmerich & Payne, Inc.  International Drilling Co. Non-Guarantor    Total 
(In thousands)     (Guarantor)     (Issuer)      Subsidiaries     Eliminations     Consolidated 
           
Assets           
Current assets:           

Cash and cash  
equivalents . . . . . . . . . . .    $  —  $  273,214   $  11,141  $  —   $  284,355 
Short-term investments . .     —    41,461    —    —    41,461 
Accounts receivable, net 
of allowance . . . . . . . . . .      (29)    499,644     65,859     (272)    565,202 
Inventories of materials 
and supplies . . . . . . . . . .      —     127,154    30,980     —     158,134 
Prepaid expenses and 
other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      20,783    10,649    35,539     (573)    66,398 

Total current assets . . .      20,754     952,122     143,519     (845)    1,115,550 
           
Investments . . . . . . . . . . . .     16,200     82,496     —     —     98,696 
Property, plant and 
equipment, net . . . . . . . . . .      46,859    4,515,077     295,446     —     4,857,382 
Intercompany receivables .      161,532     2,024,652     294,206     (2,480,390)    — 
Goodwill . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     —    —    64,777    —    64,777 
Intangible assets, net  . . . .     —    —    73,207    —    73,207 
Other assets . . . . . . . . . . .      268     907     4,080     —     5,255 
Investment in subsidiaries .      5,981,197     172,513     —     (6,153,710)    — 
           
Total assets . . . . . . . . . . . .    $  6,226,810  $  7,747,767   $  875,235  $  (8,634,945)  $  6,214,867 
           
Liabilities and 
Shareholders' Equity           
Current liabilities:           

Accounts payable . . . . . .    $  83,819  $  43,626   $  5,483  $  (264)  $  132,664 
Accrued liabilities . . . . . .      43,449    164,542    37,093    (580)    244,504 

Total current liabilities . .      127,268     208,168     42,576     (844)    377,168 
           
Noncurrent liabilities:           

Long-term debt . . . . . . . .      —     493,968     —     —     493,968 
Deferred income taxes . .      (7,112)    834,714     25,534     —     853,136 
Intercompany payables . .      1,701,694     178,759    599,837     (2,480,290)    — 
Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      22,225     48,836     22,545     —     93,606 
Noncurrent liabilities - 
discontinued operations .      —     —     14,254     —     14,254 

Total noncurrent 
liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . .      1,716,807     1,556,277     662,170     (2,480,290)    1,454,964 

           
Shareholders’ equity:           

Common stock . . . . . . . .      11,201    100     —     (100)    11,201 
Additional paid-in capital .      500,393     52,437     1,040     (53,477)    500,393 
Retained earnings . . . . . .      4,027,779     5,910,955     169,449     (6,080,404)    4,027,779 
Accumulated other 
comprehensive income  .      16,550     19,830     —     (19,830)    16,550 
Treasury stock, at cost . .      (173,188)    —     —    —     (173,188)

Total shareholders’ 
equity . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      4,382,735     5,983,322     170,489    (6,153,811)    4,382,735 

           
Total liabilities and 
shareholders’ equity . . . . . .    $  6,226,810  $  7,747,767   $  875,235  $  (8,634,945)  $  6,214,867 
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  September 30, 2017 
     Helmerich & Payne        
  Helmerich & Payne, Inc.  International Drilling Co. Non-Guarantor    Total 
(In thousands)     (Guarantor)     (Issuer)      Subsidiaries     Eliminations     Consolidated 
            
Assets            
Current assets:            

Cash and cash  
equivalents . . . . . . . . . . .    $  —  $  507,504   $  13,871  $  —   $  521,375 
Short-term investments . .     —    44,491    —    —    44,491 
Accounts receivable, net 
of allowance . . . . . . . . . .      766     411,599     64,714     (5)    477,074 
Inventories of materials 
and supplies . . . . . . . . . .      —     102,470     34,734     —     137,204 
Prepaid expenses and 
other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     12,200    6,383    36,982    (442)   55,123 

Total current assets . . .      12,966     1,072,447     150,301     (447)    1,235,267 
             
Investments . . . . . . . . . . . .      13,853     70,173     —     —     84,026 
Property, plant and 
equipment, net . . . . . . . . . .      49,851     4,609,144     342,056     —     5,001,051 
Intercompany receivables .      90,885     1,746,662     248,540     (2,086,087)    — 
Goodwill . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     —    —    51,705    —    51,705 
Intangible assets, net  . . . .     —    —    50,785    —    50,785 
Other assets . . . . . . . . . . .      4,955    3,839     8,360     —     17,154 
Investment in subsidiaries .      5,470,050     183,382     —     (5,653,432)    — 
Total assets . . . . . . . . . . . .    $  5,642,560  $  7,685,647   $  851,747  $  (7,739,966)  $  6,439,988 
            
Liabilities and 
Shareholders' Equity             
Current liabilities:            

Accounts payable . . . . . .   $  82,947  $  48,092  $  4,589  $  —  $  135,628 
Accrued liabilities . . . . . .      26,698     148,491     34,015     (447)    208,757 

Total current liabilities . .      109,645     196,583     38,604     (447)    344,385 
            
Noncurrent liabilities:            

Long-term debt . . . . . . . .      —     492,902     —     —     492,902 
Deferred income taxes . .      (11,201)    1,286,381     57,509     —     1,332,689 
Intercompany payables . .      1,354,068     210,823     521,096     (2,085,987)    — 
Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      25,457     43,471     32,481     —     101,409 
Noncurrent liabilities - 
discontinued operations .      —     —     4,012     —     4,012 

Total noncurrent 
liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . .      1,368,324     2,033,577     615,098     (2,085,987)    1,931,012 

            
Shareholders’ equity:            

Common stock . . . . . . . .      11,196     100     —     (100)    11,196 
Additional paid-in capital .      487,248     52,437     1,039     (53,476)    487,248 
Retained earnings . . . . . .      3,855,686     5,396,212     197,006     (5,593,218)    3,855,686 
Accumulated other 
comprehensive income . .      2,300     6,738     —     (6,738)    2,300 
Treasury stock, at cost . .      (191,839)    —     —     —     (191,839)

Total shareholders’ 
equity . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      4,164,591     5,455,487     198,045     (5,653,532)    4,164,591 

            
Total liabilities and 
shareholders’ equity . . . . . .    $  5,642,560  $  7,685,647   $  851,747  $  (7,739,966)  $  6,439,988 
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS 
 
                

  Year Ended September 30, 2018 
     Helmerich & Payne        
  Helmerich & Payne, Inc. International Drilling Co. Non-Guarantor     Total 
(In thousands)     (Guarantor)      (Issuer)     Subsidiaries      Eliminations      Consolidated 
           
Operating revenue . . . . . . .    $  —  $  2,210,695   $  276,660   $  (87)  $  2,487,268 
Operating costs and other .     14,276     2,120,465    321,863    (938)   2,455,666 
           
Operating income (loss) 
from continuing  
operations . . . . . . . . . . . . .     (14,276)    90,230    (45,203)   851    31,602 
           
Other income (expense), 
net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     526     7,363    1,466    (851)   8,504 
Interest expense . . . . . . . .     (499)    (20,426)   (3,340)   —    (24,265)
Equity in net income (loss) 
of subsidiaries . . . . . . . . . .     498,055     (11,039)   —    (487,016)   — 
Income (loss) from 
continuing operations 
before income taxes . . . . .     483,806     66,128    (47,077)   (487,016)   15,841 
           
Income tax (benefit) 
provision . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     1,134     (448,613)   (29,690)   —    (477,169)
Income (loss) from 
continuing operations . . . . .     482,672     514,741    (17,387)   (487,016)   493,010 
           
Income from discontinued 
operations before income 
taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     —     —    23,389    —    23,389 
Income tax provision . . . . .     —     —    33,727    —    33,727 
Loss from discontinued 
operations . . . . . . . . . . . . .     —     —    (10,338)   —    (10,338)
           
Net income (loss) . . . . . . . .    $  482,672  $  514,741   $  (27,725)  $  (487,016)  $  482,672 
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  Year Ended September 30, 2017 
     Helmerich & Payne        
  Helmerich & Payne, Inc. International Drilling Co. Non-Guarantor     Total 
(In thousands)     (Guarantor)      (Issuer)     Subsidiaries      Eliminations      Consolidated 
           
Operating revenue . . . . . . .    $  —  $   1,575,787   $   229,021   $  (67)  $   1,804,741 
Operating costs and other .       16,566      1,707,473     254,125    (882)    1,977,282 
            
Operating income (loss) 
from continuing  
operations . . . . . . . . . . . . .     (16,566)    (131,686)   (25,104)    815    (172,541)
           
Other income (expense), 
net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      (240)    7,342     1,403    (815)    7,690 
Interest expense . . . . . . . .      (398)    (20,136)    787    —    (19,747)
Equity in net income (loss) 
of subsidiaries . . . . . . . . . .      (116,212)    (8,012)   —     124,224    — 
Income (loss) from 
continuing operations 
before income taxes . . . . .      (133,416)    (152,492)   (22,914)    124,224    (184,598)
           
Income tax benefit . . . . . . .      (5,204)    (38,600)   (12,931)   —    (56,735)
Income (loss) from 
continuing operations . . . . .      (128,212)    (113,892)   (9,983)    124,224    (127,863)
           
Income from discontinued 
operations before income 
taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      —     —     3,285    —     3,285 
Income tax provision . . . . .      —     —     3,634    —     3,634 
Loss from discontinued 
operations . . . . . . . . . . . . .      —     —    (349)   —    (349)
           
Net income (loss) . . . . . . . .    $  (128,212) $  (113,892)  $  (10,332)  $   124,224   $  (128,212)
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  Year Ended September 30, 2016 
     Helmerich & Payne        
  Helmerich & Payne, Inc. International Drilling Co. Non-Guarantor     Total 
(In thousands)     (Guarantor)      (Issuer)     Subsidiaries      Eliminations      Consolidated 
           
Operating revenue . . . . . . .    $  —  $  1,373,511   $  250,791   $  (70)  $  1,624,232 
Operating costs and other .      13,145     1,358,269    280,107    (1,323)   1,650,198 
           
Operating income (loss) 
from continuing 
operations . . . . . . . . . . . . .      (13,145)    15,242    (29,316)   1,253    (25,966)
           
Other expense, net . . . . . .      (194)    (22,243)   (98)   (1,253)   (23,788)
Interest expense . . . . . . . .      (375)    (20,256)   (2,282)   —    (22,913)
Equity in net income (loss) 
of subsidiaries . . . . . . . . . .      (47,166)    (14,472)   —    61,638    — 
Loss from continuing 
operations before income 
taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      (60,880)    (41,729)   (31,696)   61,638    (72,667)
           
Income tax (benefit) 
provision . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      (4,052)    5,127    (20,752)   —    (19,677)
Income (loss) from 
continuing operations . . . . .      (56,828)    (46,856)   (10,944)   61,638    (52,990)
           
Income from discontinued 
operations before income 
taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      —     —    2,360    —    2,360 
Income tax provision . . . . .      —     —    6,198    —    6,198 
Loss from discontinued 
operations . . . . . . . . . . . . .      —     —    (3,838)   —    (3,838)
           
Net income (loss) . . . . . . . .    $  (56,828) $  (46,856)  $  (14,782)  $  61,638   $  (56,828)
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) 
 
                

  Year Ended September 30, 2018 
     Helmerich & Payne        
  Helmerich & Payne, Inc.  International Drilling Co. Non-Guarantor    Total 
(In thousands)    (Guarantor)     (Issuer)      Subsidiaries      Eliminations      Consolidated 
           
Net income (loss) . . . . . . . .    $  482,672  $  514,741   $  (27,725)  $  (487,016)  $  482,672 
Other comprehensive 
income, net of income 
taxes:           

Unrealized appreciation 
on securities, net . . . . . . .     —     9,001    —    —    9,001 
Minimum pension liability 
adjustments, net . . . . . . .     1,137     4,112    —    —    5,249 
Other comprehensive 
income  . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     1,137     13,113    —    —    14,250 

Comprehensive income 
(loss) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  483,809  $  527,854  $  (27,725) $  (487,016) $  496,922 

 
                

  Year Ended September 30, 2017 
     Helmerich & Payne        
  Helmerich & Payne, Inc.  International Drilling Co. Non-Guarantor    Total 
(In thousands)     (Guarantor)     (Issuer)      Subsidiaries      Eliminations      Consolidated 
                
Net loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    $  (128,212) $  (113,892)  $  (10,332)  $  124,224   $  (128,212)
Other comprehensive 
income, net of income 
taxes:                

Unrealized depreciation 
on securities, net . . . . . . .     —     (829)   —    —    (829)
Minimum pension liability 
adjustments, net . . . . . . .     860     2,473    —    —    3,333 
Other comprehensive 
income . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     860     1,644    —    —    2,504 

Comprehensive loss . . . . .   $  (127,352) $  (112,248) $  (10,332) $  124,224  $  (125,708)

 
                

  Year Ended September 30, 2016 
     Helmerich & Payne        
  Helmerich & Payne, Inc.  International Drilling Co.  Non-Guarantor     Total 
(In thousands)     (Guarantor)      (Issuer)      Subsidiaries      Eliminations      Consolidated 
             
Net loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    $  (56,828) $  (46,856)  $  (14,782)  $  61,638   $  (56,828)
Other comprehensive 
loss, net of income taxes:                

Unrealized appreciation 
on securities, net . . . . . . .     —     2,772    —    —    2,772 
Reclassification of 
realized losses in net 
income, net . . . . . . . . . . .     —    926    —    —    926 
Minimum pension liability 
adjustments, net . . . . . . .     (63)    (2,462)   —    —    (2,525)
Other comprehensive 
income (loss) . . . . . . . . . .     (63)    1,236    —    —    1,173 

Comprehensive loss . . . . .   $  (56,891) $  (45,620) $  (14,782) $  61,638  $  (55,655)
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
 
                

  Year Ended September 30, 2018 
     Helmerich & Payne        
  Helmerich & Payne, Inc. International Drilling Co. Non-Guarantor     Total 
(In thousands)     (Guarantor)      (Issuer)      Subsidiaries      Eliminations      Consolidated 

             
Net cash provided by operating activities . . . . .     $  759  $  539,476   $  4,296  $  —   $  544,531 
             
Cash flows from investing activities:             

Capital expenditures . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .       (12,723)    (443,743)    (10,118)     —     (466,584)
Purchase of short-term investments . . . . . . .     —    (71,049)   —    —    (71,049)
Payment for acquisition of business, net of 
cash acquired . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

  
 (47,886)

  
 — 

  
 — 

  
 — 

  
 (47,886)

Proceeds from sale of short-term  
investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

  
 — 

  
 68,776 

  
 — 

  
 — 

  
 68,776 

Intercompany transfers . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     60,609    (60,609)   —    —    — 
Proceeds from asset sales . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      —     41,289     3,092     —     44,381 

Net cash used in investing activities . . . . . .      —     (465,336)    (7,026)     —     (472,362)
             
Cash flows from financing activities:             

Intercompany transfers . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     308,430    (308,430)   —    —    — 
Dividends paid . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      (308,430)    —     —     —     (308,430)
Payments for employee taxes on net 
settlement of equity awards . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

   
 (7,114)

   
 — 

   
 — 

   
 — 

   
 (7,114)

Proceeds from stock option exercises . . . . . .      6,355    —     —     —     6,355 
Net cash provided by (used in) financing 
activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

   
 (759)

   
 (308,430)

   
 — 

   
 — 

   
 (309,189)

             
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash 
equivalents . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

   
 — 

   
 (234,290)

   
 (2,730) 

   
 — 

   
 (237,020)

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of  
period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

   
 — 

   
 507,504 

   
 13,871 

  
 — 

   
 521,375 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period . . . .    $  —  $  273,214   $  11,141  $  —   $  284,355 
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  Year Ended September 30, 2017, as adjusted 
     Helmerich & Payne        
  Helmerich & Payne, Inc. International Drilling Co. Non-Guarantor     Total 
(In thousands)     (Guarantor)      (Issuer)      Subsidiaries      Eliminations      Consolidated 

            
Net cash (used in) provided by operating 
activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

  
$  (4,686)  $  354,711   $  11,606  $  —   $  361,631 

            
Cash flows from investing activities:           

Capital expenditures . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      (4,264)    (387,392)    (5,911)    —     (397,567)
Purchase of short-term investments . . . . .      —     (69,866)    —     —     (69,866)
Payment for acquisition of business, net 
cash acquired . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

  
 (70,416)

  
 — 

  
 — 

  
 — 

  
 (70,416)

Proceeds from sale of short-term 
investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

  
 — 

  
 69,449 

  
 — 

   
 — 

  
 69,449 

Intercompany transfers . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     74,680    (74,680)   —    —    — 
Proceeds from asset sales . . . . . . . . . . . .      —     22,724     688     —     23,412 

Net cash used in investing activities . . . .      —     (439,765)    (5,223)    —     (444,988)
           
Cash flows from financing activities:           

Intercompany transfers . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     305,515    (305,515)   —    —    — 
Dividends paid . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      (305,515)    —     —     —     (305,515)
Payments for employee taxes on net 
settlement of equity awards . . . . . . . . . . .  

   
 (6,599)

  
 — 

   
 — 

   
 — 

   
 (6,599)

Proceeds from stock option exercises . . . .     11,285    —    —    —    11,285 
Net cash provided by (used in) 
financing activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

   
 4,686 

   
 (305,515)

   
 — 

   
 — 

   
 (300,829)

           
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash 
equivalents . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

   
 — 

   
 (390,569)

   
 6,383 

   
 — 

   
 (384,186)

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of 
period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

   
 — 

   
 898,073 

   
 7,488 

   
 — 

   
 905,561 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period . .    $  —  $  507,504   $  13,871  $  —   $  521,375 
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  September 30, 2016, as adjusted 
     Helmerich & Payne        
  Helmerich & Payne, Inc. International Drilling Co. Non-Guarantor     Total 
(In thousands)     (Guarantor)      (Issuer)      Subsidiaries      Eliminations      Consolidated 

           
Net cash provided by (used in) operating 
activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

  
$  2,863   $  777,756   $  (26,088) $  —   $  754,531 

           
Cash flows from investing activities:           

Capital expenditures . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      (16,119)     (235,078)    (5,972)    —     (257,169)
Purchase of short-term investments . . . . .      —     (57,276)    —     —     (57,276)
Proceeds from sale of short-term 
investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

  
 — 

  
 58,381 

  
 — 

   
 — 

  
 58,381 

Intercompany transfers . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     16,119    (16,119)   —    —    — 
Proceeds from asset sales . . . . . . . . . . . .     9    19,237    2,599    —    21,845 

Net cash provided by (used in) 
investing activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

   
 9 

    
 (230,855)

   
 (3,373)

   
 — 

   
 (234,219)

           
Cash flows from financing activities:           

Payments on long-term debt . . . . . . . . . . .      —     (40,000)    —     —     (40,000)
Debt issuance costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     —    (1,111)   —    —    (1,111)
Intercompany transfers . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      300,152     (300,152)    —     —     — 
Dividends paid . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     (300,152)   —    —    —    (300,152)
Payments from employee taxes on net 
settlement of equity awards . . . . . . . . . . .  

  
 (5,646)

  
 — 

  
 — 

  
 — 

  
 (5,646)

Proceeds from stock option exercises . . . .     2,774    —    —    —    2,774 
Net cash used in financing activities . . . .      (2,872)    (341,263)    —     —     (344,135)

           
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash 
equivalents . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

   
 — 

   
 205,638 

   
 (29,461)

   
 — 

   
 176,177 

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of 
period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

   
 — 

   
 692,435 

   
 36,949 

   
 — 

   
 729,384 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period . .    $  —  $  898,073   $  7,488  $  —   $  905,561 
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NOTE 18 SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED) 

(in thousands, except per share amounts) 

                

2018     First Quarter     Second Quarter     Third Quarter    Fourth Quarter    Total (1) 
Operating revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  564,087  $  577,484  $  648,872  $  696,825  $  2,487,268 
Operating income (loss) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      3,520     (1,253)    6,217   23,118     31,602 
Income (loss) from continuing operations . . . . . . .      500,642     (1,633)    (8,174)  2,175     493,010 
Net income (loss) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      500,106     (11,879)    (8,008)  2,453     482,672 
Basic earnings per common share:            

Income (loss) from continuing operations . . . . . .      4.57     (0.03)    (0.08)   0.02     4.49 
Net income (loss) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      4.57     (0.12)    (0.08)   0.02     4.39 

Diluted earnings per common share:            
Income (loss) from continuing operations . . . . . .      4.55     (0.03)    (0.08)   0.02     4.47 
Net income (loss) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      4.55     (0.12)    (0.08)   0.02    4.37 

 
(1) The sum of earnings per share for the four quarters may not equal the total earnings per share for the fiscal year due to 

changes in the average number of common shares outstanding. 

In the first quarter of fiscal year 2018, net income includes a tax benefit of approximately $502.1 million, or 
$4.59 per share on a diluted basis, an after-tax gain from the sale of assets of $4.2 million, or $0.04 per share on a diluted 
basis. In the second quarter of fiscal year 2018, net loss includes an after-tax gain from the sale of assets of $3.8 million, 
or $0.04 per share on a diluted basis. In the third quarter of fiscal year 2018, net loss includes an after-tax gain from the 
sale of assets of $3.1 million, or $0.02 per share on a diluted basis. In the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2018, net loss 
includes an after-tax gain from the sale of assets of $5.5 million, or $0.05 per share on a diluted basis and an after-tax 
loss from asset impairments of approximately $17.2 million, or $0.16 per share on a diluted basis. 

                

2017    First Quarter     Second Quarter     Third Quarter     Fourth Quarter   Total (1) 
Operating revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  368,590  $  405,283  $  498,564  $  532,304  $ 1,804,741 
Operating loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      (49,164)    (65,672)     (28,028)   (29,677)    (172,541)
Loss from continuing operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      (34,554)    (48,473)     (23,125)   (21,711)    (127,863)
Net loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      (35,063)    (48,818)     (21,799)   (22,532)    (128,212)
Basic earnings per common share:            

Loss from continuing operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      (0.33)    (0.45)     (0.22)   (0.20)    (1.20)
Net loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      (0.33)    (0.45)     (0.21)   (0.21)    (1.20)

Diluted earnings per common share:            
Loss from continuing operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      (0.33)    (0.45)     (0.22)   (0.20)    (1.20)
Net loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      (0.33)    (0.45)     (0.21)   (0.21)    (1.20)

 
(1) The sum of earnings per share for the four quarters may not equal the total earnings per share for the year due to changes in 

the average number of common shares outstanding. 

In the first quarter of fiscal year 2017, net loss includes an after-tax gain from the sale of assets of $0.6 million, 
or $0.01 per share on a diluted basis. In the second quarter of fiscal year 2017, net loss includes an after-tax gain from 
the sale of assets of $10.1 million, or $0.09 per share on a diluted basis. In the third quarter of fiscal year 2017, net loss 
includes an after-tax gain from the sale of assets of $1.3 million, or $0.01 per share on a diluted basis. In the fourth 
quarter of fiscal year 2017, net loss includes an after-tax gain from the sale of assets of $2.3 million, or $0.02 per share on 
a diluted basis. 
 
NOTE 19 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

On November 13, 2018, we entered into the 2018 Credit Facility, which will mature on November 13, 2023. The 
2018 Credit Facility has $750 million in aggregate availability with a maximum of $75 million available for use as letters of 
credit. The 2018 Credit Facility also permits aggregate commitments under the facility to be increased by $300 million, 
subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions and the procurement of additional commitments from new or existing 
lenders. The 2018 Credit Facility is currently guaranteed by our wholly-owned direct subsidiary, HPIDC, which guarantee 
is subject to release following certain events set forth in the 2018 Credit Facility. The borrowings under the 2018 Credit 
Facility accrue interest at a spread over either the London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) or the Base Rate. We also pay 
a commitment fee based on the unused balance of the facility. Borrowing spreads as well as commitment fees are 
determined based on the debt rating for senior unsecured debt of the Company or HPIDC as determined by Moody’s and 
S&P. The spread over LIBOR ranges from 0.875 percent to 1.500 percent per annum and commitment fees range from 
0.075 percent to 0.200 percent per annum. Based on the unsecured debt rating of HPIDC on September 30, 2018, the 
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spread over LIBOR would have been 1.125 percent and commitment fees would have been 0.125 percent. There is a 
financial covenant in the 2018 Credit Facility that requires us to maintain a total debt to total capitalization ratio of less 
than 50 percent. The 2018 Credit Facility contains additional terms, conditions, restrictions and covenants that we believe 
are usual and customary in unsecured debt arrangements for companies of similar size and credit quality, including a 
limitation that priority debt (as defined in the credit agreement) may not exceed 17.5 percent of the net worth of the 
Company. As of the closing, there were no borrowings, but there were three letters of credit outstanding in the amount of 
$38.0 million, and we had $712.0 million available to borrow under the 2018 Credit Facility.  

 
In connection with entering into the 2018 Credit Facility, we terminated our $300 million unsecured credit facility 

under the credit agreement dated as of July 13, 2016 by and among HPIDC, as borrower, the Company, as guarantor, 
Wells Fargo, National Association, as administrative agent, and the lenders party thereto. 
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Item 9.  CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL 
DISCLOSURE 

None. 
 
Item 9A.  CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES 

a) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures. 

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the 
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based 
on that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls 
and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report have been designed and are effective at the 
reasonable assurance level so that the information required to be disclosed by us in our periodic SEC filings, is 
recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specific in the SEC’s rules, regulations, 
and forms and is communicated to management. We believe that a controls system, no matter how well 
designed and operated, cannot provide absolute assurance that the objectives of the controls system are met, 
and no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if 
any, within a company have been detected. 

b) Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. 

A copy of our Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting is included in Item 8 of this 
Form 10-K. 

c) Attestation Report of the Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm. 

A copy of the report of Ernst & Young LLP, our independent registered public accounting firm, is included in Item 
8 of this Form 10-K. 

d) Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. 

None. 

*** 

Item 9B.  OTHER INFORMATION 

None. 
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PART III 

Item 10.  DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the material under the captions 
“Proposal 1—Election of Directors,” “Corporate Governance,” “Executive Officers of the Company” in Part I and 
“Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” in our definitive Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of 
Stockholders to be held March 5, 2019, to be filed with the SEC not later than 120 days after September 30, 2018. 

We have adopted a Code of Ethics for Principal Executive Officer and Senior Financial Officers. The text of this 
code is located on our website under “Corporate Governance.” Our Internet address is www.hpinc.com. We intend to 
disclose any amendments to or waivers from this code on our website. 
 
Item 11.  EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 

The information required by this item regarding executive compensation, as well as director compensation and 
compensation committee interlocks and insider participation is incorporated herein by reference to the material beginning 
with the caption “Executive Compensation Discussion and Analysis” and ending with the caption “Potential Payments 
Upon Change-in-Control”, as well as under the captions “Director Compensation in Fiscal 2018” and “Corporate 
Governance—Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation” in our definitive Proxy Statement for the 
Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held March 5, 2019, to be filed with the SEC not later than 120 days after 
September 30, 2018. 
 
Item 12.  SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED 
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS 

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the material under the captions 
“Summary of All Existing Equity Compensation Plans,” “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners” and “Security 
Ownership of Management” in our definitive Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held March 5, 
2019, to be filed with the SEC not later than 120 days after September 30, 2018. 
 
Item 13.  CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE 

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the material under the captions 
“Corporate Governance—Transactions With Related Persons, Promoters and Certain Control Persons” and “Corporate 
Governance—Director Independence” in our definitive Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held 
March 5, 2019, to be filed with the SEC not later than 120 days after September 30, 2018. 
 
Item 14.  PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES 

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the material under the caption 
“Proposal 2—Ratification of Appointment of Independent Auditors—Audit Fees” in our definitive Proxy Statement for the 
Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held March 5, 2019, to be filed with the SEC not later than 120 days after 
September 30, 2018. 
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PART IV 

Item 15.  EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES 

1. Financial Statements:  Our consolidated financial statements, together with the notes thereto and the report 
of Ernst & Young LLP dated November 16, 2018, are listed below and included in Item 8—“Financial Statements and 
Supplementary Data” of this Form 10-K. 

      Page 
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   56
Consolidated Balance Sheets at September 30, 2018 and 2017 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   58
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Years Ended September 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016 . . . . . . . . . . . .   59
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the Years Ended September 30, 2018, 2017 

and 2016 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   60
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity for the Years Ended September 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016 . . . .   61
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended September 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016 . . . . . . . . . . . .   62
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   63
 

2.   Financial Statement Schedules:  All schedules are omitted because they are not applicable or required or 
because the required information is contained in the financial statements or included in the notes thereto. 

3.   Exhibits.  The following documents are included as exhibits to this Form 10-K. Exhibits incorporated by 
reference are duly noted as such. 

  

2.1     Agreement and Plan of Merger dated May 22, 2017, by and among Helmerich & Payne, Inc., MOTIVE Drilling 
Technologies, Inc., Spring Merger Sub, Inc., and Shareholder Representative Services LLC (incorporated 
herein by reference to Exhibit 2.1 of the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 
June 30, 2017, SEC File No. 001-04221). 
 

  
3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Helmerich & Payne, Inc. (incorporated herein by 

reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the Company’s Form 8-K filed on March 14, 2012, SEC File No. 001-04221). 
  

3.2 Amended and Restated By-laws of Helmerich & Payne, Inc. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1 
of the Company’s Form 8-K filed on December 5, 2017, SEC File No. 001-04221). 

  
4.1 Indenture, dated March 19, 2015, by and among Helmerich & Payne International Drilling Co., Helmerich & 

Payne, Inc. and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, including the form of 4.65% Senior Notes due 2025 
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of the Company’s Form 8-K filed on March 19, 2015, SEC 
File No. 001-04221). 

  
4.2 First Supplemental Indenture, dated March 19, 2015, by and between Helmerich & Payne International 

Drilling Co., Helmerich & Payne, Inc. and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association is incorporated herein by 
reference to Exhibit 4.2 of the Company’s Form 8-K filed on March 19, 2015, SEC File No. 001-04221. 

  
10.1  Credit Agreement, dated July 13, 2016, among Helmerich & Payne International Drilling Co., Helmerich & 

Payne, Inc., the lenders from time to time party thereto and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association 
(incorporated herein reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Form 8-K filed on July 13, 2016, SEC File 
No. 001-04221. 

  
10.2 Credit Agreement, dated November 13, 2018, among Helmerich & Payne, Inc., the lenders from time to time 

party thereto and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association. 
  

*10.3 Change of Control Agreement applicable to Chief Executive Officer of Helmerich & Payne, Inc., dated June 1, 
2016 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for 
the quarter ended June 30, 2016, SEC File No. 001-04221). 
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*10.4  Change of Control Agreement applicable to certain other officers (other than CEO) and employees of 
Helmerich & Payne, Inc., dated June 1, 2016 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the 
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2016, SEC File No. 001-04221). 

  
10.5   Helmerich & Payne, Inc. 2005 Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Appendix “A” 

of the Company’s Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed on January 26, 2006, SEC File No. 001-04221). 
  

*10.6  2012-1 Amendment to Helmerich & Payne, Inc. 2005 Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by 
reference to Exhibit 10.6 of the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q  for the quarter ended March 31, 
2012, SEC File No. 001-04221). 

  
*10.7  Form of Agreements for Helmerich & Payne, Inc. 2005 Long-Term Incentive Plan applicable to certain 

executives: (i) Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement, (ii) Incentive Stock Option Agreement, and (iii) 
Restricted Stock Award Agreement (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Company’s Form 
8-K filed on December 7, 2009, SEC File No. 001-04221). 

  
*10.8  Form of Agreements for the Helmerich & Payne, Inc. 2005 Long-Term Incentive Plan applicable to 

participants other than certain executives: (i) Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement, (ii) Incentive Stock 
Option Agreement, and (iii) Restricted Stock Award Agreement (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 
10.3 of the Company’s Form 8-K filed on December 7, 2009, SEC File No. 001-04221). 

  
*10.9  Form of Amendment to Nonqualified Stock Option Award Agreements and Amendment to Restricted Stock 

Award Agreements for the Helmerich & Payne, Inc. 2005 Long-Term Incentive Plan applicable to certain 
executive officers (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of the Company’s Form 8-K filed on 
December 7, 2009, SEC File No. 001-04221). 

  
*10.10  Form of Amendment to Nonqualified Stock Option Award Agreements and Amendment to Restricted Stock 

Award Agreements for the Helmerich & Payne, Inc. 2005 Long-Term Incentive Plan applicable to participants 
other than certain executive officers (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.5 of the Company’s Form 
8-K filed on December 7, 2009, SEC File No. 001-04221). 

  
*10.11  Helmerich & Payne, Inc. 2010 Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Appendix “A” of 

the Company’s Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed on January 26, 2011, SEC File No. 001-04221). 
  

*10.12  Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement for Helmerich & Payne, Inc. 2010 Long-Term Incentive Plan 
applicable to certain executives (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Form 8-K 
filed on March 14, 2012, SEC File No. 001-04221). 

  
*10.13  Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement for the Helmerich & Payne, Inc. 2010 Long-Term Incentive 

Plan applicable to participants other than certain executives (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 
of the Company’s Form 8-K filed on March 14, 2012, SEC File No. 001-04221). 

  
*10.14 Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement for Helmerich & Payne, Inc. 2010 Long-Term Incentive Plan 

applicable to certain executives (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Quarterly 
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended December 31, 2013, SEC File No. 001-04221). 

  
*10.15 Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement for the Helmerich & Payne, Inc. 2010 Long-Term Incentive Plan 

applicable to participants other than certain executives (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of 
the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended December 31, 2013, SEC File No. 001-
04221). 

  
*10.16  Form of Agreements for the Helmerich & Payne, Inc. 2010 Long-Term Incentive Plan applicable to Directors: 

(i) Director Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement and (ii) Director Restricted Stock Award Agreement 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of the Company’s Form 8-K filed on March 14, 2012, SEC File 
No. 001-04221). 

  
*10.17  Helmerich & Payne, Inc. 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Appendix “A” of 

the Company’s Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed on January 19, 2016, SEC File No. 001-04221).  
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*10.18  Form of Agreements for Helmerich & Payne, Inc. 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan applicable to certain 
executives: (i) Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement and (ii) Restricted Stock Award Agreement 
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.26 of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the 
fiscal year ended September 30, 2016, SEC File No. 001-04221). 

  
*10.19  Form of Agreements for Helmerich & Payne, Inc. 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan applicable to participants 

other than certain executives: (i) Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement and (ii) Restricted Stock Award 
Agreement (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.27 of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K 
for fiscal year ended September 30, 2016, SEC File No. 001-04221). 

  
*10.20  Form of Agreements for Helmerich & Payne, Inc. 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan applicable to Directors: 

(i) Director Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement and (ii) Director Restricted Stock Award Agreement 
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.28 of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K  for the 
fiscal year ended September 30, 2016, SEC File No. 001-04221). 

  
*10.21  Supplemental Retirement Income Plan for Salaried Employees of Helmerich & Payne, Inc. (incorporated 

herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 
December 31, 2008, SEC File No. 001-04221). 

  
*10.22  Supplemental Savings Plan for Salaried Employees of Helmerich & Payne, Inc. (incorporated herein by 

reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q  for the quarter ended December 
31, 2008, SEC File No. 001-04221). 

  
*10.23  Helmerich & Payne, Inc. Director Deferred Compensation Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 

10.3 of the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended December 31, 2008, SEC File 
No. 001-04221). 

  
21  List of Subsidiaries of the Company. 

  
23.1  Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm. 

  
31.1  Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) promulgated under the Securities 

Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 
  

31.2  Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) promulgated under the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 

  
32.  Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as 

adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 
  

101  Financial statements from this Form 10-K formatted in XBRL: (i) the Consolidated Statements of Operations, 
(ii) the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss), (iii) the Consolidated Balance Sheets, 
(iv) the Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity, (v) the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 
and (vi) the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 

 
*   Management or Compensatory Plan or Arrangement. 
 
Item 16.  FORM 10-K SUMMARY 

None. 
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SIGNATURES 

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Company has 
duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized: 

HELMERICH & PAYNE, INC.  
  
By: /s/ John W. Lindsay  

 John W. Lindsay,  
 President and Chief Executive Officer  
  
Date: November 16, 2018  
 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the 
following persons on behalf of the Company and in the capacities and on the dates indicated: 
 
Signature      Title      Date 
     
/s/ John W. Lindsay  Director, President and Chief Executive  November 16, 2018 
John W. Lindsay  Officer (Principal Executive Officer)   
     
/s/ Mark W. Smith  Vice President and Chief Financial Officer  November 16, 2018 
Mark W. Smith 

 
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal 
Accounting Officer)   

     
/s/ Hans Helmerich  Director and Chairman of the Board  November 16, 2018 
Hans Helmerich     
     
/s/ Delany Bellinger  Director  November 16, 2018 
Delany Bellinger     
     
/s/ Kevin G. Cramton  Director  November 16, 2018 
Kevin G. Cramton     
     
/s/ Randy A. Foutch  Director  November 16, 2018 
Randy A. Foutch     
     
/s/ Paula Marshall  Director  November 16, 2018 
Paula Marshall     
     
/s/ Jose R. Mas  Director  November 16, 2018 
Jose R. Mas     
     
/s/ Thomas A. Petrie  Director  November 16, 2018 
Thomas A. Petrie     
     
/s/ Donald F. Robillard, Jr.  Director  November 16, 2018 
Donald F. Robillard, Jr.     
     
/s/ Edward B. Rust, Jr.  Director  November 16, 2018 
Edward B. Rust, Jr.     
     
/s/ John D. Zeglis  Director  November 16, 2018 
John D. Zeglis     
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